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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Stockholder and Board of Directors
Enact Holdings, Inc.:
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Enact Holdings, Inc. (formerly
Genworth Mortgage Holdings, Inc.) and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019,
the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows
for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes and
financial statement schedules I to II (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion,
the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each
of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the
U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included
performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ KPMG LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2019.
Raleigh, North Carolina
March 23, 2021, except for Notes 15 and 16 as to which the date is May 3, 2021
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ENACT HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31,
(Amounts in thousands, except par value per share amount)

2020

Assets
Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale, at fair value (amortized cost
$4,781,916 and $3,643,347).............................................................................
Cash and cash equivalents...................................................................................
Accrued investment income..................................................................................
Deferred acquisition costs.....................................................................................
Premiums receivable..............................................................................................
Other assets.............................................................................................................
Deferred tax asset...................................................................................................
Total assets ...........................................................................................................
Liabilities and equity
Liabilities:
Loss reserves..........................................................................................................
Unearned premiums...............................................................................................
Other liabilities.........................................................................................................
Long-term borrowings............................................................................................
Deferred tax liability................................................................................................
Total liabilities ......................................................................................................
Equity:
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 600,000 shares authorized; 162,840
shares issued and outstanding.........................................................................
Additional paid-in capital........................................................................................
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).............................................
Retained earnings...................................................................................................
Total equity ............................................................................................................
Total liabilities and equity .................................................................................

$ 5,046,596 $ 3,764,432
452,794
585,058
29,210
24,159
28,872
30,332
46,464
41,161
48,774
54,811
—
2,971
$ 5,652,710 $ 4,502,924

$

555,679 $
306,945
133,302
738,162
36,811
1,770,899

235,062
383,458
57,329
—
—
675,849

1,628
2,368,699
208,378
1,303,106
3,881,811
$ 5,652,710 $

1,628
2,361,978
93,431
1,370,038
3,827,075
4,502,924

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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2019

ENACT HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
Years ended
December 31,
(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

2020

Revenues:
Premiums................................................................................................................. $
971,365 $
Net investment income...........................................................................................
132,843
Net investment gains (losses)...............................................................................
(3,324)
Other income...........................................................................................................
5,575
Total revenues ......................................................................................................
1,106,459
Losses and expenses:
Losses incurred.......................................................................................................
379,834
Acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals.......................................
215,024
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs and intangibles..............................
20,939
Interest expense......................................................................................................
18,244
Total losses and expenses ...............................................................................
634,041
Income before income taxes and change in fair value of
unconsolidated affiliate ..................................................................................
472,418
Provision for income taxes....................................................................................
101,997
Income before change in fair value of unconsolidated affiliate ..............
370,421
Change in fair value of unconsolidated affiliate, net of tax...............................
—
Net income ............................................................................................................. $
370,421 $
Net income per common share—basic and diluted.......................................... $
Weighted average common shares outstanding—basic and diluted.............
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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2.27 $
162,840

2019

856,976
116,927
718
4,232
978,853
49,850
195,768
15,065
—
260,683
718,170
155,832
562,338
115,290
677,628
4.16
162,840

ENACT HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Years ended
December 31,
(Amounts in thousands)

2020

2019

Net income............................................................................................................... $
Other comprehensive income, net of taxes:
Net unrealized gains on securities not other-than temporarily impaired...
Total comprehensive income ........................................................................... $

370,421 $

677,628

114,947
485,368 $

119,953
797,581

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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ENACT HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(Amounts in thousands)

Balance December 31,
2018 ............................... $
Comprehensive income:
Net income...................
Other comprehensive
income, net of taxes
Dividends to Genworth....
Capital contributions
from Genworth..............
Balance December 31,
2019 ...............................
Comprehensive income:
Net income...................
Other comprehensive
income, net of taxes
Dividends to Genworth....
Capital contributions
from Genworth..............
Balance December 31,
2020 ............................... $

Common
stock

1,628 $

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
income (loss)

Additional
paid-in
capital

2,356,223 $

Retained
earnings

(26,522) $

Total
equity

942,410 $

3,273,739

—

—

—

—
—

—
—

119,953
—

—

5,755

—

—

5,755

1,628

2,361,978

93,431

1,370,038

3,827,075

—

—

—

370,421

370,421

—
—

—
—

114,947
—

—
(437,353)

114,947
(437,353)

—

6,721

—

1,628 $

2,368,699 $

208,378 $

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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677,628

677,628

—
(250,000)

119,953
(250,000)

—
1,303,106 $

6,721
3,881,811

ENACT HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years ended
December 31,
(Amounts in thousands)

2020

2019

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income.............................................................................................................................. $

370,421

$

677,628

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Net (gains) losses on investments.................................................................................

3,324

Amortization of fixed maturity securities discounts and premiums...........................

(5,354)

(718)
(2,594)

Amortization of deferred acquisition costs and intangibles.......................................

20,939

15,065

Acquisition costs deferred...............................................................................................

(12,722)

(10,618)

Deferred income taxes....................................................................................................

11,133

56,731

Change in fair value of investment in unconsolidated affiliate, excluding cash
dividend..........................................................................................................................

—

Other...................................................................................................................................

6,720

6,220

Accrued investment income...........................................................................................

(5,051)

(2,237)

Premiums receivable.......................................................................................................

(5,303)

(1,155)

Other assets......................................................................................................................

5,031

(31,599)

Loss reserves....................................................................................................................

320,617

(62,817)

Unearned premiums........................................................................................................

(76,513)

(38,330)

Other liabilities..................................................................................................................

71,108

(20,065)

Net cash provided by operating activities ...................................................................

704,350

500,020

(85,491)

Change in certain assets and liabilities:

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of fixed maturity securities available-for-sale................................................

(1,942,464)

(951,281)

Proceeds from sales of fixed maturity securities available-for-sale...............................

278,482

257,710

Maturities of fixed maturity securities available-for-sale..................................................

527,070

359,311

Proceeds from sale of investment in unconsolidated affiliate.........................................

—

510,247

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities ..................................................

(1,136,912)

175,987

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt.................................................................

737,651

—

Dividends paid to Genworth.................................................................................................

(437,353)

(250,000)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities .................................................

300,298

(250,000)

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents...................................................

(132,264)

426,007

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year..............................................................

585,058

159,051

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year........................................................................ $

452,794

$

585,058

6,721

$

5,755

Supplementary disclosure of cash flow information:
Non-cash contributions of capital from Genworth............................................................ $

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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ENACT HOLDINGS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
(1)

Nature of business and organization structure
Nature of Business

Enact Holdings, Inc. (“EHI,” together with its subsidiaries, the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our”)
(formerly known as Genworth Mortgage Holdings, Inc.) has been a wholly owned subsidiary of Genworth
Financial, Inc. (“Genworth” or “Parent”) since EHI’s incorporation in Delaware in 2012. On May 3, 2021,
EHI amended its certificate of incorporation to change its name from Genworth Mortgage Holdings, Inc.
This amendment also authorized EHI to issue 600,000,000 shares of common stock, each having a par
value of $0.01 per share. Concurrently, we entered into a share exchange agreement with Genworth
Holdings, Inc. (“Genworth Holdings”), pursuant to which Genworth Holdings exchanged the 100 shares of
our common stock owned by it, representing all of our issued and outstanding capital stock, for
162,840,000 newly-issued shares of common stock, par value $0.01, of EHI. All of the share and per
share information presented in the consolidated financial statements, notes to the consolidated financial
statements, and supplemental schedules to the financial statements has been adjusted to reflect the
share exchange on a retroactive basis for all periods and as of all dates presented.
On November 29, 2019, Genworth completed a holding company reorganization whereby Genworth
contributed 100% of the issued and outstanding voting securities of the Company to Genworth Holdings.
Post-contribution, we are a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Genworth Holdings, and Genworth
Holdings is still a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Genworth. We are engaged in the business of writing
and assuming residential mortgage guaranty insurance. The insurance protects lenders and investors
against certain losses resulting from nonpayment of loans secured by mortgages, deeds of trust, or other
instruments constituting a lien on residential real estate.
We offer private mortgage insurance products predominantly insuring prime-based, individually
underwritten residential mortgage loans (“primary mortgage insurance”). Our primary mortgage insurance
enables borrowers to buy homes with a down payment of less than 20% of the home’s value. Primary
mortgage insurance also facilitates the sale of these low down payment mortgage loans in the secondary
mortgage market, most of which are sold to government sponsored enterprises. We also selectively enter
into insurance transactions with lenders and investors, under which we insure a portfolio of loans at or
after origination.
We operate our business through our primary insurance subsidiary, Genworth Mortgage Insurance
Corporation (“GMICO”), with operations in all 50 states and the District of Columbia. GMICO is an
approved insurer by the Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie Mae”) and the Federal Home
Loan Mortgage Corporation (“Freddie Mac”). Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are government-sponsored
enterprises and we refer to them collectively as the “GSEs.”
We also perform fee-based contract underwriting services for mortgage lenders. The provision of
underwriting services by mortgage insurers eliminates the duplicative lender and mortgage insurer
underwriting activities and expedites the approval process.
We operate our business in a single segment, which is how our chief operating decision maker (who
is our chief executive officer) reviews our financial performance and allocates resources. Our segment
includes a run-off insurance block with reference properties in Mexico (“run-off business”), which is
immaterial to our consolidated financial statements.
On July 20, 2020, Genworth reached a settlement agreement with AXA S.A. (“AXA”) regarding a
dispute over payment protection insurance mis-selling claims sold by Genworth’s former lifestyle
protection insurance business that was acquired by AXA in 2015. As part of the settlement agreement,
Genworth issued a secured promissory note agreeing to pay AXA in two installments in 2022, unless
certain events occur that trigger mandatory prepayments, as well as a significant portion of future claims
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ENACT HOLDINGS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
that are still being processed which will be part of the second installment payment in 2022. As of
December 31, 2020, Genworth owed £425 million ($581 million) to AXA under the settlement agreement.
Subsequent to the balance sheet date, on March 3, 2021, Genworth repaid the installment payment due
to AXA in June 2022 and a portion of the installment payment due to AXA in September 2022 from cash
proceeds received from the sale of Genworth’s Australian mortgage insurance business (the “March 2021
Mandatory Payment”). After applying the March 2021 Mandatory Payment, Genworth owes approximately
£247 million ($338 million) to AXA, which is subject to increase. Under the terms of the secured
promissory note, as amended, Genworth pledged as collateral to AXA a 19.9% security interest in our
outstanding common stock. Unless an event of default has occurred under the Promissory Note, AXA
does not have the right to sell or repledge the collateral and the security interest does not entitle AXA to
voting rights. The collateral will be released back to Genworth upon full repayment of the promissory note.
Accordingly, the collateral arrangement has no impact on our consolidated financial statements.
(2)

Summary of significant accounting policies
Emerging Growth Company Status

We currently qualify as an “emerging growth company” (“EGC”) because, at the time of initial
confidential submission of our registration statement, our gross revenue for the then most recently ended
fiscal year (the year ended December 31, 2019) was less than $1.07 billion. Because our gross revenue
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, exceeded $1.07 billion, we will cease to qualify as an EGC
upon consummation of our initial public offering (“IPO”). As a result, we qualify as an EGC and will
continue as such until the earlier of the date on which we consummate our IPO or the end of the one-year
period beginning on the date we cease to be an EGC under a registration statement as defined by the
Securities and Exchange Commission. Because we currently qualify as an EGC, we are permitted to
apply new accounting standards under an extended transition period available to private companies and
take advantage of reduced reporting requirements in these financial statements. We have elected to
apply the extended transition periods for new accounting standards applicable to private companies, and
reduced reporting requirements, as further described below.
Basis of Presentation
Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of United States generally
accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”). Preparing financial statements in conformity with U.S.
GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts and related
disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Certain prior year amounts have been
reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. Potential impacts, risks and uncertainties of the
coronavirus pandemic (“COVID-19”) may include declines in investment valuations and impairments,
deferred acquisition cost (“DAC”) or intangible assets impairments or the acceleration of amortization,
deferred tax recoverability and increases to loss reserves, among other matters.
Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a standalone basis and were derived
from the consolidated financial statements and accounting records of Genworth. The consolidated
financial statements include the accounts of EHI, its subsidiaries and those entities required to be
consolidated under the applicable accounting standards. All intercompany transactions and balances
have been eliminated.
The consolidated financial statements include allocations of certain Genworth expenses. We believe
the assumptions and methodologies underlying the allocation of these expenses are reasonable. The
allocated expenses relate to various services that have historically been provided to us by Genworth,
including investment management, information technology services and administrative services (such as
finance, human resources, employee benefit administration and legal). These allocations were made on a
direct usage basis when identifiable, with the remainder allocated on the basis of equity, proportional
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ENACT HOLDINGS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
effort or other relevant measures. Expenses allocated to us are not necessarily representative of the
amounts that would have been incurred had we operated independently of Genworth. See Note 11 for
further information regarding the allocation of Genworth expenses.
Premiums
For monthly insurance contracts, we report premiums as revenue over the period that coverage is
provided. For single premium mortgage insurance contracts, we report premiums over the estimated
policy life in accordance with the expected pattern of risk emergence as further described in our
accounting policy for unearned premiums. In addition, we refund post-delinquent premiums received to
the insured party if the delinquent loan goes to claim. We record a liability for premiums received on the
delinquent loans consistent with our expectations of ultimate claim rates.
Net Investment Income and Net Investment Gains and Losses
Investment income is recognized when earned. Income or loss upon call or prepayment of availablefor-sale fixed maturity securities is recognized in net investment income, except for hybrid securities
where the income or loss upon call is recognized in net investment gains and losses. Investment gains
and losses are calculated on the basis of specific identification on the trade date.
Investment income on asset-backed securities is initially based upon yield, cash flow and prepayment
assumptions at the date of purchase. Subsequent revisions in those assumptions are recorded using the
retrospective or prospective method. Under the retrospective method used for asset-backed securities of
high credit quality (ratings equal to or greater than “AA” or that are backed by a U.S. agency) which
cannot be contractually prepaid in such a manner that we would not recover a substantial portion of the
initial investment, amortized cost of the security is adjusted to the amount that would have existed had the
revised assumptions been in place at the date of purchase. The adjustments to amortized cost are
recorded as a charge or credit to net investment income. Under the prospective method, which is used for
all other asset-backed securities, future cash flows are estimated, and interest income is recognized
going forward using the new internal rate of return.
Other Income
Other income primarily includes underwriting fee revenue and other revenue. Underwriting fee
revenue is earned for underwriting services provided on a per-unit or per-diem basis, as defined in the
underwriting agreements. Underwriting fee revenue is recognized at the point in time when the service
obligation is satisfied.
Investments
Our investment portfolio is managed by Genworth. We conduct the purchases, sales, and related
investment management decisions with the advice of Genworth. As part of these services, we are
charged an investment management fee, as agreed between both parties. These fees are charged to
investment expense and are included in net investment income in the consolidated statements of income.
Refer to Note 11 for further details.
Fixed maturity securities classified as available-for-sale are reported in our consolidated balance
sheets at fair value. Our portfolio of fixed maturity securities comprises primarily investment grade
securities. Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale fixed maturity securities, net of deferred income
taxes, are reflected as unrealized investment gains or losses in a separate component of accumulated
other comprehensive income (“OCI”).
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ENACT HOLDINGS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
Other-Than-Temporary Impairments on Available-For-Sale Securities
As of each balance sheet date, we evaluate securities in an unrealized loss position for other-thantemporary impairments. For debt securities, we consider all available information relevant to the
collectability of the security, including information about past events, current conditions, and reasonable
and supportable forecasts, when developing the estimate of cash flows expected to be collected. More
specifically for asset-backed securities, we also utilize performance indicators of the underlying assets
including default or delinquency rates, loan to collateral value ratios, third-party credit enhancements,
current levels of subordination, vintage and other relevant characteristics of the security or underlying
assets to develop our estimate of cash flows. Estimating the cash flows expected to be collected is a
quantitative and qualitative process that incorporates information received from third-party sources along
with certain internal assumptions and judgments regarding the future performance of the underlying
collateral. Where possible, this data is benchmarked against third-party sources.
We recognize other-than-temporary impairments on debt securities in an unrealized loss position
when one of the following circumstances exists:
•

we do not expect full recovery of our amortized cost basis when due,

•

the present value of cash flows expected to be collected is less than our amortized cost basis,

•

we intend to sell a security, or

•

it is more likely than not that we will be required to sell a security prior to recovery.

Total other-than-temporary impairments that emerged in the current period are calculated as the
difference between the amortized cost and fair value. For other-than-temporarily impaired securities
where we do not intend to sell the security and it is not more likely than not that we will be required to sell
the security prior to recovery, total other-than-temporary impairments are adjusted by the portion of otherthan-temporary impairments recognized in OCI (“non-credit”). Net other-than-temporary impairments
recorded in net income (loss) represent the credit loss on the other-than-temporarily impaired securities
with the offset recognized as an adjustment to the amortized cost to determine the new amortized cost
basis of the securities.
For securities that were deemed to be other-than-temporarily impaired and a non-credit loss was
recorded in OCI, the amount recorded as an unrealized gain (loss) represents the difference between the
current fair value and the new amortized cost for each period presented. The unrealized gain (loss) on an
other-than-temporarily impaired security is recorded as a separate component in OCI until the security is
sold or until we record an other-than-temporary impairment where we intend to sell the security or will be
required to sell the security prior to recovery.
To estimate the amount of other-than-temporary impairment attributed to credit losses on debt
securities where we do not intend to sell the security and it is not more likely than not that we will be
required to sell the security prior to recovery, we determine our best estimate of the present value of the
cash flows expected to be collected from a security using the effective yield on the security prior to
recording any other-than-temporary impairment. If the present value of the discounted cash flows is lower
than the amortized cost of the security, the difference between the present value and amortized cost
represents the credit loss associated with the security with the remaining difference between fair value
and amortized cost recorded as a non-credit other-than-temporary impairment in OCI.
The evaluation of other-than-temporary impairments is subject to risks and uncertainties and is
intended to determine the appropriate amount and timing for recognizing an impairment charge. The
assessment of whether such impairment has occurred is based on management’s best estimate of the
cash flows expected to be collected at the individual security level. We regularly monitor our investment
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ENACT HOLDINGS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
portfolio to ensure that securities that may be other-than-temporarily impaired are identified in a timely
manner and that any impairment charge is recognized in the proper period.
While the other-than-temporary impairment model for debt securities generally includes fixed maturity
securities, there are certain hybrid securities that are classified as fixed maturity securities where the
application of a debt impairment model depends on whether there has been any evidence of deterioration
in credit of the issuer, such as a downgrade to below investment grade. Under certain circumstances,
evidence of deterioration in credit of the issuer may result in the application of the equity securities
impairment model where we recognize an impairment charge in the period in which we determine that the
security would not recover to book value within a reasonable period of time. We determine what
constitutes a reasonable period on a security-by-security basis based upon consideration of all the
evidence available to us, including the magnitude of an unrealized loss and its duration. In any event, this
period does not exceed 15 months. We measure other-than-temporary impairments based upon the
difference between the amortized cost of a security and its fair value.
Investment in Unconsolidated Affiliate
Investments in which we are deemed to exert significant influence, but not control, are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting except in cases where the fair value option has been elected. For
such investments where we have elected the fair value option, the election is irrevocable and is applied
on an investment by investment basis at initial recognition. The change in fair value of such investments
is included within change in fair value of unconsolidated affiliate in the consolidated statements of income.
See Note 3 for details.
Fair Value Measurements
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. We have fixed maturity
securities, which are carried at fair value, and previously had an investment in an unconsolidated affiliate
for which the fair value option had been elected.
Fair value measurements are based upon observable and unobservable inputs. Observable inputs
reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect our view of
market assumptions in the absence of observable market information. We utilize valuation techniques that
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.
All assets and liabilities carried at fair value are classified and disclosed in one of the following three
categories:
•

Level 1—Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.

•

Level 2—Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or
similar instruments in markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations for which inputs
are observable or where those significant value drivers are observable.

•

Level 3—Instruments for which significant value drivers are unobservable.

Level 1 primarily consists of financial instruments whose value is based on quoted market prices such
as equity securities and actively traded mutual fund investments.
Level 2 includes those financial instruments that are valued using industry-standard pricing
methodologies, models or other valuation methodologies. These models are primarily industry-standard
models that consider various inputs, such as interest rate, credit spread and foreign exchange rates for
the underlying financial instruments. All significant inputs are observable, or derived from observable,
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ENACT HOLDINGS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
information in the marketplace or are supported by observable levels at which transactions are executed
in the marketplace. Financial instruments in this category primarily include: certain public and private
corporate fixed maturity securities; government or agency securities; and certain asset-backed securities.
Level 3 comprises financial instruments whose fair value is estimated based on industry-standard
pricing methodologies and internally developed models utilizing significant inputs not based on, nor
corroborated by, readily available market information. In certain instances, this category may also utilize
non-binding broker quotes. This category primarily consists of certain less liquid fixed maturity securities
where we cannot corroborate the significant valuation inputs with market observable data.
As of each reporting period, all assets and liabilities recorded at fair value are classified in their
entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Our
assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires
judgment, and considers factors specific to the asset or liability, such as the relative impact on the fair
value as a result of including a particular input. We review the fair value hierarchy classifications each
reporting period. Changes in the observability of the valuation attributes may result in a reclassification of
certain financial assets or liabilities. Such reclassifications are reported as transfers in and out of Level 3
at the beginning fair value for the reporting period in which the changes occur. See Note 4 for additional
information related to fair value measurements.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Certificates of deposit, money market funds and other highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less are considered cash equivalents in the consolidated balance sheets
and consolidated statements of cash flows. Items with maturities greater than three months but less than
one year at the time of acquisition are generally considered short-term investments.
Accrued Investment Income
Accrued investment income consists primarily of interest. Interest is recognized on an accrual basis,
and dividends are recorded as earned on the ex-dividend date. Interest income is not recorded on fixed
maturity securities in default and fixed maturity securities delinquent more than 90 days or where
collection of interest is improbable.
Deferred Acquisition Costs
Acquisition costs include costs that are directly related to the successful acquisition of new insurance
contracts. Acquisition costs are deferred and amortized to the extent they are recoverable from future
profits. Acquisition costs primarily consist of underwriting costs and are amortized in proportion to
estimated gross profit. Judgment is used in evaluating these estimates and the assumptions on which
they are based. The use of different assumptions may have a significant effect on the amortization of
deferred acquisition costs.
Deferred acquisition costs were $28.9 million and $30.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Amortization of DAC was $14.2 million and $8.4 million for
the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and was included within amortization of
deferred acquisition costs and intangibles in the consolidated statements of income.
Premium Deficiency Reserves (“PDR”)
Premium deficiency reserves are established, if necessary, when the present value of expected future
losses and expenses exceeds the present value of expected future premium and already established
reserves. The discount rate used in the calculation is based upon our pretax investment yield. We do not
utilize anticipated investment income on our assets when evaluating the need for a PDR. The calculation
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of premium deficiency reserves requires the use of significant judgments and estimates to determine the
present value of future premium and present value of expected losses and expenses in our business. The
differences between the actual results and our estimates could vary materially. We completed a PDR
analysis as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and determined that no PDR was required.
Reinsurance
Premium revenue, benefits and acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals, are reported net
of the amounts relating to reinsurance ceded to other companies. The cost of reinsurance is accounted
for over the terms of the related treaties using assumptions consistent with those used to account for the
underlying reinsured policies. See Note 6 for details.
Loss Reserves
Loss reserves represents the amount needed to provide for the estimated ultimate cost of settling
claims relating to insured events that have occurred on or before the end of the respective reporting
period. The estimated liability includes requirements for future payments of: (a) losses that have been
reported to the insurer; (b) losses related to insured events that have occurred but that have not been
reported to the insurer as of the date the liability is estimated; and (c) loss adjustment expenses (“LAE”).
Loss adjustment expenses include costs incurred in the claim settlement process such as legal fees and
costs to record, process and adjust claims. Consistent with U.S. GAAP and industry accounting practices,
we do not establish loss reserves for future claims on insured loans that are not in default or believed to
be in default.
Estimates and actuarial assumptions used for establishing loss reserves involve the exercise of
significant judgment, and changes in assumptions or deviations of actual experience from assumptions
can have material impacts on our loss reserves and net income (loss). Because these assumptions relate
to factors that are not known in advance, change over time, are difficult to accurately predict and are
inherently uncertain, we cannot determine with precision the ultimate amounts we will pay for actual
claims or the timing of those payments. The sources of uncertainty affecting the estimates are numerous
and include factors internal and external to us. Internal factors include, but are not limited to, changes in
the mix of exposures, loss mitigation activities and claim settlement practices. Significant external
influences include changes in home prices, unemployment, government housing policies, state
foreclosure timeline, general economic conditions, interest rates, tax policy, credit availability, and
mortgage products. Small changes in assumptions or small deviations of actual experience from
assumptions can have, and in the past have had, material impacts on our reserves, results of operations
and financial condition.
We establish reserves to recognize the estimated liability for losses and LAE related to defaults on
insured mortgage loans. Loss reserves are established by estimating the number of loans in our inventory
of delinquent loans that will result in a claim payment, which is referred to as the claim rate, and further
estimating the amount of the claim payment, which is referred to as claim severity. The estimates are
determined using a factor-based approach, in which assumptions of claim rates for loans in default and
the average amount paid for loans that result in a claim are calculated using traditional actuarial
techniques. Over time, as the status of the underlying delinquent loans moves toward foreclosure and the
likelihood of the associated claim loss increases, the amount of the loss reserves associated with the
potential claims may also increase.
Management monitors actual experience, and where circumstances warrant, will revise its
assumptions. Our liability for loss reserves is reviewed regularly, with changes in our estimates of future
claims recorded through net income. Estimation of losses are based on historical claim and cure
experience and covered exposures and is inherently judgmental. Future developments may result in
losses greater or less than the liability for loss reserves provided.
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Unearned Premiums
Premiums written on single premium policies and annual premium policies are initially deferred as
unearned premium reserve and earned over the policy life. A portion of the revenue from single premium
policies is recognized in premiums earned in the current period, and the remaining portion is deferred as
unearned premiums and earned over the estimated expiration of risk of the policy. If single premium
policies are cancelled and the premium is non-refundable, then the remaining unearned premium related
to each cancelled policy is recognized to earned premiums upon notification of the cancellation. For
borrower-paid mortgage insurance, coverage ceases at the earlier of prepayment, or when the original
principal is amortized to a 78% loan-to-value ratio in accordance with the Homeowners Protection Act of
1998.
We periodically review our premium earnings recognition models with any adjustments to the
estimates reflected as a cumulative adjustment on a retrospective basis in current period net income.
These reviews include the consideration of recent and projected loss and policy cancellation experience,
and adjustments to the estimated earnings patterns are made, if warranted. In 2019, the review resulted
in an increase in earned premiums of $13.7 million.
Share-Based Compensation
Certain of our employees participate in Genworth’s incentive plans, under which our employees may
be granted share-based awards, including stock options. Compensation expense is recognized based on
a grant date fair value, adjusted for expected forfeitures, through the income statement over the
respective vesting period of the awards. See Note 10 for additional information related to share-based
compensation.
Employee Benefit Plans
Our employees are provided a number of Genworth employee benefits. Genworth, as sponsor of
these employee benefit plans, is ultimately responsible for maintenance of these plans in compliance with
applicable laws. The plans are accounted for by Genworth in accordance with relevant accounting
guidance. We account for these employee benefit plans as multiemployer benefit plans. Accordingly, we
do not record an asset or liability to recognize the funded status of the employee benefit plans. Expenses
related to employee benefits are included within acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals in
the consolidated statements of income. See Note 9 for additional information related to employee
benefits.
Income Taxes
We determine deferred tax assets and/or liabilities by multiplying the differences between the
financial reporting and tax reporting bases for assets and liabilities by the enacted tax rates expected to
be in effect when such differences are recovered or settled if there is no change in law. The effect on
deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in net income (loss) in the period that includes the
enactment date. Valuation allowances on deferred tax assets are estimated based on our assessment of
the realizability of such amounts.
We have elected to participate in a single U.S. consolidated income tax return filing (the “Genworth
consolidated return”). All Genworth companies domesticated in the United States are included in the
Genworth consolidated return as allowed by the tax law and regulations. We have a tax sharing
agreement in place and all intercompany balances related to this agreement are settled at least annually.
Refer to Note 8 for further details.
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Variable Interest Entities
We are involved in certain entities that are considered variable interest entities (“VIEs”) as defined
under U.S. GAAP, and, accordingly, we evaluate the VIE to determine whether we are the primary
beneficiary and are required to consolidate the assets and liabilities of the entity. The primary beneficiary
of a VIE is the enterprise that has the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impacts
the VIE’s economic performance and has the obligation to absorb losses or receive benefits that could
potentially be significant to the VIE. The determination of the primary beneficiary for a VIE can be
complex and requires management judgment regarding the expected results of the entity and how those
results are absorbed by variable interest holders, as well as which party has the power to direct activities
that most significantly impact the performance of the VIEs.
Our involvement with VIEs consists of excess of loss reinsurance agreements with special purpose
insurers domiciled in Bermuda. Triangle Re 2019-1 Ltd. (“Triangle Re 2019-1”) and Triangle Re 2020-1
Ltd. (“Triangle Re 2020-1”) finance the reinsurance coverage by issuing mortgage insurance-linked notes
to unaffiliated investors. The assets of the VIEs are deposited in reinsurance trusts for our benefit that will
be the source of reinsurance claim payments. Our involvement with these VIEs does not result in the
unilateral power to direct the activities that most significantly affect the VIEs’ economic performance or
result in the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits. Accordingly, consolidation of the
VIEs is not required. See Note 6 for details.
Accounting Pronouncements Adopted
Fair Value Disclosures
On January 1, 2020, we adopted new accounting guidance related to fair value disclosure
requirements as part of the FASB’s disclosure framework project. The guidance adds, eliminates and
modifies certain disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. The guidance includes new
disclosure requirements related to changes in unrealized gains and losses included in other
comprehensive income (loss) for recurring Level 3 fair value measurements held at the end of the
reporting period and the range and weighted-average of significant unobservable inputs used to develop
Level 3 fair value measurements. We adopted this new accounting guidance using the prospective
method for disclosures related to changes in unrealized gains and losses included in other
comprehensive income (loss) for recurring Level 3 fair value measurements held at the end of the
reporting period, the range and weighted-average of significant unobservable inputs used to develop
Level 3 fair value measurements and the narrative description of measurement uncertainty and the
retrospective method for all other disclosures. This accounting guidance did not impact our consolidated
financial statements but impacted our fair value disclosures.
Reference Rate Reform
In March 2020 and January 2021, the FASB issued new accounting guidance related to reference
rate reform, which was effective for us on January 1, 2020. The guidance provides temporary guidance to
ease the potential burden in accounting for, or recognizing the effects of, reference rate reform, which
includes the transition away from the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) and other interbank
offered rates to alternative reference rates, such as the Secured Overnight Financing Rate. This new
guidance provides optional practical expedients and exceptions for applying generally accepted
accounting principles to investments, derivatives or other transactions affected by reference rate reform.
In addition to the optional practical expedients, the guidance includes a general principle that permits an
entity to consider contract modifications due to reference rate reform to be an event that does not require
contract remeasurement at the modification date or reassessment of a previous accounting
determination. We adopted this guidance prospectively and it did not have a significant impact on our
consolidated financial statements or disclosures. However, the amendments in this guidance may be
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elected over time through December 31, 2022, as reference rate reform activities occur and therefore, this
guidance may impact our procedures as we implement measures to transition away from LIBOR.
Amortization Period of Certain Callable Debt Securities Held at a Premium
On January 1, 2019, we adopted new accounting guidance related to shortening the amortization
period of certain callable debt securities held at a premium. The guidance requires the premium to be
amortized to the earliest call date. This change does not apply to securities held at a discount. We
adopted this new accounting guidance using the modified retrospective method, which did not have a
significant impact on our consolidated financial statements at adoption.
Accounting for Leases
On January 1, 2019, we adopted new accounting guidance related to the accounting for leases. The
new guidance generally requires lessees to recognize both a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
lease liability on the balance sheet. We adopted this new accounting guidance using the effective date
transition method, which permits entities to apply the new lease standard using a modified retrospective
transition approach at the date of adoption. The package of practical expedients was also elected upon
adoption. Upon adoption we recorded a $22.6 million right-of-use asset related to operating leases and a
$23.4 million lease liability. In addition, we de-recognized accrued rent expense of $0.8 million recorded
under the previous accounting guidance. The right-of-use asset and the lease liability are included in
other assets and other liabilities, respectively, and did not have a significant impact on our consolidated
balance sheet as of December 31, 2019. The initial measurement of our right-of-use asset had no
significant initial direct costs, prepaid lease payments or lease incentives; therefore, a cumulative-effect
adjustment was not recorded to the opening retained earnings balance as a result of the change in
accounting principle.
Our leased assets are classified as operating leases and consist of office space in two locations in
the United States. Lease payments included in the calculation of our lease liability include fixed amounts
contained within each rental agreement and variable lease payments that are based upon an index or
rate. We have elected to combine lease and non-lease components, as permitted under this new
accounting guidance, and as a result, non-lease components are included in the calculation of our lease
liability as opposed to being separated and accounted for as consideration under the new revenue
recognition standard. Our remaining lease terms ranged from less than 2 years to 7 years and had a
weighted-average remaining lease term of 7.0 years as of December 31, 2020. The implicit rate of our
lease agreements was not readily determinable; therefore, we utilized our incremental borrowing rate to
discount future lease payments. The weighted-average discount rate was 7.1% as of December 31, 2020.
In 2020, under this new accounting guidance, annual rental expense was $3.4 million. Annual rental
expense and future minimum lease payments were not significantly different under this new accounting
guidance as compared to the previous guidance. See Note 12 for details.
Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted
In December 2019, the FASB issued new accounting guidance related to simplifying the accounting
for income taxes. The guidance eliminates certain exceptions related to the approach for intraperiod tax
allocation, the methodology for calculating income taxes in an interim period and the recognition of
deferred tax liabilities for outside basis differences. We early adopted this new accounting guidance on
January 1, 2021, using the retrospective method or modified retrospective method for certain changes
and prospective method for all other changes, which did not have a significant impact on our consolidated
financial statements and disclosures.
In June 2016, the FASB issued new accounting guidance related to accounting for credit losses on
financial instruments. The guidance requires entities to recognize an allowance equal to its estimate of
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lifetime expected credit losses and applies to most debt instruments not measured at fair value. The new
guidance retains most of the existing impairment guidance for available-for-sale debt securities but
amends the presentation of credit losses to be presented as an allowance as opposed to a write-down
and permits the reversal of credit losses when reassessing changes in the credit losses each reporting
period. We early adopted this new accounting guidance on January 1, 2021, using the modified
retrospective method, which did not have a significant impact on our consolidated financial statements.
The new guidance further requires that expected credit losses on premiums receivable are measured in
accordance with the credit loss requirements for financial instruments measured at amortized cost. Due to
the short-term nature of our premiums receivable, we consider lifetime expected credit losses on
premiums receivable to be consistent with our current allowance and as a result the new accounting
guidance did not have an impact on premiums receivable upon adoption.
(3)

Investments
Net Investment Income
Sources of net investment income were as follows for the year ended December 31:

(Amounts in thousands)

2020

2019

Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale.................................................... $
Cash and cash equivalents..............................................................................
Gross investment income before expenses and fees.......................................
Investment expenses and fees.............................................................................
Net investment income ...................................................................................... $

136,143 $
2,180
138,323
(5,480)
132,843 $

117,407
3,881
121,288
(4,361)
116,927

Net Investment Gains (Losses)
The following table sets forth net investment gains (losses) for the years ended December 31:
(Amounts in thousands)

2020

Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale:
Gross realized gains.......................................................................................... $
Gross realized (losses)......................................................................................
Net realized gains (losses)...............................................................................
Impairments:
Total other-than-temporary impairments........................................................
Portion of other-than-temporary impairments included in other
comprehensive income (loss).......................................................................
Net other-than-temporary impairments...........................................................
Net investment gains (losses) ..................................................................... $

19

1,884 $
(3,478)
(1,594)
(1,730)
—
(1,730)
(3,324) $

2019

1,270
(552)
718
—
—
—
718
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Unrealized Investment Gains and Losses
Net unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities reflected as a separate component of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) were as follows as of December 31:
(Amounts in thousands)

2020

2019

Net unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities:
Fixed maturity securities not other-than-temporarily impaired......................... $
Fixed maturity securities other-than-temporarily impaired...............................
Subtotal.....................................................................................................................
Income taxes...........................................................................................................
Net unrealized investment gains (losses) ..................................................... $

264,680 $
—
264,680
(56,302)
208,378 $

121,085
—
121,085
(27,654)
93,431

The change in net unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities reported in accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) was as follows as of and for the years ended December 31:
(Amounts in thousands)

2020

Beginning balance ............................................................................................... $
Unrealized gains (losses) arising during the period:
Unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities..........................................
Provision for income taxes....................................................................................
Change in unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities........................
Reclassification adjustments to net investment (gains) losses, net of taxes
of $(702) and $147, respectively......................................................................
Change in net unrealized investment gains (losses)........................................
Ending balance ..................................................................................................... $

93,431 $

2019

(26,522)

140,253
(27,946)
112,307

153,062
(32,557)
120,505

2,640
114,947
208,378 $

(552)
119,953
93,431

Amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to net investment gains
(losses) include realized gains (losses) on sales of securities, which are determined on a specific
identification basis.
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Fixed Maturity Securities Available-For-Sale
The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains (losses) and fair value of our fixed maturity securities
classified as available-for-sale were as follows as of December 31:
Gross unrealized Gains

2020
(Amounts in thousands)

Amortized
cost

Not otherthantemporarily
impaired

Other-thantemporarily
impaired

U.S. government,
agencies and GSEs........ $ 134,215 $
4,009 $
State and political
subdivisions......................
172,631
14,749
Non-U.S. government.........
29,592
1,439
U.S. corporate..................... 2,695,009
194,961
Non-U.S. corporate.............
578,295
32,251
Other asset-backed............ 1,172,174
21,830
Total fixed maturity
securities availablefor-sale ............................ $4,781,916 $ 269,239 $

Gross unrealized losses
Not otherthantemporarily
impaired

— $

2019
(Amounts in thousands)

Amortized
cost

U.S. government,
agencies and GSEs........ $ 90,815 $
State and political
subdivisions......................
88,482
Non-U.S. government.........
18,806
U.S. corporate..................... 2,175,580
Non-U.S. corporate.............
349,975
Other asset-backed............
919,689

9,706
628
86,489
14,525
9,923

Total fixed maturity
securities availablefor-sale ............................ $3,643,347 $ 122,806 $

— $ 138,224

(3)
—
(1,345)
(2,877)
(334)

—
—
—
—
—

— $

(4,559) $

— $5,046,596

Other-thantemporarily
impaired

1,535 $

— $

Fair value

—
—
—
—
—

Gross unrealized Gains
Not otherthantemporarily
impaired

Other-thantemporarily
impaired

187,377
31,031
2,888,625
607,669
1,193,670

Gross unrealized losses
Not otherthantemporarily
impaired

— $

Other-thantemporarily
impaired

(14) $

Fair value

— $

92,336

—
—
—
—
—

(29)
—
(623)
(31)
(1,024)

—
—
—
—
—

98,159
19,434
2,261,446
364,469
928,588

— $

(1,721) $

— $3,764,432

Gross Unrealized Losses and Fair Values of Fixed Maturity Securities Available-For-Sale
The following tables present the gross unrealized losses and fair values of our fixed maturity
securities, aggregated by investment type and length of time that individual fixed maturity securities have
been in a continuous unrealized loss position, as of December 31, 2020:
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2020
(Amounts in thousands)

Less than 12 months

12 months or more

Total

Gross
unrealized
losses

Gross
unrealized
losses

Gross
unrealized
losses

Fair
value

Number of
securities

Fair
value

Number of
securities

Fair
value

Number of
securities

Fixed maturity securities:
U.S. government,
agencies and GSEs..... $

—

State and political
subdivisions...................

4,717

Non-U.S. government.......

—

U.S. corporate....................

44,296

Non-U.S. corporate...........

32,533

Other asset-backed...........

24,823

Total for fixed maturity
securities in an
unrealized loss
position ........................ $ 106,369

$

—

—

$

—

$

—

—

$

—

(3)

2

—

—

—

4,717

—

—

—

—

—

—

(1,231)

8

2,886

(2,877)

8

—

(60)

5

26,028

$

(4,171)

23

$

28,914

$

(1,846)

22

$

28,914

(2,325)

1

(114)

$

—

—

(3)

2

—

—

1

47,182

(1,345)

—

32,533

(2,877)

8

(274)

6

50,851

(334)

11

$

(388)

7

$ 135,283

$

(4,559)

30

$

(388)

$

(2,234)

29

(2,325)

1

—

9

% Below cost:
<20% Below cost............... $
20%-50% Below cost........

98,694
7,675

—

—

7

$ 127,608

—

7,675

Total for fixed maturity
securities in an
unrealized loss
position ........................ $ 106,369

$

(4,171)

23

$

28,914

$

(388)

7

$ 135,283

$

(4,559)

30

Investment grade............... $

$

(1,846)

22

$

26,028

$

(274)

6

$ 124,722

$

(2,120)

28

(2,325)

1

(114)

1

10,561

(2,439)

2

(4,171)

23

(388)

7

$ 135,283

(4,559)

30

Below investment grade...

98,694
7,675

Total for fixed maturity
securities in an
unrealized loss
position ........................ $ 106,369

$

2,886

$

28,914

$

$

We did not recognize any other-than-temporary impairments on securities in an unrealized loss
position. Based on a qualitative and quantitative review of the issuers of the securities, we believe the
decline in fair value is largely due to recent market volatility and is not indicative of other-than-temporary
impairment. The issuers continue to make timely principal and interest payments.
For all securities in an unrealized loss position, we expect to recover the amortized cost based on our
estimate of the amount and timing of cash flows to be collected. We do not intend to sell nor do we expect
that we will be required to sell these securities prior to recovering our amortized cost.
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The following table presents the gross unrealized losses and fair values of our fixed maturity
securities, aggregated by investment type and length of time that individual fixed maturity securities have
been in a continuous unrealized loss position, as of December 31, 2019:

2019
(Amounts in thousands)

Less than 12 months

12 months or more

Total

Gross
unrealized
losses

Gross
unrealized
losses

Gross
unrealized
losses

Fair
value

Number of
securities

Fair
value

Number of
securities

Fair
value

Number of
securities

Fixed maturity securities:
U.S. government,
agencies and GSEs..... $

1,856

State and political
subdivisions...................

9,221

Non-U.S. government.......

—

U.S. corporate....................

57,946

(623)

11

—

Non-U.S. corporate...........

4,976

(6)

1

6,007

Other asset-backed...........

169,880

(717)

29

48,759

$

(1,388)

45

$

56,895

$

(1,388)

45

$

56,895

Total for fixed maturity
securities in an
unrealized loss
position ........................ $ 243,879

$

(13)

1

$

2,129

$

(1)

1

$

3,985

$

(14)

2

(29)

3

—

—

—

9,221

—

—

—

—

—

—

(29)

3

—

—

—

—

57,946

(623)

(25)

2

10,983

(31)

3

(307)

13

218,639

(1,024)

42

$

(333)

16

$ 300,774

$

(1,721)

61

$

(333)

16

$ 300,774

$

(1,721)

61

—

—

$

11

% Below cost:
<20% Below cost............... $ 243,879
20%-50% Below cost........

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Total for fixed maturity
securities in an
unrealized loss
position ........................ $ 243,879

$

(1,388)

45

$

56,895

$

(333)

16

$ 300,774

$

(1,721)

61

Investment grade............... $ 241,261

$

(1,006)

44

$

56,895

$

(333)

16

$ 298,156

$

(1,339)

60

(382)

1

—

2,618

(382)

1

(1,388)

45

16

$ 300,774

(1,721)

61

Below investment grade...

2,618

Total for fixed maturity
securities in an
unrealized loss
position ........................ $ 243,879

$

—

$

56,895

—

$

(333)

$

Contractual Maturities of Fixed Maturity Securities Available-For-Sale
The scheduled maturity distribution of fixed maturity securities as of December 31, 2020, is set forth
below. Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because issuers of securities may have the
right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.
2020
(Amounts in thousands)

Amortized
cost

Due in one year or less..................................................................................... $
155,569 $
Due after one year through five years............................................................
2,085,094
Due after five years through ten years...........................................................
1,320,283
Due after ten years............................................................................................
48,796
Subtotal.....................................................................................................................
3,609,742
Other asset-backed................................................................................................
1,172,174
Total fixed maturity securities available-for-sale ........................................ $ 4,781,916 $

Fair value

157,139
2,237,162
1,406,381
52,244
3,852,926
1,193,670
5,046,596

As of December 31, 2020, securities issued by finance and insurance, consumer—non-cyclical and
technology and communications industry groups represented approximately 29%, 17%, and 14%,
respectively, of our domestic and foreign corporate fixed maturity securities portfolio. No other industry
group comprised more than 10% of our investment portfolio.
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As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, we did not hold any fixed maturity securities in any single issuer,
other than securities issued or guaranteed by the U.S. government, which exceeded 10% of equity.
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, $27.8 million and $26.1 million, respectively, of securities were
on deposit with various state insurance commissioners in order to comply with relevant insurance
regulations.
Investment in Unconsolidated Affiliate
Prior to December 12, 2019, we held 14.1 million, or approximately 16.4%, of the outstanding
common shares of Genworth MI Canada Inc. (“Genworth Canada”), a publicly traded company on the
Toronto Stock Exchange. We concluded that we had significant influence over Genworth Canada
primarily due to board representation, and therefore, we classified our investment in Genworth Canada as
an equity method investment. We elected to account for the investment in Genworth Canada under the
fair value option because the investment had a readily determinable fair value.
On December 12, 2019, we completed the sale of our investment in Genworth Canada to an affiliate
of Brookfield Business Partners L.P. and received approximately $501.8 million in net cash proceeds. We
also received cash proceeds from the sale of common shares of Genworth Canada of $8.4 million in 2019
related to share repurchases by Genworth Canada.
The pre-tax change in fair value of the investment in Genworth Canada, including dividends and the
sale of common shares, was $127.4 million in 2019. This was included within change in fair value of
unconsolidated affiliate in the consolidated statements of income, net of provision for income taxes of
$12.1 million in 2019.
The following table presents summarized statement of income information from January 1, 2019, to
December 12, 2019, the period we held an equity method investment in Genworth Canada:
(Amounts in thousands)

Revenue.............................................................................................................................................. $
Expense............................................................................................................................................... $
(4)

585,066
197,889

Fair value
Recurring Fair Value Measurements
Fixed Maturity Securities Measured at Fair Value

We have fixed maturity securities, which are carried at fair value. The fair value of fixed maturity
securities is estimated primarily based on information derived from third-party pricing services (“pricing
services”), internal models and/or broker quotes, which use a market approach, income approach or a
combination of the market and income approach depending on the type of instrument and availability of
information. In general, a market approach is utilized if there is readily available and relevant market
activity for an individual security. In certain cases where market information is not available for a specific
security but is available for similar securities, that security is valued using market information for similar
securities, which is also a market approach. When market information is not available for a specific
security (or similar securities) or is available but such information is less relevant or reliable, an income
approach or a combination of a market and income approach is utilized. For securities with optionality,
such as call or prepayment features (including asset-backed securities), an income approach may be
used. In addition, a combination of the results from market and income approaches may be used to
estimate fair value. These valuation techniques may change from period to period, based on the
relevance and availability of market data.
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Further, while we consider the valuations provided by pricing services and broker quotes to be of high
quality, management determines the fair value of its investment securities after considering all relevant
and available information.
In general, we first obtain valuations from pricing services. If prices are unavailable for public
securities, it obtains broker quotes. For all securities, excluding certain private fixed maturity securities, if
neither a pricing service nor broker quotes valuation is available, we determine fair value using internal
models. For certain private fixed maturity securities where we do not obtain valuations from pricing
services, we utilize an internal model to determine fair value since transactions for similar securities are
not readily observable and these securities are not typically valued by pricing services.
Given our understanding of the pricing methodologies and procedures of pricing services, the
securities valued by pricing services are typically classified as Level 2 unless we determine the valuation
process for a security or group of securities utilizes significant unobservable inputs, which would result in
the valuation being classified as Level 3.
Broker quotes are typically based on an income approach given the lack of available market data. As
the valuation typically includes significant unobservable inputs, we classify the securities where fair value
is based on its consideration of broker quotes as Level 3 measurements.
For private fixed maturity securities, we utilize an income approach where we obtain public bond
spreads and utilize those in an internal model to determine fair value. Other inputs to the model include
rating and weighted-average life, as well as sector which is used to assign the spread. We then add an
additional premium, which represents an unobservable input, to the public bond spread to adjust for the
liquidity and other features of our private placements. We utilize the estimated market yield to discount
the expected cash flows of the security to determine fair value. We utilize price caps for securities where
the estimated market yield results in a valuation that may exceed the amount that would be received in a
market transaction. When a security does not have an external rating, we assign the security an internal
rating to determine the appropriate public bond spread that should be utilized in the valuation. While we
generally consider the public bond spreads by sector and maturity to be observable inputs, we evaluate
the similarities of our private placement with the public bonds, any price caps utilized, liquidity premiums
applied, and whether external ratings are available for our private placements to determine whether the
spreads utilized would be considered observable inputs. We classify private securities without an external
rating or public bond spread as Level 3. In general, a significant increase (decrease) in credit spreads
would have resulted in a significant decrease (increase) in the fair value for our fixed maturity securities
as of December 31, 2020.
For remaining securities priced using internal models, we determine fair value using an income
approach. We maximize the use of observable inputs but typically utilize significant unobservable inputs
to determine fair value. Accordingly, the valuations are typically classified as Level 3.
Our assessment of whether or not there were significant unobservable inputs related to fixed maturity
securities was based on its observations obtained through the course of managing its investment
portfolio, including interaction with other market participants, observations related to the availability and
consistency of pricing and/or rating, and understanding of general market activity such as new issuance
and the level of secondary market trading for a class of securities. Additionally, we considered data
obtained from pricing services to determine whether its estimated values incorporate significant
unobservable inputs that would result in the valuation being classified as Level 3.
A summary of the inputs used for our fixed maturity securities based on the level in which instruments
are classified is included below. We have combined certain classes of instruments together as the nature
of the inputs is similar.
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Level 1 measurements
We had no fixed maturity securities classified as Level 1 as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.
Level 2 measurements
Third-party Pricing Services
In estimating the fair value of fixed maturity securities, approximately 91% of our portfolio was priced
using third-party pricing services as of December 31, 2020. These pricing services utilize industrystandard valuation techniques that include market-based approaches, income-based approaches, a
combination of market-based and income-based approaches or other proprietary, internally generated
models as part of the valuation processes. These third-party pricing vendors maximize the use of publicly
available data inputs to generate valuations for each asset class. Priority and type of inputs used may
change frequently as certain inputs may be more direct drivers of valuation at the time of pricing.
Examples of significant inputs incorporated by pricing services may include sector and issuer spreads,
seasoning, capital structure, security optionality, collateral data, prepayment assumptions, default
assumptions, delinquencies, debt covenants, benchmark yields, trade data, dealer quotes, credit ratings,
maturity and weighted-average life. We conduct regular meetings with our pricing services for the purpose
of understanding the methodologies, techniques and inputs used by the third-party pricing providers. The
following table presents a summary of the significant inputs used by our pricing services for certain fair
value measurements of fixed maturity securities that are classified as Level 2 as of December 31, 2020:
2020
(Amounts in
thousands)

Fair value

Primary methodologies

Significant inputs

U.S. government, $ 138,224 Price quotes from trading desk,
agencies and
broker feeds
GSEs

Bid side prices, trade prices,
Option Adjusted Spread (“OAS”)
to swap curve, Bond Market
Association OAS, Treasury
Curve, Agency Bullet Curve,
maturity to issuer spread

State and political $ 187,377 Multi-dimensional attribute-based
subdivisions
modeling systems, third-party
pricing vendors

Trade prices, material event
notices, Municipal Market Data
benchmark yields, broker quotes

Non-U.S.
government

Benchmark yields, trade prices,
broker quotes, comparative
transactions, issuer spreads, bidoffer spread, market research
publications, third-party pricing
sources

$

31,031 Matrix pricing, spread priced to
benchmark curves, price quotes
from market makers
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2020
(Amounts in
thousands)

Fair value

Primary methodologies

U.S. corporate

$2,583,990 Multi-dimensional attribute-based
modeling systems, broker quotes,
price quotes from market makers,
internal models, OAS-based
models

Non-U.S.
corporate

$ 463,664 Multi-dimensional attribute-based
modeling systems, OAS-based
models, price quotes from market
makers

Other assetbacked

$1,179,889 Multi-dimensional attribute-based
modeling systems, spread matrix
priced to swap curves, price quotes
from market makers, internal
models

Significant inputs

Bid side prices to Treasury Curve,
Issuer Curve, which includes
sector, quality, duration, OAS
percentage and change for spread
matrix, trade prices, comparative
transactions, Trade Reporting and
Compliance Engine (“TRACE”)
reports
Benchmark yields, trade prices,
broker quotes, comparative
transactions, issuer spreads, bidoffer spread, market research
publications, third-party pricing
sources
Spreads to daily updated swaps
curves, spreads derived from
trade prices and broker quotes,
bid side prices, new issue data,
collateral performance, analysis of
prepayment speeds, cash flows,
collateral loss analytics, historical
issue analysis, trade data from
market makers, TRACE reports

Internal Models
A portion of our U.S. corporate and non-U.S. corporate securities are valued using internal models.
The fair value of these fixed maturity securities was $185.3 million and $48.3 million, respectively, as of
December 31, 2020. Internally modeled securities are primarily private fixed maturity securities where we
use market observable inputs such as an interest rate yield curve, published credit spreads for similar
securities based on the external ratings of the instrument and related industry sector of the issuer.
Additionally, we may apply certain price caps and liquidity premiums in the valuation of private fixed
maturity securities. Price caps and liquidity premiums are established using inputs from market
participants.
Level 3 measurements
Broker Quotes
A portion of our U.S. corporate, non-U.S. corporate, and other asset-backed securities are valued
using broker quotes. Broker quotes are obtained from third-party providers that have current market
knowledge to provide a reasonable price for securities not routinely priced by pricing services. Brokers
utilized for valuation of assets are reviewed annually. The fair value of our Level 3 fixed maturity securities
priced by broker quotes was $59.1 million as of December 31, 2020.
Internal Models
A portion of our U.S. corporate, non-U.S. corporate, and other asset-backed securities are valued
using internal models. The primary inputs to the valuation of the bond population include quoted prices for
identical assets, or similar assets in markets that are not active, contractual cash flows, duration, call
provisions, issuer rating, benchmark yields and credit spreads. Certain private fixed maturity securities
are valued using an internal model using market observable inputs such as the interest rate yield curve,
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as well as published credit spreads for similar securities, which includes significant unobservable inputs.
Additionally, we may apply certain price caps and liquidity premiums in the valuation of private fixed
maturity securities. Price caps are established using inputs from market participants. For structured
securities, the primary inputs to the valuation include quoted prices for identical assets, or similar assets
in markets that are not active, contractual cash flows, weighted-average coupon, weighted-average
maturity, issuer rating, structure of the security, expected prepayment speeds and volumes, collateral
type, current and forecasted loss severity, average delinquency rates, vintage of the loans, geographic
region, debt service coverage ratios, payment priority with the tranche, benchmark yields and credit
spreads. The fair value of our Level 3 fixed maturity securities priced using internal models was
$169.8 million as of December 31, 2020.
The following tables set forth our assets by class of instrument that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis as of December 31:
2020
(Amounts in thousands)

Total

Level 1

Fixed maturity securities:
U.S. government, agencies and GSEs............. $ 138,224 $
State and political subdivisions..........................
187,377
Non-U.S. government..........................................
31,031
U.S. corporate......................................................
2,888,625
Non-U.S. corporate..............................................
607,669
Other asset-backed.............................................
1,193,670
Total fixed maturity securities.................................
5,046,596
Total .......................................................................... $ 5,046,596 $
2019
(Amounts in thousands)

Total

Fixed maturity securities:
U.S. government, agencies and GSEs............. $
92,336 $
State and political subdivisions..........................
98,159
Non-U.S. government..........................................
19,434
U.S. corporate......................................................
2,261,446
Non-U.S. corporate..............................................
364,469
Other asset-backed.............................................
928,588
Total fixed maturity securities.................................
3,764,432
Total .......................................................................... $ 3,764,432 $

Level 2

— $ 138,224 $
—
187,377
—
31,031
—
2,769,252
—
511,918
—
1,179,889
—
4,817,691
— $ 4,817,691 $

Level 1

Level 2

— $
92,336 $
—
98,159
—
19,434
—
2,161,584
—
287,280
—
924,550
—
3,583,343
— $ 3,583,343 $

We did not have any liabilities recorded at fair value as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.
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—
—
—
119,373
95,751
13,781
228,905
228,905

Level 3

—
—
—
99,862
77,189
4,038
181,089
181,089
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The following tables present additional information about assets measured at fair value on a recurring
basis and for which we have utilized significant unobservable (Level 3) inputs to determine fair value as of
or for the dates indicated:

2020
(Amounts
in thousands)

Balance
as of
January 1,
2020

Total realized and
unrealized gains
(losses)
Included
in net
income

Included
in OCI

Purchases

$

$ 2,663

$

Sales

Transfers
out of
Level 3(1)

Balance
as of
December 31,
2020

$

Issuance

Settlement

Transfers
into
Level 3(1)

$

—

$ (13,332)

$ 18,216

$ (58,750)

—

(16,471)

27,641

(25,402)

Total gains
(losses) attributable to
assets still held
Included
in net
income

Included
in OCI

Fixed maturity
securities:
U.S.
corporate...... $ 99,862

162

70,552

Non-U.S.
corporate

77,189

Other assetbacked....

4,038

—

304

40,868

Total................. $ 181,089

$ 1,845

$ 2,078

$ 143,420

1,683

(889)

$

32,000

—
—
—

$

—

$

—

(1,946)

—

(29,483)

—

$ (31,749)

$ 45,857

$(113,635)

119,373

$

95,751

$

(18)

13,781
$

(103)

(1,219)

—

228,905

$

(121)

4,694

(122)
$

3,353

_______________
(1) The transfers into and out of Level 3 for fixed maturity securities were related to changes in the primary pricing
source and changes in the observability of external information used in determining the fair value, such as
external ratings or credit spreads.

2019
(Amounts
in thousands)

Balance
as of
January 1,
2019

Transfers
out of
Level 3(1)

Balance
as of
December 31,
2019

Total gains
(losses)
included in
net income
attributable
to assets
still held

$

$

$

Total realized and
unrealized gains
(losses)
Included
in net
income

Included
in OCI

Purchases

$

$

Sales

Issuance

Settlement

Transfers
into
Level 3(1)

$

$

Fixed maturity securities:
U.S. corporate..................... $ 76,532

(99)

$ 5,082

—

$ (13,663)

Non-U.S. corporate............

65,534

(18)

5,594

6,500

—

—

(422)

3,015

(3,014)

77,189

Other asset-backed............

3,930

—

490

16,797

—

—

(507)

—

(16,672)

4,038

—

$ (14,592)

8,356

$ (26,014)

Total ........................................ $ 145,996

$

(117)

$ 11,166

$

38,000

61,297

$ (5,003)

$ (5,003)

$

$

5,341

(6,328)

$

99,862

181,089

(102)
(18)
—

$

(120)

_______________
(1) The transfers into and out of Level 3 for fixed maturity securities were related to changes in the primary pricing
source and changes in the observability of external information used in determining the fair value, such as
external ratings or credit spreads.

Purchases, sales, issuances and settlements represent the activity that occurred during the period
that results in a change of the asset but does not represent changes in fair value for the instruments held
at the beginning of the period. Such activity consists of purchases, sales and settlements of fixed maturity
securities.
The following table presents the gains and losses included in net income from assets measured at
fair value on a recurring basis and for which we have utilized significant unobservable (Level 3) inputs to
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determine fair value and the related income statement line item in which these gains and losses were
presented for the years ended December 31:
(Amounts in thousands)

2020

Total realized and unrealized gains (losses) included in net income:
Net investment income...........................................................................................
Net investment gains (losses)...............................................................................
Total .........................................................................................................................
Total gains (losses) included in net income attributable to assets still held:
Net investment income...........................................................................................
Net investment gains (losses)...............................................................................
Total .........................................................................................................................

$
$
$
$

2019

1,845 $
—
1,845 $

(117)
—
(117)

(121) $
—
(121) $

(120)
—
(120)

The amount presented for realized and unrealized gains (losses) included in net income for fixed
maturity securities primarily represents amortization and accretion of premiums and discounts on certain
fixed maturity securities.
The following table presents a summary of the significant unobservable inputs used for certain asset
fair value measurements that are based on internal models and classified as Level 3 as of
December 31, 2020:

(Amounts in thousands)

Fixed maturity securities:
U.S. corporate...................
Non-U.S. corporate...........

Valuation technique

Internal models
Internal models

Fair value

(1)

$115,019
$52,004

Unobservable input

Range
(bps)

Weightedaverage (2)
(bps)

Credit spreads
Credit spreads

66–133
75–161

98
107

_______________
(1) Certain classes of instruments classified as Level 3 are excluded as a result of not being material or due to
limitations in being able to obtain the underlying inputs used by certain third-party sources, such as broker
quotes, used as an input in determining fair value.
(2) Unobservable inputs weighted by the relative fair value of the associated instrument.

Liabilities Not Required to Be Carried at Fair Value
The following table provides fair value information for financial instruments that are reflected in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements at amounts other than fair value. We have certain
financial instruments that are not recorded at fair value, including cash and cash equivalents and accrued
investment income, the carrying value of which approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of
these instruments and are not included in this disclosure.
The following represents our estimated fair value of financial liabilities not required to be carried at fair
value, classified as Level 2, as of December 31, 2020:
Carrying
amount

(Amounts in thousands)

Long-term borrowings............................................................................................ $
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(5)

Loss reserves
Activity for the liability for loss reserves is summarized as follows:

(Amounts in thousands)

2020

2019

Loss reserves, beginning of year......................................................................... $
Run-off reserves......................................................................................................
Net loss reserves, beginning of year...................................................................

235,062 $
(1,597)
233,465

297,879
(2,059)
295,820

Losses and LAE incurred related to current accident year..............................
Losses and LAE incurred related to prior accident years.................................
Total incurred (1).......................................................................................................

364,548
16,202
380,750

105,734
(55,917)
49,817

Losses and LAE paid related to current accident year.....................................
Losses and LAE paid related to prior accident years........................................
Total paid (1).............................................................................................................

(1,103)
(58,087)
(59,190)

(1,871)
(110,301)
(112,172)

Net loss reserves, end of year..............................................................................
Run-off reserves......................................................................................................
Loss reserves, end of year ................................................................................ $

555,025
654
555,679 $

233,465
1,597
235,062

_______________
(1) Losses and LAE incurred and paid exclude losses related to our run-off business.

The liability for loss reserves represents our current best estimate; however, there may be future
adjustments to this estimate and related assumptions. Such adjustments, reflecting any variety of new
and adverse trends, could possibly be significant and result in future increases to reserves by amounts
that could be material to our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.
Losses incurred related to insured events of the current accident year relate to defaults that occurred
in that year and represent the estimated ultimate amount of losses to be paid on such defaults. Losses
incurred related to insured events of prior accident years represent the (favorable) or unfavorable
development of reserves as a result of actual claim rates and claim amounts being different than those we
estimated when originally establishing the reserves. Such estimates are based on our historical
experience which we believe is representative of expected future losses at the time of estimation. As a
result of the extended period of time that may exist between the reporting of a delinquency and the claim
payment, as well as changes in economic conditions and the real estate market, significant uncertainty
and variability exist on amounts ultimately paid.
In 2020, losses and LAE incurred of $364.5 million related to insured events of the current accident
year was primarily attributable to a significant increase in the number of new delinquencies driven mostly
by borrower forbearance as a result of COVID-19. When establishing loss reserves for borrower
forbearance, we assume a lower rate of delinquencies becoming active claims, which has the effect of
producing a lower reserve compared to delinquencies that are not in forbearance. Historical experience
with localized natural disasters, such as hurricanes, indicates a higher cure rate for borrowers in
forbearance. As COVID-19 is an ongoing health crisis, unlike a hurricane that occurs at a point in time
with the rebuild starting soon afterward, our prior hurricane experience was one consideration, among
many, in the establishment of loss reserves. Loss reserves recorded on these new delinquencies have a
high degree of estimation due to the level of uncertainty regarding whether delinquencies in forbearance
will ultimately cure or result in claim payments.
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During 2020, we experienced unfavorable reserve development of $16.2 million in incurred losses
attributable to prior years, primarily from higher expected claim rates due to economic conditions
occurring in the COVID-19 environment. Included within this increase to incurred losses attributable to
prior years, we recorded $28.4 million in unfavorable reserves adjustments, primarily associated with
higher expected, future claim rates, partially offset by a $12.2 million decrease, primarily due to higher
than expected delinquency cures.
During 2019, we experienced favorable reserve development of $55.9 million in incurred losses
attributable to prior years, primarily from lower actual and expected claim rates due to improvements in
the overall housing market. Included within these reductions to incurred losses attributable to prior years,
we recorded $22.7 million favorable reserves adjustments in 2019, primarily associated with lower
expected claim rates. The remaining reduction of $33.2 million in 2019 was primarily the result of higher
than expected delinquency cures.
The following table sets forth information about incurred claims, as well as cumulative number of
reported delinquencies and the total of incurred-but-not-reported (“IBNR”) liabilities plus expected
development on reported claims included within the net incurred claims as of December 31, 2020. The
information about the incurred claims development for the years ended December 31, 2011 to 2019, is
presented as supplementary information.
(Amounts
in
thousands)

2020

Total IBNR
liabilities
including
expected
development
on reported
claims as of
December 31,
2020

938,816

$

Incurred claims and allocated loss adjustment expenses, net of reinsurance (2)
For the years ended December 31,

Accident
year (1)

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

Number of
reported
delinquencies (3)

Unaudited
2011.............

$909,973

$930,551

$912,975

$929,309

$937,647

$938,802

$939,275

$938,513

$938,232

104

69,314

2012.............

—

717,871

675,230

670,773

673,660

671,492

668,452

666,673

665,775

666,351

80

48,575

2013.............

—

—

475,120

407,106

391,523

386,794

383,366

382,231

380,949

381,546

103

34,412

2014.............

—

—

—

327,857

287,865

268,980

260,752

258,872

258,172

259,006

127

26,726

2015.............

—

—

—

—

235,251

208,149

186,077

180,923

179,650

179,599

230

21,724

2016.............

—

—

—

—

—

198,121

161,041

138,784

136,381

136,754

612

19,158

2017.............

—

—

—

—

—

—

170,713

120,568

101,755

105,079

1,204

19,497

2018.............

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

116,842

83,959

84,138

977

14,779

2019.............

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

105,734

111,089

300

15,710

364,547

19,073

38,863

2020.............
Total incurred ...........................................................................................................................................................................................

$

$ 3,226,925

$

22,810

_______________
(1) Represents the year in which first monthly mortgage payments have been missed by the borrower.
(2) Excludes incurred claims and allocated LAE related to run-off business.
(3) Represents reported and outstanding delinquencies less actual cures as of December 31 for each respective
accident year.
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The following table sets forth paid claims development, net of reinsurance, for the year ended
December 31, 2020, and a reconciliation to our total loss reserves as of December 31, 2020. The
information about paid claims development for the years ended December 31, 2011 to 2019, is presented
as supplementary information.
(Amounts in
thousands)

Cumulative paid claims and allocated claim adjustment expenses, net of reinsurance (2)
For the years ended December 31,

Accident year (1)

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

Unaudited
2011.......................................

65,370

$ 496,623

$ 721,879

$ 815,610

$ 874,509

$ 906,028

$ 926,518

$ 934,632

$ 937,397

$ 938,517

2012.......................................

$

—

92,445

390,527

532,768

601,530

634,301

650,031

658,438

661,974

663,088

2013.......................................

—

—

44,334

202,095

297,029

340,031

361,973

372,374

375,243

376,138

2014.......................................

—

—

—

21,494

126,404

195,461

232,502

246,963

252,549

254,218

2015.......................................

—

—

—

—

12,688

84,706

145,362

167,458

172,825

174,561

2016.......................................

—

—

—

—

—

9,593

63,585

109,793

123,800

126,893

2017.......................................

—

—

—

—

—

—

5,733

45,879

77,297

87,272

2018.......................................

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

3,134

31,625

48,183

2019.......................................

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

1,871

17,595

Total paid ......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................

$ 2,687,569

Total incurred..................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................

$ 3,226,925

Total paid........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................

2,687,569

All outstanding liabilities before 2011, net of reinsurance.......................................................................................................................................................................................

15,669

2020.......................................

1,104

Run-off reserves............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................

654

Total loss reserves .....................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................

$ 555,679

_______________
(1) Represents the year in which first monthly mortgage payments have been missed by the borrower.
(2) Excludes cumulative paid claims and allocated claim adjustment expenses related to run-off business.

The following table sets forth our average payout of incurred claims by age as of December 31, 2020:
Average annual percentage payout of incurred claims, net of reinsurance, by age (unaudited) (1)

Years

1

Percentage of payout....

2

3

4

6.6 % 37.6 % 26.8 % 11.1 %

5
4.6 %

6
2.3 %

7
1.2 %

8
0.5 %

9
0.2 %

10
0.1 %

_______________
(1) Excludes run-off business.

(6)

Reinsurance

We reinsure a portion of our policy risks to other companies in order to reduce our ultimate losses,
diversify our exposures and comply with regulatory requirements. We also assume certain policy risks
written by other companies.
Reinsurance does not relieve us from our obligations to policyholders. In the event that the reinsurers
are unable to meet their obligations, we remain liable for the reinsured claims. We monitor both the
financial condition of individual reinsurers and risk concentrations arising from similar geographic regions,
activities and economic characteristics of reinsurers to lessen the risk of default by such reinsurers.
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The following table sets forth the effects of reinsurance on premiums written and earned for the years
ended December 31:
(Amounts in thousands)

Net premiums written:
Direct....................................................................................................................
Assumed..............................................................................................................
Ceded...................................................................................................................
Net premiums written .........................................................................................
Net premiums earned:
Direct....................................................................................................................
Assumed..............................................................................................................
Ceded...................................................................................................................
Net premiums earned .........................................................................................

2020

2019

943,504 $
432
(49,083)
894,853 $

840,086
625
(22,065)
818,646

$ 1,020,016 $
432
(49,083)
$
971,365 $

878,416
625
(22,065)
856,976

$

$

The difference of $76.5 million between written premiums of $894.9 million and earned premiums of
$971.4 million represents the decrease in unearned premiums for the year ended December 31, 2020.
The decrease in unearned premiums was mainly the result of an increase in policy cancellations in our
single premium mortgage insurance product driven by low interest rates and higher mortgage refinancing
which resulted in lower persistency in 2020.
Insurance-linked notes excess of loss reinsurance treaties
On October 22, 2020, we obtained $349.6 million of excess of loss reinsurance coverage from
Triangle Re 2020-1 on a portfolio of existing mortgage insurance policies written from January 2020
through August 2020. In connection with entering into the reinsurance agreement with Triangle Re
2020-1, we concluded that the risk transfer requirements for reinsurance accounting were met as Triangle
Re 2020-1 is assuming significant insurance risk and a reasonable possibility of significant loss. For the
reinsurance coverage, we retain the first layer of aggregate losses up to $521.8 million. Triangle Re
2020-1 provides 67.0% reinsurance coverage for losses above our retained first layer up to
$349.6 million.
On November 25, 2019, we obtained $302.8 million of excess of loss reinsurance coverage with
Triangle Re 2019-1, on a portfolio of existing mortgage insurance policies written from January 2019
through September 2019. In connection with entering into the reinsurance agreement with Triangle Re
2019-1, we concluded that the risk transfer requirements for reinsurance accounting were met as Triangle
Re 2019-1 is assuming significant insurance risk and a reasonable possibility of significant loss. For the
reinsurance coverage, we retain the first layer of aggregate losses up to $237.7 million. Triangle Re
2019-1 provides 63.7% reinsurance coverage for losses above our retained first layer up to
$302.8 million.
Other excess of loss reinsurance treaties
Effective April 1, 2020, we executed an excess of loss reinsurance transaction with a panel of
reinsurers covering a portion of the loss tier on subject loans written between book years 2009 and 2019
to help mitigate higher levels of delinquencies as a result of COVID-19.
Effective January 1, 2020, we executed an excess of loss reinsurance transaction with a panel of
reinsurers covering a portion of the loss tier on the then current and expected new insurance written for
the 2020 book year. We also entered into excess of loss reinsurance agreements with other external
panels of reinsurers covering our 2016 through 2019 books of business.
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(7)

Borrowings
The following table sets forth long-term borrowings as of December 31:

(Amounts in thousands)

2020

6.5% Senior Notes, due 2025............................................................................... $
Deferred borrowing charges..................................................................................
Total.......................................................................................................................... $

750,000 $
(11,838)
738,162 $

2019

—
—
—

On August 21, 2020, we issued $750 million in aggregate principal amount of 6.5% senior notes due
in 2025. We incurred $12.6 million of borrowing costs that were deferred and were netted against the
principal amount of the notes. Interest on the notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on February 15
and August 15 of each year, commencing on February 15, 2021. These notes mature on August 15,
2025. We may redeem the notes in whole or in part at any time prior to February 15, 2025, at our option
by paying a make-whole premium plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. At any time on or after
February 15, 2025, we may redeem the notes in whole or in part at our option at 100% of the principal
amount plus accrued and unpaid interest. The notes contain customary events of default which, subject to
certain notice and cure conditions, can result in the acceleration of the principal and accrued interest on
the outstanding notes if we breach the terms of the indenture.
We committed to retain $300 million of the net proceeds from the issuance of these notes that can be
drawn down exclusively for our debt service or to contribute to GMICO to meet its regulatory capital
needs.
(8)

Income taxes

Income before income taxes and change in fair value of unconsolidated affiliate of $472.4 million and
$718.2 million in 2020 and 2019, respectively, was domestic.
The total provision for income taxes was as follows for the years ended December 31:
(Amounts in thousands)

2020

2019

Current federal income taxes................................................................................ $
Deferred federal income taxes..............................................................................
Total federal income taxes ................................................................................
Current state income taxes...................................................................................
Deferred state income taxes.................................................................................
Total state income taxes ....................................................................................
Total provision for income taxes ..................................................................... $

89,940 $
9,619
99,559
924
1,514
2,438
101,997 $

152,748
(562)
152,186
294
3,352
3,646
155,832

We had current income taxes receivable of $5.4 million and $41.1 million as of December 31, 2020
and 2019.
We paid federal taxes of $55.4 million and state taxes of $1.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020, and paid federal taxes of $166.2 million and state taxes of $0.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2019.
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The reconciliation of the federal statutory tax rate to the effective income tax rate was as follows for
the years ended December 31:
2020

Statutory U.S. federal income tax rate.................................................................
Increase (reduction) in rate resulting from:
State income tax, net of federal income tax effect............................................
Other, net (1)...........................................................................................................
Effective rate ...........................................................................................................

2019

21.0 %

21.0 %

0.4
0.2
21.6 %

0.4
0.3
21.7 %

_______________
(1) “Other, net” is comprised primarily of prior year true-ups.

The components of the deferred income taxes were as follows as of December 31:
(Amounts in thousands)

2020

Assets:
Accrued commissions and general expenses.................................................... $
Net operating loss carry forwards.........................................................................
Capital loss carry forwards....................................................................................
Unearned premium and loss reserves.................................................................
Other.........................................................................................................................
State income taxes.................................................................................................
Gross deferred income tax assets.......................................................................
Valuation allowance................................................................................................
Total deferred income tax assets ....................................................................
Liabilities:
Deferred acquisition costs.....................................................................................
Net unrealized gains on investment securities...................................................
Investments..............................................................................................................
Other.........................................................................................................................
Total deferred income tax liabilities ...............................................................
Net deferred income tax asset (liability) ........................................................ $

2019

6,813 $
850
—
36,917
271
7,166
52,017
(6,443)
45,574

5,254
2,021
10,720
35,280
—
7,922
61,197
(6,104)
55,093

6,042
56,302
17,937
2,104
82,385
(36,811) $

6,347
25,340
17,409
3,026
52,122
2,971

The above valuation allowance of $6.4 million and $6.1 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively, related to state deferred tax assets. The state deferred tax assets related primarily to the
future deductions associated with non-insurance and insurance net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards.
U.S. federal NOL carryforwards amounted to $4.0 million as of December 31, 2020, and, if unused,
will expire beginning in 2032. The benefits of the NOL carryforwards have been recognized in our
consolidated financial statements.
Our ability to realize our total deferred income tax assets of $45.6 million as of December 31, 2020,
which includes deferred tax assets related to NOL carryforwards, is primarily dependent upon generating
sufficient taxable income in future years. Management has concluded that there is sufficient positive
evidence to support the expected realization of the net operating losses. This positive evidence includes
the fact that: (i) We are currently in a cumulative three-year income position; (ii) Our U.S. operating
forecasts are profitable; and (iii) We are able to generate capital gains if needed. After consideration of all
available evidence, we have concluded that it is more likely than not that our deferred tax assets, with the
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exception of state deferred tax assets for which a valuation allowance has been established, will be
realized. If our actual results do not validate the current projections of pre-tax income, we may be required
to record an additional valuation allowance which could have a material impact on our consolidated
financial statements in future periods.
The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits was $0 as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.
We recognize accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as components of
the provision for income taxes. We have recorded $0 of benefits related to interest and penalties for 2020
and 2019.
As previously discussed, we have elected to participate in the Genworth consolidated return. All
Genworth companies domesticated in the United States are included in the Genworth consolidated return
as allowed by the tax law and regulations. We have a tax sharing agreement in place and all
intercompany balances related to this agreement are settled at least annually. With possible exceptions,
we are no longer subject to U.S. federal tax examinations for years through 2016. Any exposure with
respect to these pre-2017 years has been sufficiently recorded in the financial statements. Potential state
and local examinations for those years are generally restricted to results that are based on closed U.S.
federal examinations.
We are part of a tax allocation agreement (together with amendments to the tax allocation agreement,
the “TAA”) between Genworth and certain of our subsidiaries. The TAA was approved by state insurance
regulators and our Board of Directors. The tax allocation methodology is based on the separate return
liabilities with offsets for losses and credits utilized to reduce the current consolidated tax liability as
allowed by applicable law and regulation. Our policy is to settle intercompany tax balances quarterly, with
a final settlement after filing of Genworth’s federal consolidated U.S. corporate income tax return.
Additionally, Genworth Mortgage Insurance Corporation, Genworth Mortgage Reinsurance
Corporation, Genworth Mortgage Insurance Corporation of North Carolina and Genworth Financial
Assurance Corporation (collectively, the “MI Group”), is party to a supplemental tax sharing agreement
that allows them to accelerate the utilization of benefits as if they filed a stand-alone MI Group federal
income tax return, even if those benefits would not have been utilized in the consolidated federal return
(“deemed used losses”). If any deemed used losses are subsequently actually used in a consolidated
return, the members of the MI Group which receive the benefit for such deemed used losses will not
receive a second benefit for such losses. Also, if any member of the MI Group receives benefit for any
deemed used losses and leaves the consolidated group before such deemed used losses are actually
used in a consolidated return, such member will repay such benefit received.
The TAA prevents any allocation of tax to a separate company that is greater than the tax incurred on
a separate company basis, subject to consolidated loss carry-forward adjustments. The total tax refund
allocated to the MI Group, therefore, may exceed the consolidated tax refund received.
Separate Return Method
If during the year ended December 31, 2020, we had computed taxes using the separate return
method, the unaudited pro forma provision for income taxes would remain unchanged.
(9)

Employee benefits

As a consolidated company within Genworth, our employees are generally provided a number of
Genworth employee benefits. Genworth, as sponsor of the plans described below (collectively, “Shared
Plans”), is ultimately responsible for maintenance of these plans in compliance with applicable laws. Our
obligation results from an allocation of our share of expenses from Genworth’s plans based on benefits
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eligible earnings. Benefits eligible earnings includes base pay, overtime, annual incentives and sales
commissions.
We account for such Shared Plans as multiemployer benefit plans. Accordingly, we do not record an
asset or liability to recognize the funded status of the Shared Plans. We recognize a liability only for any
required contributions to the Shared Plans that are accrued and unpaid at the balance sheet date, which
is included within other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.
Pension and Retiree Health and Life Insurance Benefit Plans
Most of our employees are enrolled in a qualified defined contribution pension plan sponsored by
Genworth. The plan is 100% funded by Genworth. Genworth makes annual contributions to each
employee’s pension plan account based on the employee’s age, service and eligible pay. Employees are
vested in the plan after three years of service. Expenses associated with the qualified defined contribution
pension plan were $2.7 million in both 2020 and 2019.
In addition, certain employees also participate in non-qualified defined contribution plans and qualified
and non-qualified defined benefit pension plans sponsored by Genworth. Expenses associated with nonqualified defined contribution plans were $0.8 million and $0.6 million for 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Expenses allocated to us for qualified and non-qualified defined benefit pension plans were $0.3 million in
both 2020 and 2019.
Genworth provides retiree health benefits to our employees hired prior to January 1, 2005, who meet
certain service requirements. Under this plan, retirees over 65 years of age receive a subsidy towards the
purchase of a Medigap policy, and retirees under 65 years of age receive medical benefits similar to our
employees’ medical benefits. In December 2009, Genworth announced that eligibility for retiree medical
benefits will be limited to associates who were within 10 years of retirement eligibility as of January 1,
2010. Genworth also provides retiree life and long-term care insurance benefits. Expenses allocated to us
for retiree health and life insurance benefits plans were $0.5 million and $0.6 million for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Savings Plans
Our employees participate in qualified and non-qualified defined contribution savings plans that allow
employees to contribute a portion of their pay to the plan on a pre-tax basis. Genworth makes matching
contributions equal to 100% of the first 4% of pay deferred by an employee and 50% of the next 2% of
pay deferred by an employee so that our matching contribution does not exceed 5% of an employee’s
pay. Employees do not vest immediately in Genworth matching contributions but fully vest in the matching
contributions after two complete years of service. One option available to employees in the defined
contribution savings plan is the ClearCourse® variable annuity option offered by certain of Genworth’s life
insurance subsidiaries.
Prior to January 2021, employees also had the option of purchasing a fund which invests primarily in
Genworth stock as part of the defined contribution savings plan. Several years ago, Genworth had
contracted with Newport Trust Company (“Newport”) to act as an independent fiduciary and investment
manager with respect to Genworth stock in the defined contribution savings plan. The independent
fiduciary’s role is to act on behalf of a plan to protect the interests of participants and beneficiaries. As
part of its on-going process, on January 8, 2021, Newport froze the fund due to uncertainty around the
feasibility of Genworth executing on its strategic plans. Accordingly, future investments or transfers into
the fund are no longer permitted.
Our cost associated with these plans was $3.2 million and $3.1 million for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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Health and Welfare Benefits for Active Employees
We provide health and welfare benefits to our employees, including health, life, disability dental and
long-term care insurance, among others. Our long-term care insurance is provided through Genworth’s
long-term care insurance products.
(10)

Share based compensation

As of December 31, 2020, all share-based awards held by our employees, including stock options,
were granted under Genworth’s incentive plans described below. We have not issued any share-based
awards.
Prior to May 2012, share-based awards were granted to employees and directors, including stock
options, stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) and restricted stock units (“RSUs”) under the 2004 Genworth
Financial, Inc. Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2004 Omnibus Incentive Plan”). In May 2012, the 2012
Genworth Financial, Inc. Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2012 Omnibus Incentive Plan”) was approved by
Genworth’s stockholders. Under the 2012 Omnibus Incentive Plan, Genworth was authorized to grant
16 million equity awards, plus a number of additional shares not to exceed 25 million underlying awards
outstanding under the 2004 Omnibus Incentive Plan. In December 2018, the 2018 Genworth Financial,
Inc. Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2018 Omnibus Incentive Plan”) was approved by Genworth’s
stockholders. Under the 2018 Omnibus Incentive Plan, Genworth is authorized to grant 25 million equity
awards, plus a number of additional shares not to exceed 20 million underlying awards outstanding under
the prior Plans. The 2004 Omnibus Incentive Plan together with the 2012 Omnibus Incentive Plan and the
2018 Omnibus Incentive Plan are referred to collectively as the “Omnibus Incentive Plans.”
Share-based compensation expense under the Omnibus Incentive Plans was $4.4 million and
$2.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and was included within
acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals in the consolidated statements of income. For
awards issued prior to January 1, 2006, share-based compensation expense was recognized on a graded
vesting attribution method over the awards’ respective vesting schedule. For awards issued after
January 1, 2006, share-based compensation expense was recognized evenly on a straight-line attribution
method over the awards’ respective vesting period.
For purposes of determining the fair value of share-based payment awards on the date of grant,
Genworth has historically used the Black-Scholes Model. However, no SARs or stock options were
granted during 2020 and 2019, and therefore the Black-Scholes Model was not used in those respective
years. The Black-Scholes Model requires the input of certain assumptions that involve judgment.
Circumstances may change, and additional data may become available over time, which could result in
changes to these assumptions and methodologies.
During 2020 and 2019, Genworth issued RSUs to our employees with average restriction periods of
three years, with a fair value of $3.53 and $3.36, respectively, which were measured at the market price
of a share of Genworth’s Class A Common Stock on the grant date.
During 2020 and 2019, Genworth granted performance stock units (“PSUs”) to our employees with a
fair value of $3.03 and $4.61, respectively. The PSUs were granted at market price as of the approval
date by Genworth’s Board of Directors. PSUs may be earned over a three-year period based upon the
achievement of certain performance goals.
The PSUs granted in 2020 have a three-year measurement period starting on January 1, 2020, going
through December 31, 2022. The performance metrics are based on adjusted operating income of
Genworth’s U.S. Mortgage Insurance and Australia Mortgage Insurance segments and gross incremental
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annual premiums in Genworth’s long-term care insurance business, defined as approved weightedaverage premium rate increases multiplied by the annualized in-force premiums.
The PSUs granted in 2019 have a three-year measurement period starting on January 1, 2019 going
through December 31, 2021. The performance metric is based on consolidated Genworth’s adjusted
operating income.
For all PSU awards granted, the compensation committee of Genworth’s Board of Directors
determines and approves no later than March 15, following the end of the three-year performance period
for each applicable performance period, the number of units earned and vested for each distinct
performance period.
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we recorded less than $1.0 million of expense in
each year associated with our PSUs.
In 2020 and 2019, Genworth granted cash awards with a fair value of $1.00. Genworth has
performance-based cash awards, which vest and payout after three years. Genworth also has time-based
cash awards, which vest over three years, with a third of the payout occurring per year as determined by
the vesting period, beginning on the first anniversary of the grant date. The following table summarizes
cash award activity as of December 31, 2020 and 2019:
Performancebased
cash awards

(Number of awards in thousands)

Balance as of January 1, 2019 .........................................................................
Granted.....................................................................................................................
Vested.......................................................................................................................
Forfeited...................................................................................................................
Balance as of January 1, 2020 .........................................................................
Granted.....................................................................................................................
Performance adjustment........................................................................................
Vested.......................................................................................................................
Forfeited...................................................................................................................
Balance as of December 31, 2020 ...................................................................

Time-based
cash awards

2,597
489
(1,443)
(190)
1,453
—
261
(1,178)
(6)
530

4,733
3,439
(2,232)
(370)
5,570
3,607
—
(2,340)
(214)
6,623

The following table summarizes stock option activity as of December 31, 2020 and 2019:
Shares subject
to option

(Shares in thousands)

Balance as of January 1, 2019 .........................................................................
Granted.....................................................................................................................
Exercised..................................................................................................................
Expired and forfeited..............................................................................................
Balance as of January 1, 2020 .........................................................................
Granted.....................................................................................................................
Exercised..................................................................................................................
Expired and forfeited..............................................................................................
Balance as of December 31, 2020 ...................................................................
Exercisable as of December 31, 2020 ............................................................

40

103
—
(25)
—
78
—
—
(78)
—
—

Weightedaverage
exercise price

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

11.36
—
2.46
—
14.18
—
—
14.18
—
—
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There were no stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2020.
The following table summarizes the status of other equity-based awards as of December 31, 2020
and 2019:
RSUs

Awards in thousands

Balance as of January 1, 2019 .............
Granted........................................................
Exercised.....................................................
Terminated..................................................
Balance as of January 1, 2020 .............
Granted........................................................
Exercised.....................................................
Terminated..................................................
Balance as of December 31, 2020 .......

Number
of
awards

94
135
(85)
(9)
135
134
(45)
—
224

PSUs

Weightedaverage
grant date
fair value

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

7.38
3.36
7.38
7.38
3.36
3.53
3.36
—
3.46

Number
of
awards

—
135
—
—
135
134
—
—
269

SARs

Weightedaverage
grant date
fair value

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

—
4.61
—
—
4.61
3.03
—
—
3.82

Number
of
awards

666
—
—
(24)
642
—
—
(97)
545

Weightedaverage
grant date
fair value

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

2.76
—
—
2.76
2.76
—
—
2.77
2.76

As of December 31, 2020, and 2019, total unrecognized share-based compensation expense related
to non-vested awards not yet recognized was $1.4 million and $0.9 million, respectively. This expense is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately two years and less than one
year, respectively.
In 2020 and 2019, there was no cash received from stock options exercised in each year. New
shares were issued to settle all exercised awards. The actual tax benefit realized for the tax deductions
from the exercise of share-based awards was $0.8 million and $0.9 million as of December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively.
(11)

Related party transactions
Related Party Transactions

We have various agreements with Genworth that provide for reimbursement to and from Genworth of
certain administrative and operating expenses that include, but are not limited to, information technology
services and administrative services (such as finance, human resources, employee benefit administration
and legal). These agreements provide for an allocation of corporate expenses to all Genworth businesses
or subsidiaries. We incurred costs for these services of $50.3 million and $37.0 million in 2020 and 2019,
respectively.
Our investment portfolio is managed by Genworth. Under the terms of the investment management
agreement we are charged a fee by Genworth. All fees paid to Genworth are charged to investment
expense and are included in net investment income in the consolidated statements of income. The total
investment expenses paid to Genworth were $5.2 million and $4.1 million for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Our employees participate in certain benefit plans sponsored by Genworth and certain share-based
compensation plans that utilize shares of Genworth common stock and other incentive plans. See Note 9
and Note 10 for further information.
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We provide certain information technology and administrative services (such as facilities and
maintenance) to Genworth. We charged Genworth $1.3 million and $1.5 million for these services in 2020
and 2019, respectively.
We previously held an investment in common shares of Genworth Canada. Genworth Canada was
consolidated within Genworth until its sale on December 12, 2019. We received dividends from Genworth
Canada of $41.9 million in 2019, which is included within change in fair value of unconsolidated affiliate,
net of tax in the consolidated statements of income.
We paid cash dividends of $437.4 million and $250.0 million to Genworth in 2020 and 2019,
respectively. The amount and timing of future dividends will depend on the economic recovery from
COVID-19, among other factors. Refer to Note 13 for further details on dividend restrictions.
We have a tax sharing agreement in place with Genworth, such that we participate in a single U.S.
consolidated income tax return filing. All intercompany balances related to this agreement are settled at
least annually. Refer to Note 8 for further details.
The consolidated financial statements include the following amounts due to and from Genworth
relating to recurring service and expense agreements as of December 31:
(Amounts in thousands)

2020

Amounts payable to Genworth............................................................................. $
Amounts receivable from Genworth..................................................................... $
(12)

2019

12,371 $
371 $

8,119
997

Commitments and contingencies
Leases

We lease certain office facilities, equipment and automobiles under operating leases. Operating lease
expenses were approximately $4.0 million and $4.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively. See Note 2 for additional information related to operating leases. The following table
presents future minimum rent payments under operating leases as of December 31, 2020:
Future minimum
payments under
operating leases

(Amounts in thousands)

2021.................................................................................................................................................. $
2022..................................................................................................................................................
2023..................................................................................................................................................
2024..................................................................................................................................................
2025..................................................................................................................................................
2026 and thereafter........................................................................................................................
Total lease payments.....................................................................................................................
Imputed interest..............................................................................................................................
Operating lease liabilities.............................................................................................................. $

3,518
3,632
3,601
3,682
3,765
7,785
25,983
(5,549)
20,434

Litigation and Regulatory Matters
We face the risk of litigation and regulatory investigations and actions in the ordinary course of
operating our business and are also subject to litigation arising out of our general business activities, such
as our contractual and employment relationships. Past legal and regulatory actions include proceedings
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specific to us and others generally applicable to business practices in the mortgage insurance industry in
which we operate. We have been, or may become, subject to lawsuits or regulatory investigations
alleging, among other things, issues relating to violations of the Real Estate Settlement and Procedures
Act of 1974 (“RESPA”) or related state anti-inducement laws, mortgage insurance policy rescissions and
curtailments, pricing structures and general business practices, and breaching duties related to the
privacy and information security of customer information. Plaintiffs in lawsuits against us may seek very
large or indeterminate amounts which may remain unknown for substantial periods of time. In addition, we
are also subject to various regulatory inquiries, such as information requests, subpoenas, books and
record examinations and market conduct and financial examinations from state and federal regulators and
other authorities. A substantial legal liability or a significant regulatory action against us could have an
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Moreover, even if we
ultimately prevail in the litigation, regulatory action or investigation, we could suffer significant reputational
harm, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
(13)

Statutory information
Statutory Accounting Principles

We prepare our statutory financial statements in accordance with the accounting practices required or
permitted, if applicable, by the insurance departments of the respective states of domicile of our insurance
subsidiaries. These statements of statutory accounting principles (“SSAP”) are established by a variety of
National Association of Insurance Commissioners ("NAIC") publications, as well as state laws, regulations
and general administrative rules. In addition, insurance departments have the right to permit other specific
practices that may deviate from prescribed practices. As of December 31, 2020, we did not have any
prescribed or permitted statutory accounting practices that resulted in reported statutory surplus or risk-tocapital ratios being different from what would have been reported had NAIC statutory accounting
practices been followed.
The key areas where SSAP financial statements differ from financial statements presented on a U.S.
GAAP basis include:
(a) Under SSAP, mortgage insurance companies are required each year to establish a special
contingency reserve in their statutory financial statements to provide for losses in the event of
significant economic declines. Annual additions to the statutory contingency reserve must be at
least 50% of net earned premiums earned in such year. Such amount must be maintained in the
contingency reserve for 10 years, after which time it is released to unassigned surplus. Prior to 10
years, the contingency reserve may be reduced with regulatory approval to the extent that losses
in any calendar year exceed 35% of earned premiums for such year.
(b) Under SSAP, insurance policy acquisition costs are charged against operations in the year
incurred. Under U.S. GAAP, such costs are deferred and amortized.
(c) Under SSAP, income tax expense is calculated on the basis of amounts currently payable.
Generally, deferred tax assets are recognized under both SSAP and U.S. GAAP when it is more
likely than not that the deferred tax asset will be realized. However, SSAP standards impose
additional admissibility requirements whereby deferred tax assets are only recognized to the
extent they are expected to be recovered within a one- to three-year period subject to a capital
and surplus limitation. Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized as a direct
benefit or charge to unassigned surplus, whereas under U.S. GAAP changes in deferred tax
assets and liabilities, except for changes in unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale
securities, are recorded as a component of income tax expense.
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(d) Under SSAP, investment grade fixed-maturity investments are valued at amortized cost and
below-investment grade securities are carried at the lower of amortized cost or market value.
Under U.S. GAAP, those investments that we do not have the ability or intent to hold to maturity
are considered to be either available for sale or trading securities and are recorded at fair value,
with the unrealized gain or loss recognized, net of tax, as an increase or decrease to equity or
current operations, as applicable.
(e) Under SSAP, certain assets, designated as non-admitted assets, are charged directly against
statutory surplus. Such assets are reflected in our U.S. GAAP financial statements.
The table below presents statutory net income, statutory policyholders’ surplus and contingency
reserve for the combined insurance subsidiaries as of and for the years ended December 31:
(Amounts in thousands)

2020

2019

Statutory net income............................................................................................... $
404,315 $
847,384
Statutory policyholders’ surplus............................................................................ $ 1,555,035 $ 1,632,518
Contingency reserve............................................................................................... $ 2,518,194 $ 2,031,563
Statutory Capital Requirements
Mortgage insurers are not subject to the NAIC’s risk-based capital (“RBC”) requirements, but certain
states and other regulators impose another form of capital requirement on mortgage insurers requiring
maintenance of a risk-to-capital ratio not to exceed 25:1. Our insurance subsidiaries are domiciled in
North Carolina. Fifteen other states maintain similar risk-to-capital requirements. As of
December 31, 2020 and 2019, the risk-to-capital ratio for our combined insurance subsidiaries under the
current regulatory framework as established under North Carolina law and enforced by the North Carolina
Department of Insurance (“NCDOI”) was approximately 12.1:1 and 12.2:1, respectively. Each of our
insurance subsidiaries met its respective capital requirement as of December 31, 2020.
PMIERs Regulatory Requirements
Mortgage insurers must meet the private mortgage insurer eligibility requirements (“PMIERs”) as set
forth by each GSE in order to remain eligible to insure loans that are purchased by the GSEs. Each
approved mortgage insurer is required to provide the GSEs with an annual certification and a quarterly
report as to its compliance with PMIERs.
On June 29, 2020, the GSEs issued guidance amending PMIERs further, in light of COVID-19,
effective June 30, 2020 (the “PMIERs Amendment”). In September 2020, the GSEs issued an amended
and restated version of the PMIERs Amendment that clarifies Section I (Risk-Based Required Asset
Amount Factors), which became effective retroactively on June 30, 2020, and includes a new Section V
(Delinquency Reporting), which became effective on December 31, 2020. On December 4, 2020, the
GSEs issued a revised and restated version of the PMIERs Amendment that revised and replaced the
version issued in September 2020. The December 4, 2020 version extended the application of reduced
PMIERs capital factors to each non-performing loan that has an initial missed monthly payment occurring
on or after March 1, 2020 and prior to April 1, 2021 and capital preservation period from March 31, 2021
to June 30, 2021.
The PMIERs include financial requirements for mortgage insurers under which a mortgage insurer’s
“Available Assets” (generally only the most liquid assets of an insurer) must meet or exceed “Minimum
Required Assets” (which are based on an insurer’s risk-in-force (“RIF”) and are calculated from tables of
factors with several risk dimensions and are subject to a floor amount) and otherwise generally establish
when a mortgage insurer is qualified to issue coverage that will be acceptable to the respective GSE for
acquisition of high loan-to-value (“LTV”) mortgages. The GSEs may amend or waive PMIERs at their
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discretion, impose additional conditions or restrictions on us and also have broad discretion to interpret
PMIERs, which could impact the calculation of our “Available Assets” and/or “Minimum Required Assets.”
The amount of capital that GMICO may be required in the future to maintain the “Minimum Required
Assets” as defined in PMIERs, and operate our business is dependent upon, among other things: (i) the
way PMIERs are applied and interpreted by the GSEs and the Federal Housing Finance Agency
(“FHFA”) as and after they are implemented; (ii) the future performance of the housing market, including
as a result of COVID-19 and the length and speed of recovery; (iii) our generation of earnings in our
business, “Available Assets” and “Minimum Required Assets,” reducing RIF and reducing delinquencies
as anticipated, and writing anticipated amounts and types of new mortgage insurance business; and
(iv) our overall financial performance, capital and liquidity levels. Depending on our actual experience, the
amount of capital required under PMIERs may be higher than currently anticipated. In the absence of a
premium increase for new business, if we hold more capital relative to insured loans, our returns will be
lower. We may be unable to increase premium rates for various reasons, principally due to competition.
Our inability, on the other hand, to increase the capital as required in the anticipated timeframes and on
the anticipated terms, and to realize the anticipated benefits, could have a material adverse impact on our
business, results of operations and financial condition. More particularly, our ability to continue to meet
the PMIERs financial requirements and maintain a prudent amount of capital in excess of those
requirements, given the dynamic nature of asset valuations and requirement changes over time, is
dependent upon, among other things: (i) our ability to complete credit risk transfer (“CRT”) transactions on
our anticipated terms and timetable, which, as applicable, are subject to market conditions, third-party
approvals and other actions (including approval by the GSEs), and other factors that are outside of our
control and (ii) our ability to contribute holding company cash or other sources of capital to satisfy the
portion of the financial requirements that are not satisfied through these transactions.
The PMIERs Amendment implemented both permanent and temporary revisions to PMIERs. For
loans that became non-performing due to a COVID-19 hardship, PMIERs was temporarily amended with
respect to each non-performing loan that (i) has an initial missed monthly payment occurring on or after
March 1, 2020 and prior to April 1, 2021 or (ii) is subject to a forbearance plan granted in response to a
financial hardship related to COVID-19, the terms of which are materially consistent with terms of
forbearance plans offered by the GSEs. The risk-based required asset amount factor for the nonperforming loan will be the greater of (a) the applicable risk-based required asset amount factor for a
performing loan were it not delinquent, and (b) the product of a 0.30 multiplier and the applicable riskbased required asset amount factor for a non-performing loan. In the case of (i) above, absent the loan
being subject to a forbearance plan described in (ii) above, the 0.30 multiplier will be applicable for no
longer than three calendar months beginning with the month in which the loan became a non-performing
loan due to having missed two monthly payments. Loans subject to a forbearance plan described in
(ii) above include those that are either in a repayment plan or loan modification trial period following the
forbearance plan unless reported to the approved insurer that the loan is no longer in such forbearance
plan, repayment plan, or loan modification trial period. The PMIERs Amendment also imposes temporary
capital preservation provisions through June 30, 2021, that require an approved insurer to obtain prior
written GSE approval before paying any dividends, pledging or transferring assets to an affiliate or
entering into any new, or altering any existing, arrangements under tax sharing and intercompany
expense-sharing agreements, even if such insurer has a surplus of available assets. Therefore, the
PMIERs Amendment may restrict or prevent GMICO from paying us dividends.
The PMIERs Amendment additionally imposes permanent revisions to the risk-based required asset
amount factor for non-performing loans for properties located in future Federal Emergency Management
Agency (“FEMA”)-Declared Major Disaster Areas eligible for individual assistance.
Our assessment of PMIERs compliance is based on a number of factors, including our understanding
of the GSEs’ interpretation of the PMIERs financial requirements. The GSEs require our mortgage
insurance subsidiaries to maintain a maximum statutory RTC ratio of 18:1 or they reserve the right to
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reevaluate the amount of PMIERs credit for reinsurance and other CRT transactions available under
PMIERs indicated in their approval letters. Freddie Mac has also imposed additional requirements on our
option to commute these reinsurance agreements. Both GSEs reserved the right to periodically review the
reinsurance transactions for treatment under PMIERs. If we are unable to continue to meet the
requirements mandated by PMIERs, the GSE Restrictions (as defined herein) and any additional
restrictions imposed on us by the GSEs, whether because the GSEs amend them or the GSEs’
interpretation of the financial requirements requires us to hold amounts of capital that are higher than we
have planned or otherwise, we may not be eligible to write new insurance on loans acquired by the GSEs,
which would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
We have met all PMIERs reporting requirements as required by the GSEs. As of December 31, 2020,
we had available assets of $4,588 million against $3,359 million net required assets under PMIERs,
compared to available assets of $3,811 million against $2,754 million net required assets as of
December 31, 2019. The sufficiency above the published PMIERs financial requirements as of December
31, 2020, was $1,229 million, compared to $1,057 million above the published PMIERs requirements as
of December 31, 2019, resulting in a PMIERs sufficiency ratio of 137% and 138% as of December 31,
2020 and 2019, respectively, which in each case, was above the requirement imposed by the GSE
Restrictions that required us to maintain a PMIERs sufficiency ratio of 115% in 2020. In addition, our
PMIERs required assets as of December 31, 2020, benefited from the application of a 0.30 multiplier
applied to the risk-based required asset amount factor for certain non-performing loans. The application of
the 0.30 multiplier to all eligible delinquencies provided $1,046 million of benefit to our December 31,
2020 PMIERs required assets. Our CRT transactions provided an estimated aggregate of $936 million of
PMIERs capital credit as of December 31, 2020.
Dividend Restrictions
The majority of our investments are held by our regulated U.S. mortgage insurance subsidiaries
which may be limited in their ability to make dividends or distributions to a holding company in the future
due to restrictions related to their capital levels. Our U.S. mortgage insurance subsidiaries are required to
maintain minimum capital on a statutory basis, as well as pursuant to the PMIERs promulgated by the
GSEs. Moreover, even where such dividends or distributions would not cause capital to fall below the
minimum levels required by state insurance regulators and the GSEs, all proposed dividends or
distributions, regardless of amount and source, by our U.S. mortgage insurance subsidiaries are subject
to review and potential disapproval by the N.C. Commissioner of Insurance (the “Commissioner”). Within
that general regulatory right of review process, there are three (3) minor procedural variances depending
on (i) the amount of the dividend or distribution as well as (ii) the source thereof. As regards amount,
dividends and distributions may be classified as either “ordinary” or “extraordinary.” (1) The review
standard for an “ordinary” dividend or distribution is that notice must be given to the Commissioner 30
days in advance of the proposed payment date, during which period the Commissioner may disapprove
the proposed dividend or distribution. An “extraordinary dividend or distribution” is defined by statute as
one, which combined with all others made in the preceding 12 months, exceeds the greater of (i) 10% of
the insurer’s surplus as regards policyholders as of the preceding December 31, or (ii) net income,
excluding realized capital gains, for the 12-month period ending the preceding December 31. (2) The
review standard for an “extraordinary” dividend or distribution is effectively the same as that for an
“ordinary” dividend or distribution that the insurer must give 30 days’ notice and the Commissioner has
not disapproved the proposal in that 30-day period. For both “ordinary” and “extraordinary” dividends, the
Commissioner has the option to affirmatively grant approval prior to the expiration of the 30-day notice
period. (3) Finally, as regards source of funds, the payment of any dividend or distribution from any
source other than unassigned surplus, regardless of the amount, requires prior written approval of the
Commissioner. In each of the three (3) instances, approval or non-disapproval of any dividend or
distribution is based upon the reasonableness of the insurer’s surplus in relation to its outstanding
liabilities and the adequacy of its surplus relative to its financial needs. Based on estimated statutory
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results as of December 31, 2020, in accordance with applicable dividend restrictions, our U.S. mortgage
insurance subsidiaries could pay dividends or distributions from unassigned surplus of approximately
$199.0 million in 2021 without obtaining prior regulatory approval, although notice of the intent to pay
must be provided to the Commissioner 30 days in advance thereof.
(14)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
The following table presents a roll-forward of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss):
Net unrealized
gains (losses)
on investments

(Amounts in thousands)

Balance January 1, 2019, net of tax ................................................................ $
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications..........................
Amounts reclassified (from) to other comprehensive income (loss)...............
Total other comprehensive income (loss)...........................................................
Balance January 1, 2020, net of tax ................................................................
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications..........................
Amounts reclassified (from) to other comprehensive income (loss)...............
Total other comprehensive income (loss)...........................................................
Balance December 31, 2020, net of tax .......................................................... $

(26,522) $
120,505
(552)
119,953
93,431
112,307
2,640
114,947
208,378 $

Total

(26,522)
120,505
(552)
119,953
93,431
112,307
2,640
114,947
208,378

The following table presents the effect of the reclassification of significant items out of accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) on the respective line items of the consolidated statements of income:
Amounts reclassified
from accumulated other
comprehensive income
(loss)
(Amounts in thousands)

Net unrealized gains (losses) on investments. $
Benefit (expense) for income taxes...................
(15)

2020

(3,342) $
702

2019

Affected line item in consolidated
statement of income

698 Net investment gains (losses)
(147) Provision for income taxes

Earnings per share

The basic earnings per share computation is based on the weighted average number of shares of
common stock outstanding. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we had no instruments
outstanding that would be dilutive to earnings per share.
The following table presents the computation of earnings per share for the years ended
December 31:
(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

2020

2019

Net income available to EHI common shareholders......................................... $
Weighted average common shares outstanding—basic and diluted.............
Net income per common share—basic and diluted ................................... $

370,421 $
162,840
2.27 $

677,628
162,840
4.16
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(16)

Subsequent events

On February 4, 2021, we executed an excess of loss reinsurance transaction with a panel of
reinsurers, which will provide up to $210.4 million of reinsurance coverage on a portion of current and
expected new insurance written for the 2021 book year, effective January 1, 2021.
On March 2, 2021, we obtained $495.0 million of excess of loss reinsurance coverage from Triangle
Re 2021-1 Ltd. (“Triangle Re 2021-1”) on a portfolio of existing seasoned mortgage insurance policies
written from January 2014 through December 2018 and from October 2019 through December 2019. In
connection with entering into the reinsurance agreement with Triangle Re 2021-1, we believe that the risk
transfer requirements for reinsurance accounting were met as Triangle Re 2021-1 is assuming significant
insurance risk and a reasonable possibility of significant loss. Triangle Re 2021-1 reinsurance coverage is
derived by applying a reinsurance cession percentage to the MI coverage for each loan to get to an
Aggregate Exposed Principal Balance (“AEPB”). This AEPB accounts for any existing reinsurance and
ensures we retain a minimum 5% vertical risk retention on each loan. For the reinsurance coverage, we
retain the first layer of aggregate losses up to $212.1 million. Triangle Re 2021-1 provides 100.0%
reinsurance coverage for losses above our retained first layer up to $495.0 million.
On April 16, 2021, we obtained $302.7 million of excess of loss reinsurance coverage from Triangle
Re 2021-2 Ltd. (“Triangle Re 2021-2”) on a portfolio of existing mortgage insurance policies written from
September 2020 through December 2020. In connection with entering into the reinsurance agreement
with Triangle Re 2021-2, we believe that the risk transfer requirements for reinsurance accounting were
met as Triangle Re 2021-2 is assuming significant insurance risk and a reasonable possibility of
significant loss. For the reinsurance coverage, we retain the first layer of aggregate losses up to $188.6
million. Triangle Re 2021-2 provides 76.0% reinsurance coverage for losses above our retained first layer
up to $302.7 million.
On May 3, 2021, we entered into a share exchange agreement with Genworth Holdings. See Note 1
for additional information regarding the share exchange.
We considered subsequent events through the date on which the financial statements were issued,
May 3, 2021.
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As of December 31, 2020, the amortized cost, fair value and carrying value of our invested assets
were as follows:
(Amounts in thousands)

Amortized cost

Fair value

Carrying value

U.S. government, agencies and GSEs.................................... $
134,215 $
138,224 $
138,224
State and political subdivisions.................................................
172,631
187,377
187,377
Non-U.S. government.................................................................
29,592
31,031
31,031
U.S. corporate..............................................................................
2,695,009
2,888,625
2,888,625
Non-U.S. corporate.....................................................................
578,295
607,669
607,669
Other asset-backed.....................................................................
1,172,174
1,193,670
1,193,670
Total ............................................................................................. $ 4,781,916 $ 5,046,596 $ 5,046,596
See Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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Balance Sheets
December 31,
(Amounts in thousands)

2020

Assets
Investments in subsidiaries...................................................................................
Cash and cash equivalents...................................................................................
Other assets.............................................................................................................
Total assets ...........................................................................................................
Liabilities and equity
Liabilities:
Other liabilities.........................................................................................................
Long-term borrowings............................................................................................
Total liabilities ......................................................................................................
Equity:
Common stock.........................................................................................................
Additional paid-in capital........................................................................................
Accumulated other comprehensive income (losses).........................................
Retained earnings...................................................................................................
Total equity ............................................................................................................
Total liabilities and equity .................................................................................

$ 4,333,551 $ 3,827,072
300,318
3
3,832
—
$ 4,637,701 $ 3,827,075

$

17,728 $
738,162
755,890

—
—
—

1,628
2,368,699
208,378
1,303,106
3,881,811
$ 4,637,701 $

1,628
2,361,978
93,431
1,370,038
3,827,075
3,827,075

See Notes to Schedule II
See Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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SCHEDULE II
ENACT HOLDINGS, INC.
(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)
Statements of Income
Years ended
December 31,
(Amounts in thousands)

2020

Revenues:
Net investment income........................................................................................... $
Total revenues.........................................................................................................
Expenses:
Acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals.......................................
Interest expense......................................................................................................
Total expenses........................................................................................................
Loss before income taxes and equity in income of subsidiaries ...........
Benefit for income taxes........................................................................................
Loss before equity in income of subsidiaries .............................................
Equity in income of subsidiaries...........................................................................
Net income ............................................................................................................. $

23 $
23

—
—

1
18,244
18,245
(18,222)
(3,831)
(14,391)
384,812
370,421 $

—
—
—
—
—
—
677,628
677,628

See Notes to Schedule II
See Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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SCHEDULE II
ENACT HOLDINGS, INC.
(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)
Statements of Comprehensive Income
Years ended
December 31,
(Amounts in thousands)

2020

2019

Net income............................................................................................................... $
Other comprehensive income, net of taxes:
Net unrealized gains on securities not other-than temporarily impaired...
Total comprehensive income ........................................................................... $

370,421 $

677,628

114,947
485,368 $

119,953
797,581

See Notes to Schedule II
See Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended
December 31,
(Amounts in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income...............................................................................................................
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Equity in income from subsidiaries..................................................................
Dividends from subsidiaries.............................................................................
Change in certain assets and liabilities:
Other assets........................................................................................................
Other liabilities....................................................................................................
Net cash provided by operating activities ....................................................
Cash flows from investing activities:
Net cash provided by investing activities .....................................................
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt..................................................
Dividends paid to Genworth..................................................................................
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ...................................
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents........................................................
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year...............................................
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ....................................................
Supplementary disclosure of cash flow information:
Non-cash capital contributions from Genworth..................................................
Non-cash capital contributions to subsidiaries...................................................

$

2020

2019

370,421 $

677,628

(384,812)
—

(677,628)
250,008

(3,832)
18,240
17

—
(8)
250,000

—

$

737,651
(437,353)
300,298
300,315
3
300,318 $

—
(250,000)
(250,000)
—
3
3

$
$

6,721 $
(6,721) $

5,755
(5,755)

See Notes to Schedule II
See Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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ENACT HOLDINGS, INC.
(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)
Notes to Schedule II
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
(1)

Organization and purpose

Enact Holdings, Inc. (“EHI”) has been a wholly owned subsidiary of Genworth since EHI’s
incorporation in Delaware in 2012. On May 3, 2021, EHI amended its certificate of incorporation to
change its name from Genworth Mortgage Holdings, Inc. Concurrently, we entered into a share exchange
agreement with Genworth Holdings, Inc. (“Genworth Holdings”), pursuant to which Genworth Holdings
exchanged the 100 shares of our common stock owned by it, representing all of our issued and
outstanding capital stock, for 162,840,000 newly-issued shares of common stock, par value $0.01, of EHI.
All of the share and per share information presented in the consolidated financial statements, notes to the
consolidated financial statements, and supplemental schedules to the financial statements has been
adjusted to reflect the share exchange on a retroactive basis for all periods and as of all dates presented.
On November 29, 2019, Genworth completed a holding company reorganization whereby Genworth
contributed 100% of the issued and outstanding voting securities of EHI to Genworth Holdings, Inc.
(“Genworth Holdings”). Post-contribution, EHI is a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Genworth Holdings,
and Genworth Holdings is still a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Genworth. EHI is a holding company
whose subsidiaries offer U.S. mortgage insurance products.
(2)

Summary of significant accounting policies

The accompanying EHI financial statements have been prepared on the same basis and using the
same accounting policies as described in the consolidated financial statements included herein. These
financial statements should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the
accompanying notes thereto.
EHI includes in its statements of income equity in income of subsidiaries, which represents the net
income of each of its subsidiaries.
(3)

Borrowings
The following table sets forth long-term borrowings as of December 31:

(Amounts in thousands)

2020

6.5% Senior Notes, due 2025............................................................................... $
Deferred borrowing charges..................................................................................
Total.......................................................................................................................... $

750,000 $
(11,838)
738,162 $

2019

—
—
—

On August 21, 2020, EHI issued $750 million in aggregate principal amount of 6.5% senior notes due
in 2025. EHI incurred $12.6 million of borrowing costs that were deferred and were netted against the
principal amount of the notes. Interest on the notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on February 15
and August 15 of each year, commencing on February 15, 2021. These notes mature on August 15,
2025. EHI may redeem the notes in whole or in part at any time prior to February 15, 2025, at EHI’s
option by paying a make-whole premium plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. At any time on or after
February 15, 2025, EHI may redeem the notes in whole or in part at its option at 100% of the principal
amount plus accrued and unpaid interest. The notes contain customary events of default which, subject to
certain notice and cure conditions, can result in the acceleration of the principal and accrued interest on
the outstanding notes if EHI breaches the terms of the indenture.
EHI committed to retain $300 million of the net proceeds from the issuance of these notes that can be
drawn down exclusively for its debt service or to contribute to GMICO to meet its regulatory capital needs.
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
June 30,
2021
(Amounts in thousands, except par value and per share amounts)

December 31,
2020

(Unaudited)

Assets
Investments:
Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale, at fair value (amortized cost of
$5,053,420 and no allowance for credit losses as of June 30, 2021).........
Short-term investments, at fair value...................................................................
Total investments....................................................................................................
Cash and cash equivalents...................................................................................
Accrued investment income..................................................................................
Deferred acquisition costs.....................................................................................
Premiums receivable (allowance for credit losses of $989 as of June 30,
2021).....................................................................................................................
Other assets.............................................................................................................
Total assets............................................................................................................
Liabilities and equity
Liabilities:
Loss reserves..........................................................................................................
Unearned premiums...............................................................................................
Other liabilities.........................................................................................................
Long-term borrowings............................................................................................
Deferred tax liability................................................................................................
Total liabilities.......................................................................................................
Equity:
Common stock ($0.01 par value, 600,000 shares authorized, 162,840
shares issued and outstanding)........................................................................
Additional paid-in capital........................................................................................
Accumulated other comprehensive income........................................................
Retained earnings...................................................................................................
Total equity.............................................................................................................
Total liabilities and equity..................................................................................

$ 5,256,467 $ 5,046,596
12,499
—
5,268,966
5,046,596
435,323
452,794
30,843
29,210
28,322
28,872
43,287
46,464
55,348
48,774
$ 5,862,089 $ 5,652,710

$

624,256 $
555,679
263,573
306,945
119,289
133,302
739,269
738,162
25,851
36,811
1,772,238
1,770,899

1,628
2,369,601
159,854
1,558,768
4,089,851
$ 5,862,089 $

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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1,628
2,368,699
208,378
1,303,106
3,881,811
5,652,710

ENACT HOLDINGS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(Unaudited)

Six months ended
June 30,
(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenues:
Premiums................................................................................................................. $
Net investment income...........................................................................................
Net investment gains (losses)...............................................................................
Other income...........................................................................................................
Total revenues.......................................................................................................
Losses and expenses:
Losses incurred.......................................................................................................
Acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals.......................................
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs and intangibles..............................
Interest expense......................................................................................................
Total losses and expenses.................................................................................
Income before income taxes.............................................................................
Provision for income taxes....................................................................................
Net income.............................................................................................................. $
Net income per common share — basic and diluted........................................ $
Weighted average common shares outstanding — basic and diluted...........

2021

2020

495,022 $
69,948
(2,709)
2,443
564,704

469,051
64,693
(344)
3,209
536,609

85,377
120,672
7,435
25,482
238,966
325,738
69,795
255,943 $

246,310
100,479
7,580
—
354,369
182,240
41,015
141,225

1.57 $
162,840

0.87
162,840

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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(Unaudited)

Six months ended
June 30,
(Amounts in thousands)

2021

2020

Net income............................................................................................................... $
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:

255,943 $

141,225

Net unrealized gains (losses) on securities without an allowance for
credit losses......................................................................................................
Net unrealized gains (losses) on securities with an allowance for credit
losses.................................................................................................................
Net unrealized gains (losses) on securities not other-than-temporarily
impaired.............................................................................................................
Total comprehensive income............................................................................ $

(48,805)
—
—
207,138 $

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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—
—
59,517
200,742

ENACT HOLDINGS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(Unaudited)

Six months ended June 30, 2021

(Amounts in thousands)

Common
stock

Additional
paid-in
capital

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
income (loss)

Balances as of December 31, 2020 $ 1,628 $ 2,368,699 $
Cumulative effect of change in
accounting, net of taxes.......................
Comprehensive income (loss):
Net income........................................
Other comprehensive loss, net of
taxes...............................................
Total comprehensive income.........
Capital contributions from Genworth
Financial, Inc.........................................
902
Balances as of June 30, 2021.......... $ 1,628 $ 2,369,601 $

Retained
earnings

Total
equity

208,378 $1,303,106 $ 3,881,811
281

(281)
255,943

(48,805)

—
255,943
(48,805)
207,138

902
159,854 $1,558,768 $ 4,089,851

Six months ended June 30, 2020

Common
stock

Additional
paid-in
capital

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
income (loss)

Balances as of December 31, 2019 $ 1,628 $ 2,361,978 $
Comprehensive income (loss):
Net income........................................
Other comprehensive loss, net of
taxes...............................................
Total comprehensive income.........
Capital contributions from Genworth
Financial, Inc.........................................
4,121
Balances as of June 30, 2020.......... $ 1,628 $ 2,366,099 $

Retained
earnings

93,431 $1,370,038 $ 3,827,075
141,225
59,517

141,225
59,517
200,742

4,121
152,948 $1,511,263 $ 4,031,938

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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Total
equity

ENACT HOLDINGS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)
Six months ended
June 30,
(Amounts in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income............................................................................................................... $
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Net (gains) losses on investments..................................................................
Amortization of fixed maturity securities discounts and premiums............
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs and intangibles.........................
Acquisition costs deferred.................................................................................
Deferred income taxes......................................................................................
Other....................................................................................................................
Change in certain assets and liabilities:
Accrued investment income.............................................................................
Premiums receivable.........................................................................................
Other assets........................................................................................................
Loss reserves......................................................................................................
Unearned premiums..........................................................................................
Other liabilities....................................................................................................
Net cash provided by operating activities.....................................................
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of fixed maturity securities available-for-sale and short-term
investments..............................................................................................................
Proceeds from sales of fixed maturity securities available-for-sale................
Maturities of fixed maturity securities available for sale...................................
Net cash used in investing activities...............................................................
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities....................................
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents.......................................................
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period............................................
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period...................................................... $
Supplementary disclosure of cash flow information:
Non-cash contributions of capital from Genworth Financial, Inc..................... $

2021

2020

255,943 $

141,225

2,709
(4,639)
7,435
(3,752)
2,225
664

344
(1,720)
7,580
(5,967)
7,695
4,121

(1,633)
3,177
(9,681)
68,577
(43,372)
(14,546)
263,107

(4,788)
6,197
4,348
204,480
(43,490)
25,116
345,141

(892,287)
258,101
353,608
(280,578)
—
(17,471)
452,794
435,323 $

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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902 $

(899,759)
204,645
183,496
(511,618)
—
(166,477)
585,058
418,581
4,121

ENACT HOLDINGS, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Six Months Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020
(Unaudited)
(1)

Nature of Business, Organization Structure and Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include on a consolidated
basis the accounts of Enact Holdings, Inc. (“EHI,” together with its subsidiaries, the “Company,” “we,” “us”
or “our”) (formerly known as Genworth Mortgage Holdings, Inc.). EHI has been a wholly owned subsidiary
of Genworth Financial, Inc. (“Genworth” or “Parent”) since EHI’s incorporation in Delaware in 2012. On
May 3, 2021, EHI amended its certificate of incorporation to change its name from Genworth Mortgage
Holdings, Inc. This amendment also authorized EHI to issue 600,000,000 shares of common stock, each
having a par value of $0.01 per share. Concurrently, we entered into a share exchange agreement with
Genworth Holdings, Inc. (“Genworth Holdings”), pursuant to which Genworth Holdings exchanged its 100
shares of common stock, representing all of the previously issued and outstanding capital stock, for
162,840,000 newly-issued shares of common stock, par value $0.01, of EHI. All of the share and per
share information presented in the condensed consolidated financial statements and notes to the
condensed consolidated financial statements have been adjusted to reflect the share exchange on a
retroactive basis for all periods and as of all dates presented.
On November 29, 2019, Genworth completed a holding company reorganization whereby Genworth
contributed 100% of the issued and outstanding voting securities of the Company to Genworth Holdings.
Post-contribution, we are a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Genworth Holdings, and Genworth
Holdings is still a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Genworth. We are engaged in the business of writing
and assuming residential mortgage guaranty insurance. The insurance protects lenders and investors
against certain losses resulting from nonpayment of loans secured by mortgages, deeds of trust, or other
instruments constituting a lien on residential real estate.
We offer private mortgage insurance products predominantly insuring prime-based, individually
underwritten residential mortgage loans (“primary mortgage insurance”). Our primary mortgage insurance
enables borrowers to buy homes with a down payment of less than 20% of the home’s value. Primary
mortgage insurance also facilitates the sale of these low down payment mortgage loans in the secondary
mortgage market, most of which are sold to government sponsored enterprises. We also selectively enter
into insurance transactions with lenders and investors, under which we insure a portfolio of loans at or
after origination.
We operate our business through our primary insurance subsidiary, Genworth Mortgage Insurance
Corporation (“GMICO”), with operations in all 50 states and the District of Columbia. GMICO is an
approved insurer by the Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie Mae”) and the Federal Home
Loan Mortgage Corporation (“Freddie Mac”). Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are government-sponsored
enterprises and we refer to them collectively as the “GSEs.”
We also perform fee-based contract underwriting services for mortgage lenders. The provision of
underwriting services by mortgage insurers eliminates the duplicative lender and mortgage insurer
underwriting activities and expedites the approval process.
We operate our business in a single segment, which is how our chief operating decision maker (who
is our chief executive officer) reviews our financial performance and allocates resources. Our segment
includes a run-off insurance block with reference properties in Mexico (“run-off business”), which is
immaterial to our condensed consolidated financial statements. In April 2021, we entered into an
agreement to purchase our Parent’s minority ownership interest in its mortgage guarantee business in
India for a cash purchase price that is not material to us. The closing of the transaction is subject to
customary closing conditions, including receipt of any required regulatory approvals.
The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements are unaudited and have been
prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”). Preparing
financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that
affect reported amounts and related disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates. These
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unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include all adjustments (including normal
recurring adjustments) considered necessary by management to present a fair statement of the financial
position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented. The results reported in these
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements should not be regarded as necessarily indicative
of results that may be expected for the entire year. Potential impacts, risks and uncertainties of the
coronavirus pandemic (“COVID-19”) may include declines in investment valuations and impairments,
deferred acquisition cost (“DAC”) or intangible assets impairments or the acceleration of amortization,
deferred tax asset recoverability and increases to loss reserves, among other matters. The unaudited
condensed consolidated financial statements included herein should be read in conjunction with the
audited consolidated financial statements and related notes for the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019.
On July 20, 2020, Genworth reached a settlement agreement with AXA S.A. (“AXA”) regarding a
dispute over payment protection insurance mis-selling claims sold by Genworth’s former lifestyle
protection insurance business that was acquired by AXA in 2015. As part of the settlement agreement,
Genworth issued a secured promissory note agreeing to pay AXA in two installments in 2022, unless
certain events occur that trigger mandatory prepayments, as well as a significant portion of future claims
that are still being processed which will be part of the second installment payment in 2022. On March 3,
2021, Genworth repaid the first installment payment originally due to AXA in June 2022 and a portion of
the second installment payment due to AXA in September 2022 from cash proceeds received from the
sale of Genworth Mortgage Insurance Australia Limited (the “March 2021 Mandatory Prepayment”). Prior
to the sale, Genworth owed approximately £425 million (-$581 million) to AXA under the settlement
agreement. As of June 30, 2021, and after applying the March 2021 Mandatory Prepayment, Genworth
owes approximately £249 million ($344 million) to AXA, which is subject to increase. Under the terms of
the secured promissory note, as amended, Genworth pledged as collateral to AXA a 19.9% security
interest in our outstanding common stock. Unless an event of default has occurred under the promissory
note, AXA does not have the right to sell or repledge the collateral and the security interest does not
entitle AXA to voting rights. The collateral will be released back to Genworth upon full repayment of the
promissory note. Accordingly, the collateral arrangement has no impact on our consolidated financial
statements.
(2)

Accounting Changes
Accounting Pronouncements Recently Adopted

On January 1, 2021, we early adopted new accounting guidance related to simplifying the accounting
for income taxes. The guidance eliminates certain exceptions related to the approach for intraperiod tax
allocation, the methodology for calculating income taxes in an interim period and the recognition of
deferred tax liabilities for outside basis differences. We adopted this new accounting guidance using the
retrospective method or modified retrospective method for certain changes and prospective method for all
other changes, which did not have a significant impact on our consolidated financial statements and
disclosures.
On January 1, 2021, we early adopted new accounting guidance related to accounting for credit
losses on financial instruments. The guidance requires entities to recognize an allowance equal to its
estimate of lifetime expected credit losses and applies to most debt instruments not measured at fair
value.
The new guidance retains most of the existing impairment guidance for available-for-sale fixed
maturity securities but amends the presentation of credit losses to be presented as an allowance as
opposed to a write-down and permits the reversal of credit losses when reassessing changes in the credit
losses each reporting period. Available-for-sale fixed maturity securities in an unrealized loss position are
evaluated to determine whether the decline in fair value is related to credit losses or other factors. In
making this assessment, we consider the extent to which fair value is less than amortized cost, any
changes to the rating of the security by a rating agency/agencies and adverse conditions specifically
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related to the security, among other factors. If a credit loss exists, the present value of cash flows
expected to be collected from the security are compared to the amortized cost basis of the security. If the
present value of cash flows expected to be collected is less than the amortized cost basis, an allowance
for credit losses is recorded, limited by the amount that the fair value is less than the amortized cost
basis. Estimating the cash flows expected to be collected is a quantitative and qualitative process that
incorporates information received from third-party sources along with internal assumptions and
judgments. When developing the estimate of cash flows expected to be collected, we utilize an analytical
model that provides for various loss scenarios and consider the industry sector, current levels of
subordination, geographic location and other relevant characteristics of the security or underlying assets,
as well as reasonable and supportable forecasts. Losses are written off against the allowance when
deemed uncollectible or when we intend to sell or expect we will be required to sell a security prior to
recovering our amortized cost. We exclude accrued interest related to available-for-sale fixed maturity
securities from the estimate of allowance for credit losses. Accrued interest is included in accrued
investment income in our condensed consolidated balance sheet. We do not measure an allowance for
credit losses related to accrued interest as uncollectible accrued interest related to our available-for-sale
fixed maturity securities is written off after 90 days and once collectability is determined to be uncertain
and not probable. Amounts written off related to accrued interest are recorded as a credit loss expense
included in net investment gains (losses). We adopted the guidance related to our available-for-sale fixed
maturity securities using the modified retrospective method, which did not have a significant impact on our
consolidated financial statements.
The new guidance further requires that expected credit losses on premiums receivable are measured
in accordance with the credit loss requirements for financial instruments measured at amortized cost. Due
to the short-term nature of our premiums receivable, we consider lifetime expected credit losses on
premiums receivable to be consistent with our current allowance and as a result the new accounting
guidance did not have an impact on premiums receivable upon adoption.
The new guidance also requires the recognition of an allowance for expected credit losses as a
liability in our consolidated balance sheet for off-balance sheet credit exposures, including private
placement investments. We adopted the guidance related to our off-balance sheet credit exposures using
the modified retrospective method, which did not have an impact on our consolidated financial
statements.
(3)

Investments
Net Investment Income
Sources of net investment income were as follows for the six months ended June 30:

(Amounts in thousands)

2021

Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale....................................................
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments...................................
Gross investment income before expenses and fees.......................................
Investment expenses and fees.............................................................................
Net investment income.......................................................................................

62

$
$
$
$

72,952 $
52
73,004
(3,056)
69,948 $

2020

65,109
2,049
67,158
(2,465)
64,693
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Net Investment Gains (Losses)
The following table sets forth net investment gains (losses) for the six months ended June 30:
(Amounts in thousands)

2021

Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale:
Gross realized gains.......................................................................................... $
Gross realized (losses)......................................................................................
Net realized gains (losses)...............................................................................
Impairments:
Total other-than-temporary impairments........................................................
Portion of other-than-temporary impairments included in other
comprehensive income (loss).......................................................................
Net other-than-temporary impairments...........................................................
Net change in allowance for credit losses on fixed maturity securities
available-for-sale.................................................................................................
Net investment gains (losses)........................................................................... $

2020

584 $
(1,133)
(549)

748
(1,092)
(344)

—

—

—
—

—
—

(2,160)
(2,709) $

—
(344)

The following table represents the allowance for credit losses aggregated by security type for fixed
maturity available-for-sale securities as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2021:

(Amounts in thousands)

Beginning
balance

Fixed maturity securities:
Non-U.S. corporate....................... $
Total fixed maturity securities
available-for-sale ........................ $

Cumulative
effect of
change in
accounting

Increase from
securities without
allowance in
previous periods

Securities
sold

Ending
balance

— $

357 $

2,157 $ (2,514) $

—

— $

357 $

2,157 $ (2,514) $

—

Unrealized Investment Gains (Losses)
Net unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities reflected as a separate component of
accumulated other comprehensive income (“OCI”) were as follows as of the dates indicated:
(Amounts in thousands)

June 30, 2021

Net unrealized gains (losses) on fixed maturity securities without an
allowance for credit losses.................................................................................... $
Net unrealized gains (losses) on fixed maturity securities with an
allowance for credit losses....................................................................................
Net unrealized gains (losses) on fixed maturity securities not other-thantemporarily impaired...............................................................................................
Net unrealized gains (losses) on fixed maturity securities other-thantemporarily impaired...............................................................................................
Subtotal.....................................................................................................................
Income taxes...........................................................................................................
Net unrealized investment gains (losses)...................................................... $

63

December 31,
2020

203,047 $

—

—

—

—

264,680

—
203,047
(43,193)
159,854 $

—
264,680
(56,302)
208,378
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The change in net unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities reported in accumulated
other comprehensive income was as follows as of and for the six months ended June 30:
(Amounts in thousands)

2021

Beginning balance................................................................................................ $
Cumulative effect of change in accounting, net of taxes..................................
Unrealized gains (losses) arising during the period:
Unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities..........................................
Provision for income taxes....................................................................................
Change in unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities........................
Reclassification adjustments to net investment (gains) losses, net of taxes
of $(115) and $(75), respectively..........................................................................
Change in net unrealized investment gains (losses)........................................
Ending balance...................................................................................................... $

208,378 $
281

2020

93,431
—

(62,539)
13,300
(49,239)

72,597
(13,366)
59,231

434
(48,805)
159,854 $

286
59,517
152,948

Amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income to net investment gains
(losses) include realized gains (losses) on sales of securities, which are determined on a specific
identification basis.
Fixed Maturity Securities Available-For-Sale
As of June 30, 2021, the amortized cost, gross unrealized gains (losses), allowance for credit losses
and fair value of our fixed maturity securities classified as available-for-sale were as follows:
Gross
unrealized
gains

Amortized
cost

(Amounts in thousands)

U.S. government, agencies and GSEs............... $
State and political subdivisions............................

62,783

$

2,843

393,491

Gross
unrealized
losses

$

Allowance for
credit losses

(1) $

15,500

Fair
value

—

(674)

$

—

Non-U.S. government...........................................

22,488

462

—

22,950

U.S. corporate........................................................

2,748,364

149,047

(5,813)

—

2,891,598

Non-U.S. corporate................................................

666,497

26,790

(1,219)

—

692,068

Other asset-backed...............................................

1,159,797

16,853

(741)

—

1,175,909

Total fixed maturity securities availablefor-sale............................................................... $

5,053,420

(8,448) $

—

$

211,495

—

65,625
408,317

$

$

5,256,467

As of December 31, 2020, the amortized cost, gross unrealized gains (losses) and fair value of our
fixed maturity securities classified as available-for-sale were as follows:
Gross unrealized gains

(Amounts in thousands)

Amortized
cost

U.S. government, agencies and GSEs.............. $ 134,215

Gross unrealized losses

Not
other-thantemporarily
impaired

Other-thantemporarily
impaired

Not
other-thantemporarily
impaired

Other-thantemporarily
impaired

$

$

$

$

4,009

—

$ 138,224

State and political subdivisions...........................

172,631

14,749

—

(3)

—

187,377

Non-U.S. government...........................................

29,592

1,439

—

—

—

31,031

U.S. corporate........................................................

2,695,009

194,961

—

(1,345)

—

2,888,625

Non-U.S. corporate...............................................

578,295

32,251

—

(2,877)

—

607,669

Other asset-backed...............................................

1,172,174

21,830

—

(334)

—

1,193,670

Total fixed maturity securities available-forsale....................................................................... $ 4,781,916

$ 269,239

(4,559) $

—

$ 5,046,596

64

$

—

—

$

—

Fair
value
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Gross Unrealized Losses and Fair Values of Fixed Maturity Securities Available-For-Sale
The following table presents the gross unrealized losses and fair values of our fixed maturity
securities for which an allowance for credit losses has not been recorded, aggregated by investment type
and length of time that individual fixed maturity securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss
position, as of June 30, 2021:
Less than 12 months

(Amounts in thousands)

Gross
unrealized
losses

Fair
value

12 months or more

Number of
securities

Fair value

Gross
unrealized
losses

$

$

Total

Number of
securities

Fair value

Gross
unrealized
losses

Number of
securities

Fixed maturity securities:
U.S. government,
agencies and GSEs...... $

104

State and political
subdivisions....................

49,340

Non-U.S. government.......

—

U.S. corporate....................

290,458

Non-U.S. corporate............

90,623

Other asset-backed...........

177,957

Total for fixed maturity
securities in an
unrealized loss
position.......................... $ 608,482

$

(1)

1

(674)

21
—

(5,790)

39

(1,084)

12

(716)

37

—

—

—

—

$

104

$

(1)

1

—

—

—

$

49,340

$

(674)

21

—

—

—

$

—

$

4,799

(23)

1

$ 295,257

$ (5,813)

40

8,181

(135)

2

$

$ (1,219)

14

3,725

(25)

1

$ 181,682

$

38

98,804

—

(741)

—

$ (8,265) $

110

$16,705 $

(183) $

4

$ 625,187

$ (8,448) $

114

<20% Below cost............... $ 608,482

$ (8,265)

110

$16,705 $

(183)

4

$ 625,187

$ (8,448)

114

Total for fixed maturity
securities in an
unrealized loss
position.......................... $ 608,482

$ (8,265) $

110

$16,705 $

(183) $

4

$ 625,187

$ (8,448) $

114

Investment grade............... $ 587,638

$ (7,887)

105

$16,705 $

(183)

4

$ 604,343

$ (8,070)

109

(378)

5

$

$

% Below cost:

Below investment grade...

20,844

Total for fixed maturity
securities in an
unrealized loss
position.......................... $ 608,482

$ (8,265) $

110

—

$16,705 $

—

(183) $

—

4

20,844

$ 625,187

(378)

$ (8,448) $

5

114

We did not recognize an allowance for credit losses on securities in an unrealized loss position
included in the table above. Based on a qualitative and quantitative review of the issuers of the securities,
we believe the decline in fair value is largely due to recent market volatility and is not indicative of credit
losses. The issuers continue to make timely principal and interest payments.
For all securities in an unrealized loss position without an allowance for credit losses, we expect to
recover the amortized cost based on our estimate of the amount and timing of cash flows to be collected.
We do not intend to sell nor do we expect that we will be required to sell these securities prior to
recovering our amortized cost.
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The following table presents the gross unrealized losses and fair values of our fixed maturity
securities, aggregated by investment type and length of time that individual fixed maturity securities have
been in a continuous unrealized loss position, as of December 31, 2020:
Less than 12 months

(Amounts in thousands)

Gross
unrealized
losses

Fair
value

Number of
securities

12 months or more

Total

Fair value

Gross
unrealized
losses

Gross
unrealized
losses

$

$

Number of
securities

Fair value

Number of
securities

Fixed maturity securities:
U.S. government, agencies
and GSEs................................ $

—

—

—

—

—

(3)

2

—

—

—

4,717

—

—

—

—

—

—

(1,231)

8

2,886

(2,877)

8

—

(60)

5

26,028

Total for fixed maturity
securities in an unrealized
loss position.......................... $106,369 $ (4,171)

23

$ 28,914

$ (1,846)

22

$ 28,914

State and political subdivisions.

4,717

Non-U.S. government................

—

U.S. corporate.............................

44,296

Non-U.S. corporate.....................

32,533

Other asset-backed....................

24,823

$

—

(114)

$

—

$

—

—

(3)

2

—

—

1

47,182

(1,345)

9

—

32,533

(2,877)

8

(274)

6

50,851

(334)

11

$

(388)

7

$135,283 $ (4,559)

30

$

(388)

7

$127,608 $ (2,234)

29

—

% Below cost:
<20% Below cost........................ $ 98,694
20%-50% Below cost.................

(2,325)

1

—

Total for fixed maturity
securities in an unrealized
loss position.......................... $106,369 $ (4,171)

23

$ 28,914

$

(388)

Investment grade........................ $ 98,694

$ (1,846)

22

$ 26,028

$

(274)

(2,325)

1

2,886

(114)

1

Total for fixed maturity
securities in an unrealized
loss position.......................... $106,369 $ (4,171)

23

$ 28,914

(388)

7

Below investment grade............

7,675

7,675

—

$

—

7,675

(2,325)

1

7

$135,283 $ (4,559)

30

6

$124,722 $ (2,120)

28

10,561

(2,439)

2

$135,283 $ (4,559)

30

Contractual Maturities of Fixed Maturity Securities Available-For-Sale
The scheduled maturity distribution of fixed maturity securities as of June 30, 2021 is set forth below.
Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because issuers of securities may have the right
to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.
Amortized
cost

(Amounts in thousands)

Due one year or less......................................................................................... $
164,320 $
Due after one year through five years............................................................
2,117,281
Due after five years through ten years...........................................................
1,427,293
Due after ten years............................................................................................
184,729
Subtotal.....................................................................................................................
3,893,623
Other asset-backed................................................................................................
1,159,797
Total fixed maturity securities available-for-sale......................................... $ 5,053,420 $

Fair
value

166,415
2,253,817
1,471,372
188,954
4,080,558
1,175,909
5,256,467

As of June 30, 2021, securities issued by finance and insurance, consumer—non-cyclical and
technology and communications industry groups represented approximately 29%, 16% and 14%,
respectively, of our domestic and foreign corporate fixed maturity securities portfolio. No other industry
group comprised more than 10% of our investment portfolio.
As of June 30, 2021, we did not hold any fixed maturity securities in any single issuer, other than
securities issued or guaranteed by the U.S. government, which exceeded 10% of equity.
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Fair Value
Recurring Fair Value Measurements

We have fixed maturity securities and short-term investments, which are carried at fair value. The fair
value of fixed maturity securities and short-term investments is estimated primarily based on information
derived from third-party pricing services (“pricing services”), internal models and/or broker quotes, which
use a market approach, income approach or a combination of the market and income approach
depending on the type of instrument and availability of information. In general, a market approach is
utilized if there is readily available and relevant market activity for an individual security. In certain cases
where market information is not available for a specific security but is available for similar securities, that
security is valued using market information for similar securities, which is also a market approach. When
market information is not available for a specific security (or similar securities) or is available but such
information is less relevant or reliable, an income approach or a combination of a market and income
approach is utilized. For securities with optionality, such as call or prepayment features (including assetbacked securities), an income approach may be used. In addition, a combination of the results from
market and income approaches may be used to estimate fair value. These valuation techniques may
change from period to period, based on the relevance and availability of market data.
Further, while we consider the valuations provided by pricing services and broker quotes to be of high
quality, management determines the fair value of our investment securities after considering all relevant
and available information.
In general, we first obtain valuations from pricing services. If prices are unavailable for public
securities, we obtain broker quotes. For all securities, excluding certain private fixed maturity securities, if
neither a pricing service nor broker quotes valuation is available, we determine fair value using internal
models. For certain private fixed maturity securities where we do not obtain valuations from pricing
services, we utilize an internal model to determine fair value since transactions for similar securities are
not readily observable and these securities are not typically valued by pricing services.
Given our understanding of the pricing methodologies and procedures of pricing services, the
securities valued by pricing services are typically classified as Level 2 unless we determine the valuation
process for a security or group of securities utilizes significant unobservable inputs, which would result in
the valuation being classified as Level 3.
Broker quotes are typically based on an income approach given the lack of available market data. As
the valuation typically includes significant unobservable inputs, we classify the securities where fair value
is based on our consideration of broker quotes as Level 3 measurements.
For private fixed maturity securities, we utilize an income approach where we obtain public bond
spreads and utilize those in an internal model to determine fair value. Other inputs to the model include
rating and weighted-average life, as well as sector which is used to assign the spread. We then add an
additional premium, which represents an unobservable input, to the public bond spread to adjust for the
liquidity and other features of our private placements. We utilize the estimated market yield to discount
the expected cash flows of the security to determine fair value. We utilize price caps for securities where
the estimated market yield results in a valuation that may exceed the amount that would be received in a
market transaction. When a security does not have an external rating, we assign the security an internal
rating to determine the appropriate public bond spread that should be utilized in the valuation. While we
generally consider the public bond spreads by sector and maturity to be observable inputs, we evaluate
the similarities of our private placement with the public bonds, any price caps utilized, liquidity premiums
applied, and whether external ratings are available for our private placements to determine whether the
spreads utilized would be considered observable inputs. We classify private securities without an external
rating or public bond spread as Level 3. In general, a significant increase (decrease) in credit spreads
would have resulted in a significant decrease (increase) in the fair value for our fixed maturity securities
as of June 30, 2021.

67

ENACT HOLDINGS, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Six Months Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020
(Unaudited)
For remaining securities priced using internal models, we determine fair value using an income
approach. We maximize the use of observable inputs but typically utilize significant unobservable inputs
to determine fair value. Accordingly, the valuations are typically classified as Level 3.
Our assessment of whether or not there were significant unobservable inputs related to fixed maturity
securities was based on our observations obtained through the course of managing our investment
portfolio, including interaction with other market participants, observations related to the availability and
consistency of pricing and/or rating, and understanding of general market activity such as new issuance
and the level of secondary market trading for a class of securities. Additionally, we considered data
obtained from pricing services to determine whether our estimated values incorporate significant
unobservable inputs that would result in the valuation being classified as Level 3.
A summary of the inputs used for our fixed maturity securities and short-term investments based on
the level in which instruments are classified is included below. We have combined certain classes of
instruments together as the nature of the inputs is similar.
Level 1 measurements
There were no fixed maturity securities classified as Level 1 as of June 30, 2021 and December 31,
2020.
Level 2 measurements
Fixed maturity securities:
Third-party pricing services
In estimating the fair value of fixed maturity securities, approximately 90% of our portfolio was priced
using pricing services as of June 30, 2021. These pricing services utilize industry-standard valuation
techniques that include market-based approaches, income-based approaches, a combination of marketbased and income-based approaches or other proprietary, internally generated models as part of the
valuation processes. These third-party pricing vendors maximize the use of publicly available data inputs
to generate valuations for each asset class. Priority and type of inputs used may change frequently as
certain inputs may be more direct drivers of valuation at the time of pricing. Examples of significant inputs
incorporated by pricing services may include sector and issuer spreads, seasoning, capital structure,
security optionality, collateral data, prepayment assumptions, default assumptions, delinquencies, debt
covenants, benchmark yields, trade data, dealer quotes, credit ratings, maturity and weighted-average
life. We conduct regular meetings with our pricing services for the purpose of understanding the
methodologies, techniques and inputs used by the third-party pricing providers.
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The following table presents a summary of the significant inputs used by our pricing services for
certain fair value measurements of fixed maturity securities that are classified as Level 2 as of June 30,
2021:
(Amounts in thousands)

U.S. government, agencies
$
and GSEs...............................

Fair value

Primary methodologies

65,625 Price quotes from trading
desk, broker feeds

Significant inputs

Bid side prices, trade prices,
Option Adjusted Spread
(“OAS”) to swap curve, Bond
Market Association OAS,
Treasury Curve, Agency
Bullet Curve, maturity to
issuer spread

State and political
$ 408,317 Multi-dimensional attributesubdivisions...........................
based modeling systems,
third-party pricing vendors

Trade prices, material event
notices, Municipal Market
Data benchmark yields,
broker quotes

Non-U.S. government.............. $

Benchmark yields, trade
prices, broker quotes,
comparative transactions,
issuer spreads, bid-offer
spread, market research
publications, third-party
pricing sources

22,950 Matrix pricing, spread priced
to benchmark curves, price
quotes from market makers

U.S. corporate........................... $2,565,684 Multi-dimensional attributebased modeling systems,
broker quotes, price quotes
from market makers, internal
models, OAS-based models

Bid side prices to Treasury
Curve, Issuer Curve, which
includes sector, quality,
duration, OAS percentage
and change for spread
matrix, trade prices,
comparative transactions,
Trade Reporting and
Compliance Engine
(“TRACE”) reports

Non-U.S. corporate.................. $ 519,061 Multi-dimensional attributebased modeling systems,
OAS-based models, price
quotes from market makers

Benchmark yields, trade
prices, broker quotes,
comparative transactions,
issuer spreads, bid-offer
spread, market research
publications, third-party
pricing sources

Other asset-backed.................. $1,165,894 Multi-dimensional attributebased modeling systems,
spread matrix priced to swap
curves, price quotes from
market makers

Spreads to daily updated
swap curves, spreads
derived from trade prices
and broker quotes, bid side
prices, new issue data,
collateral performance,
analysis of prepayment
speeds, cash flows,
collateral loss analytics,
historical issue analysis,
trade data from market
makers, TRACE reports

Internal models
A portion of our U.S. corporate and non-U.S. corporate securities are valued using internal models.
The fair value of these fixed maturity securities was $196.3 million and $81.9 million, respectively, as of
June 30, 2021. Internally modeled securities are primarily private fixed maturity securities where we use
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market observable inputs such as an interest rate yield curve, published credit spreads for similar
securities based on the external ratings of the instrument and related industry sector of the issuer.
Additionally, we may apply certain price caps and liquidity premiums in the valuation of private fixed
maturity securities. Price caps and liquidity premiums are established using inputs from market
participants.
Short-term investments:
The fair value of short-term investments classified as Level 2 is determined after considering prices
obtained by pricing services.
Level 3 measurements
Broker quotes
A portion of our U.S. corporate, non-U.S. corporate and other asset-backed securities are valued
using broker quotes. Broker quotes are obtained from third-party providers that have current market
knowledge to provide a reasonable price for securities not routinely priced by pricing services. Brokers
utilized for valuation of assets are reviewed annually. The fair value of our Level 3 fixed maturity securities
priced by broker quotes was $16.7 million as of June 30, 2021.
Internal models
A portion of our U.S. corporate, non-U.S. corporate and other asset-backed securities are valued
using internal models. The primary inputs to the valuation of the bond population include quoted prices for
identical assets, or similar assets in markets that are not active, contractual cash flows, duration, call
provisions, issuer rating, benchmark yields and credit spreads. Certain private fixed maturity securities
are valued using an internal model using market observable inputs such as the interest rate yield curve,
as well as published credit spreads for similar securities, which includes significant unobservable inputs.
Additionally, we may apply certain price caps and liquidity premiums in the valuation of private fixed
maturity securities. Price caps are established using inputs from market participants. For structured
securities, the primary inputs to the valuation include quoted prices for identical assets, or similar assets
in markets that are not active, contractual cash flows, weighted-average coupon, weighted-average
maturity, issuer rating, structure of the security, expected prepayment speeds and volumes, collateral
type, current and forecasted loss severity, average delinquency rates, vintage of the loans, geographic
region, debt service coverage ratios, payment priority with the tranche, benchmark yields and credit
spreads. The fair value of our Level 3 fixed maturity securities priced using internal models was
$214.1 million as of June 30, 2021.
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The following tables set forth our assets by class of instrument that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis as of the dates indicated:
June 30, 2021
(Amounts in thousands)

Fixed maturity securities:
U.S. government, agencies and GSEs.............
State and political subdivisions..........................
Non-U.S. government..........................................
U.S. corporate......................................................
Non-U.S. corporate..............................................
Other asset-backed.............................................
Total fixed maturity securities.................................
Short-term investments............................................
Total...........................................................................

Total

Level 1

$
65,625 $
$ 408,317
$
22,950
$ 2,891,598
$ 692,068
$ 1,175,909
5,256,467
$
12,499
$ 5,268,966 $

Level 2

— $
65,625 $
—
408,317
—
22,950
—
2,761,985
—
600,911
—
1,165,894
—
5,025,682
—
12,499
— $ 5,038,181 $

Level 3

—
—
—
129,613
91,157
10,015
230,785
—
230,785

December 31, 2020
(Amounts in thousands)

Total

Fixed maturity securities:
U.S. government, agencies and GSEs............. $ 138,224 $
State and political subdivisions..........................
187,377
Non-U.S. government..........................................
31,031
U.S. corporate......................................................
2,888,625
Non-U.S. corporate..............................................
607,669
Other asset-backed.............................................
1,193,670
Total fixed maturity securities.................................
5,046,596
Total........................................................................... $ 5,046,596 $

Level 1

Level 2

— $ 138,224 $
—
187,377
—
31,031
—
2,769,252
—
511,918
—
1,179,889
—
4,817,691
— $ 4,817,691 $

Level 3

—
—
—
119,373
95,751
13,781
228,905
228,905

We did not have any liabilities recorded at fair value as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020.
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The following tables present additional information about assets measured at fair value on a recurring
basis and for which we have utilized significant unobservable (Level 3) inputs to determine fair value as of
or for the dates indicated:
Total realized and
unrealized gains
(losses)

Beginning
balance
as of
January 1,
2021

Included
in net
income

Included
in OCI

Purchases

U.S. corporate...........

$ 119,373

$

$

$ 18,000

Non-U.S. corporate...

95,751

(90)

Other asset-backed..

13,781

—

Total..............................

$ 228,905

(Amounts in thousands)

Sales

Issuances

Settlements

$

$

Transfer
into
Level 3 (1)

Transfer
out of
Level 3 (1)

Ending
balance
as of
June 30,
2021

Total gains
(losses)
attributable to
assets still held
Included
in net
income

Included
in OCI

Fixed maturity
securities:

$

(62)

(152)

3,078

$ (4,317)

$ 129,613

(62)

$ (1,260)

3,791

(971)

36,786

$

—

—

—

(10,896)

—

(34,185)

91,157

(85)

(916)

66

—

—

—

(1,264)

—

(2,568)

10,015

—

$ 2,886

$ 54,786

3,078

$ (41,070)

$ 230,785

$

—

—

$

—

$

(5,488)

(17,648)

$

$

$

$

(147)

16
$ (2,160)

______________
(1) The transfers into and out of Level 3 for fixed maturity securities were related to changes in the primary pricing
source and changes in the observability of external information used in determining the fair value, such as
external ratings or credit spreads.
Total realized and
unrealized gains
(losses)

Beginning
balance
as of
January 1,
2020

Included
in net
income

Included
in OCI

Purchases

Sales

Issuances

Settlements

U.S. corporate...........

$ 99,862

$

$ 1,342

$ 19,554

$ —

$

$

Non-U.S. corporate...

77,189

22,000

—

(Amounts in thousands)

Transfer
out of
Level 3 (1)

Ending
balance
as of
June 30,
2020

5,016

$ (16,419)

$ 108,868

23,468

(21,230)

99,074

Transfer
into
Level 3 (1)

Total gains
(losses)
attributable to
assets still held
Included in
net income

Included in OCI

$

$

Fixed maturity
securities:

Other asset-backed..

4,038

Total .............................

$ 181,089

(53)
(9)

(1,468)

—
$

(62)

$

(397)

4,874

—

(523)

$ 46,428

$ —

—
—

(876)

—
$

—

(434)

—
$

(1,310)

$

—
$ 28,484

—
$ (37,649)

(9)

8,515
$ 216,457

(42)

—
$

(51)

2,382
(2,759)
(397)

$

(774)

______________
(1) The transfers into and out of Level 3 for fixed maturity securities were related to changes in the primary pricing
source and changes in the observability of external information used in determining the fair value, such as
external ratings or credit spreads.

The following table presents the gains and losses included in net income from assets measured at
fair value on a recurring basis and for which we have utilized significant unobservable (Level 3) inputs to
determine fair value and the related income statement line item in which these gains and losses were
presented for the six months ended June 30:
(Amounts in thousands)

2021

Total realized and unrealized gains (losses) included in net income:
Net investment income...........................................................................................
Net investment gains (losses)...............................................................................
Total..........................................................................................................................
Total gains (losses) included in net income attributable to assets still held:
Net investment income...........................................................................................
Net investment gains (losses)...............................................................................
Total..........................................................................................................................

$

(152) $

$

(152) $

$

(147) $

$

(147) $

2020

(62)
—
(62)
(51)
—
(51)

The amount presented for realized and unrealized gains (losses) included in net income for fixed
maturity securities primarily represents amortization and accretion of premiums and discounts on certain
fixed maturity securities.
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The following table presents a summary of the significant unobservable inputs used for certain asset
fair value measurements that are based on internal models and classified as Level 3 as of June 30, 2021:

(Amounts in thousands)

Valuation
technique

Fair value

(1)

Fixed maturity securities:
U.S. corporate..................... Internal models $ 129,613
Non-U.S. corporate............ Internal models $ 82,975

Unobservable
input

Range (bps)

Weightedaverage (2)
(bps)

Credit spreads
Credit spreads

52-124
62-121

82
88

______________
(1) Certain classes of instruments classified as Level 3 are excluded as a result of not being material or due to
limitations in being able to obtain the underlying inputs used by certain third-party sources, such as broker
quotes, used as an input in determining fair value.
(2) Unobservable inputs weighted by the relative fair value of the associated instrument.

Liabilities Not Required to Be Carried at Fair Value
The following table provides fair value information for financial instruments that are reflected in the
accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements at amounts other than fair value.
We have certain financial instruments that are not recorded at fair value, including cash and cash
equivalents and accrued investment income, the carrying value of which approximate fair value due to the
short-term nature of these instruments and are not included in this disclosure.
The following represents our estimated fair value of financial liabilities that are not required to be
carried at fair value, classified as Level 2, as of the dates indicated:
June 30, 2021
(Amounts in thousands)

Long-term borrowings...................................... $

Carrying
amount

739,269 $

December 31, 2020

Fair value

816,317 $

Carrying
amount

738,162 $

Fair value

800,367

As of June 30, 2021, we were also committed to fund $2.0 million in private placement investments.
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Loss Reserves
Activity for the liability for loss reserves for the six months ended June 30 is summarized as follows:

(Amounts in thousands)

2021

2020

Loss reserves, beginning balance........................................................................ $
Run-off reserves......................................................................................................
Net loss reserves, beginning balance..................................................................

555,679 $
(654)
555,025

235,062
(1,597)
233,465

Losses and LAE incurred related to current accident year..............................
Losses and LAE incurred related to prior accident years.................................
Total incurred (1)......................................................................................................

71,596
13,677
85,273

238,692
8,696
247,388

Losses and LAE paid related to current accident year.....................................
Losses and LAE paid related to prior accident years........................................
Total paid (1).............................................................................................................

(855)
(15,922)
(16,777)

(383)
(41,352)
(41,735)

Net loss reserves, ending balance.......................................................................
Run-off reserves......................................................................................................
Loss reserves, ending balance......................................................................... $

623,521
735
624,256 $

439,118
424
439,542

______________
(1) Losses and loss adjustment expenses (“LAE”) incurred and paid exclude losses related to our run-off business.

The liability for loss reserves represents our current best estimate; however, there may be future
adjustments to this estimate and related assumptions. Such adjustments, reflecting any variety of new
and adverse trends, could possibly be significant, and result in future increases to reserves by amounts
that could be material to our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.
Losses incurred related to insured events of the current accident year relate to defaults that occurred
in that year and represent the estimated ultimate amount of losses to be paid on such defaults. Losses
incurred related to insured events of prior accident years represent the (favorable) or unfavorable
development of reserves as a result of the actual rates at which delinquencies go to claim (“claim rates”)
and claim amounts being different than those we estimated when originally establishing the reserves.
Such estimates are based on our historical experience, which we believe is representative of expected
future losses at the time of estimation. As a result of the extended period of time that may exist between
the reporting of a delinquency and the claim payment, as well as changes in economic conditions and the
real estate market, significant uncertainty and variability exist on amounts ultimately paid.
For the six months ended June 30, 2021, losses and LAE incurred of $71.6 million related to insured
events of the current accident year was primarily attributable to new delinquencies, a portion of which was
from borrowers participating in deferred or reduced payments (“forbearance”) as a result of COVID-19.
When establishing loss reserves for borrowers in forbearance, we assume a lower rate of delinquencies
becoming active claims, which has the effect of producing a lower reserve compared to delinquencies that
are not in forbearance. Historical experience with localized natural disasters, such as hurricanes,
indicates a higher cure rate for borrowers in forbearance. As COVID-19 is an ongoing health crisis, unlike
a hurricane that occurs at a point in time with the rebuild starting soon afterward, our prior hurricane
experience was one consideration, among many, in the establishment of loss reserves. Loss reserves
recorded on these new delinquencies have a high degree of estimation due to the level of uncertainty
regarding whether delinquencies in forbearance will ultimately cure or result in claim payments. We also
recorded additional reserves of $13.7 million in incurred losses attributable to prior accident years
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primarily due to our expectation that pre-COVID-19 delinquencies will have a modestly higher claim rate
than our prior best estimate given the slower emergence of cures to date.
For the six months ended June 30, 2020, losses and LAE incurred of $238.7 million related to insured
events of the current accident year was primarily attributable to a significant increase in the number of
new delinquencies driven mostly by borrower forbearance programs as a result of COVID-19. We also
recorded additional reserves for incurred but not reported claims as of June 30, 2020, related to
delinquencies expected to be reported in the future and strengthened reserves on existing delinquencies
primarily due to a deterioration in early cure emergence patterns and modest increases to claim severity.
The unfavorable development of $8.7 million related to insured events of prior accident years was
primarily attributable to lower cure activity from foreclosure moratoriums and impact of COVID-19.
(6)

Reinsurance

We reinsure a portion of our policy risks to other companies in order to reduce our ultimate losses,
diversify our exposures and comply with regulatory requirements. We also assume certain policy risks
written by other companies.
Reinsurance does not relieve us from our obligations to policyholders. In the event that the reinsurers
are unable to meet their obligations, we remain liable for the reinsured claims. We monitor both the
financial condition of individual reinsurers and risk concentrations arising from similar geographic regions,
activities and economic characteristics of reinsurers to lessen the risk of default by such reinsurers.
The following table sets forth the effects of reinsurance on premiums written and earned for the six
months ended June 30:
(Amounts in thousands)

2021

2020

Net premiums written:
Direct.................................................................................................................... $
Assumed..............................................................................................................
Ceded...................................................................................................................
Net premiums written........................................................................................... $

486,129 $
171
(34,650)
451,650 $

446,369
241
(21,049)
425,561

Net premiums earned:
Direct.................................................................................................................... $
Assumed..............................................................................................................
Ceded...................................................................................................................
Net premiums earned........................................................................................... $

529,501 $
171
(34,650)
495,022 $

489,859
241
(21,049)
469,051

The difference of $43.3 million between written premiums of $451.7 million and earned premiums of
$495.0 million represents the decrease in unearned premiums for the six months ended June 30, 2021.
The decrease in unearned premiums was mainly the result of an increase in policy cancellations in our
single premium mortgage insurance product driven by low interest rates and higher mortgage refinancing,
which resulted in lower persistency in the current period.
Insurance-linked note excess of loss reinsurance treaties
On April 16, 2021, we obtained $302.7 million of excess of loss reinsurance coverage from Triangle
Re 2021-2 Ltd. (“Triangle Re 2021-2”) on a portfolio of existing mortgage insurance policies written from
September 2020 through December 2020. In connection with entering into the reinsurance agreement
with Triangle Re 2021-2, we believe that the risk transfer requirements for reinsurance accounting were
met as Triangle Re 2021-2 is assuming significant insurance risk and a reasonable possibility of
significant loss. For the reinsurance coverage, we retain the first layer of aggregate losses up to $188.6
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million. Triangle Re 2021-2 provides 76% reinsurance coverage for losses above our retained first layer
up to $302.7 million.
On March 2, 2021, we obtained $495.0 million of excess of loss reinsurance coverage from Triangle
Re 2021-1 Ltd. (“Triangle Re 2021-1”) on a portfolio of existing seasoned mortgage insurance policies
written from January 2014 through December 2018 and from October 2019 through December 2019. In
connection with entering into the reinsurance agreement with Triangle Re 2021-1, we believe that the risk
transfer requirements for reinsurance accounting were met as Triangle Re 2021-1 is assuming significant
insurance risk and a reasonable possibility of significant loss. Triangle Re 2021-1 reinsurance coverage is
derived by applying a reinsurance cession percentage to the mortgage insurance coverage for each loan
to get to an Aggregate Exposed Principal Balance (“AEPB”). This AEPB accounts for any existing
reinsurance and ensures we retain a minimum 5% vertical risk retention on each loan. For the
reinsurance coverage, we retain the first layer of aggregate losses up to $212.1 million. Triangle Re
2021-1 provides 100% reinsurance coverage for losses above our retained first layer up to $495.0 million.
On October 22, 2020, we obtained $349.6 million of excess of loss reinsurance coverage from
Triangle Re 2020-1 Ltd. (“Triangle Re 2020-1”) on a portfolio of existing mortgage insurance policies
written from January 2020 through August 2020. In connection with entering into the reinsurance
agreement with Triangle Re 2020-1, we concluded that the risk transfer requirements for reinsurance
accounting were met as Triangle Re 2020-1 is assuming significant insurance risk and a reasonable
possibility of significant loss. For the reinsurance coverage, we retain the first layer of aggregate losses
up to $521.8 million. Triangle Re 2020-1 provides 67% reinsurance coverage for losses above our
retained first layer up to $349.6 million.
Other excess of loss reinsurance treaties
On February 4, 2021, we executed an excess of loss reinsurance transaction with a panel of
reinsurers, which provides up to $210.4 million of reinsurance coverage on a portion of current and
expected new insurance written (“NIW”) for the 2021 book year, effective January 1, 2021.
Effective April 1, 2020, we executed an excess of loss reinsurance transaction with a panel of
reinsurers covering a portion of the loss tier on subject loans written between book years 2009 and 2019
to help mitigate higher levels of delinquencies as a result of COVID-19.
Effective January 1, 2020, we executed an excess of loss reinsurance transaction with a panel of
reinsurers covering a portion of the loss tier on the then current and expected NIW for the 2020 book
year. We also entered into excess of loss reinsurance agreements with other external panels of reinsurers
covering our 2016 through 2019 books of business.
(7)

Borrowings

In 2020, we issued $750 million aggregate principal amount of 6.5% senior notes due in 2025 (the
“2025 Senior Notes”). Interest on the 2025 Senior Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on February
15 and August 15 of each year. The 2025 Senior Notes mature on August 15, 2025. The first interest
payment of approximately $23.6 million was paid in February 2021.
The following table sets forth long-term borrowings as of the dates indicated:
June 30,
2021

(Amounts in thousands)

6.5% Senior Notes, due 2025............................................................................. $
Deferred borrowing charges...............................................................................
Total.......................................................................................................................... $
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December 31,
2020

750,000 $
(10,731)
739,269 $

750,000
(11,838)
738,162

ENACT HOLDINGS, INC.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Six Months Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020
(Unaudited)
Income Taxes

We compute the provision for income taxes on a separate return with benefits for loss method. If
during the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, we had computed taxes using the separate return
method, the provision for income taxes would have been unchanged.
(9)

Related Party Transactions

We have various agreements with Genworth that provide for reimbursement to and from Genworth of
certain administrative and operating expenses that include, but are not limited to, information technology
services and administrative services (such as finance, human resources, employee benefit administration
and legal). These agreements provide for an allocation of corporate expenses to all Genworth businesses
or subsidiaries. We incurred costs for these services of $29.1 million and $23.8 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
Our investment portfolio is managed by Genworth. Under the terms of the investment management
agreement we are charged a fee by Genworth. All fees paid to Genworth are charged to investment
expense and are included in net investment income in the condensed consolidated statements of income.
The total investment expenses paid to Genworth were $2.9 million and $2.5 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
Our employees participate in certain benefit plans sponsored by Genworth and certain share-based
compensation plans that utilize shares of Genworth common stock and other incentive plans.
We provide certain information technology and administrative services (such as facilities and
maintenance) to Genworth. We charged Genworth $0.2 million and $0.7 million for these services for the
six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
We have a tax sharing agreement in place with Genworth, such that we participate in a single U.S.
consolidated income tax return filing. All intercompany balances related to this agreement are settled at
least annually.
The condensed consolidated financial statements include the following amounts due to and from
Genworth relating to recurring service and expense agreements as of June 30:
(Amounts in thousands)

2021

Amounts payable to Genworth.............................................................................. $
Amounts receivable from Genworth..................................................................... $
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2020

11,493 $

9,045

2,214 $

645

ENACT HOLDINGS, INC.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Six Months Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020
(Unaudited)
Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
The following tables present a rollforward of accumulated other comprehensive income:
Net unrealized
investment
gains (losses)

(Amounts in thousands)

Balance as of January 1, 2021, net of tax ..................................................... $
Cumulative effect of change in accounting, net of taxes..................................
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications..........................
Amounts reclassified (from) to other comprehensive income (loss)...............
Total other comprehensive income (loss)...........................................................
Balance as of June 30, 2021, net of tax ......................................................... $

208,378 $
281
(49,239)
434
(48,805)
159,854 $

Net unrealized
investment
gains (losses)

(Amounts in thousands)

Balance as of January 1, 2020, net of tax ..................................................... $
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications..........................
Amounts reclassified (from) to other comprehensive income (loss)...............
Total other comprehensive income (loss)...........................................................
Balance as of June 30, 2020, net of tax ......................................................... $

93,431 $
59,231
286
59,517
152,948 $

Total

208,378
281
(49,239)
434
(48,805)
159,854

Total

93,431
59,231
286
59,517
152,948

The following table presents the effect of the reclassifications of significant items out of accumulated
other comprehensive income on the respective line items of the consolidated statements of income, for
the six months ended June 30:
Amount reclassified from
accumulated other
comprehensive income
(Amounts in thousands)

Net unrealized gains (losses) on investments. $
Benefit (expense) from income taxes...............
(11)

2021

(549) $
115

2020

Affected line item in the condensed
consolidated statements of income

(361) Net investment gains (losses)
75 Provision for income taxes

Subsequent Events

In July 2021, GMICO received approval from the North Carolina Department of Insurance, our
domestic regulator, for a dividend of $200 million to be distributed at year-end 2021. However, if our initial
public offering is not completed prior to October 2021, the GSEs will likely reconsider the private
mortgage insurer eligibility requirements (“PMIERs”) capital requirements applicable to our business
which could, in turn, affect our ability to execute future dividends.
We considered subsequent events through the date on which the financial statements were issued,
August 6, 2021.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis of our consolidated financial condition and results of operations
should be read in conjunction with our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and
related notes for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, and our audited consolidated financial
statements and related notes for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 issued on March 23,
2021, except for Notes 15 and 16 as to which the date is May 3, 2021. This discussion includes forwardlooking statements and involves numerous risks, uncertainties and assumptions that could cause actual
results to differ materially from management’s expectations, all of which may be exacerbated by
COVID-19 and related developments. See “—Trends and Conditions” below. Factors that could cause
such differences are discussed in this section. For additional information, refer to the sections entitled
“Industry and Market Data,” “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements and Market Data”
and “Risk Factors.” We are not undertaking any obligation to update any forward-looking statements or
other statements we may make in the following discussion or elsewhere in this document even though
these statements may be affected by events or circumstances occurring after the forward-looking
statements or other statements were made. Future results could differ significantly from the historical
results presented in this section. References to EHI, the “Company,” “we” or “our” herein are, unless the
context otherwise requires, to EHI on a consolidated basis.
Overview of Business
We are a leading private mortgage insurance company, having served the United States housing
finance market since 1981, and operate in all 50 states and the District of Columbia. Our mortgage
insurance products provide credit protection to mortgage lenders, covering a portion of the unpaid
principal balance of Low-Down Payment Loans in the event of a default. We believe we have built a
leading platform based on long-tenured customer relationships, underwriting excellence and prudent risk
and capital management practices. Our business objective is to leverage our competitive strengths to
drive market share, maintain our strong capitalization and strong earnings profile and deliver attractive
risk-adjusted returns to our Parent and its stockholders.
We generate revenues by providing mortgage credit protection to our customers in exchange for
premiums, which we set based on our evaluation of the underlying risk we insure. Once the premium rate
is established and coverage is activated, the premium rate remains unchanged for the first ten years of
the policy; thereafter the premium rate resets to a lower rate used for the remaining life of the policy. In
general, we can only cancel coverage for a failure to pay premiums or at servicer direction when the
borrowers achieve the required amount of home equity. Our premium rate is applied predominantly to the
original loan balance to determine either a monthly payment that the lender adds to the borrower’s
monthly loan payment or a single upfront payment made by either the borrower or lender at loan closing.
The amount of premiums earned from our insurance portfolio and the timing of premium recognition are
also affected by persistency, which we measure as the percentage of loans that remain on our books
based on the annualized cancellations for the period.
We also employ a CRT program to transfer a portion of our risk through both traditional XOL
reinsurance arrangements and the issuance of MILNs. In exchange, we cede a negotiated amount of our
premiums to the reinsurers and MILN investors that participate in our CRT transactions. Our net
premiums earned (i.e., materially, the gross premiums charged less premiums ceded as part of our CRT
program) represent the largest source of our revenues. Importantly, our CRT program helps to de-risk our
operating model and spread the risk of loss across our counterparties while also providing capital relief.
We also invest our premiums in high quality, predominantly fixed income assets with the primary
business objectives of preserving capital, generating investment income and maintaining sufficient
liquidity to cover our operating expenses and pay future claims. The investment income generated
through our investment portfolio is another significant source of our revenues.
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We generate profits through collection of premiums less losses, operating expenses, interest
expense, and taxes. Our mortgage insurance coverage protects lenders against loss in the event of a
borrower default by covering a portion of the outstanding principal balance of a loan. In the event of a
borrower default, our coverage reduces and, in certain instances eliminates, losses to the insured by
transferring the covered portion of the economic loss to us. Borrower defaults are first reported to us as
new delinquencies when the borrower fails to make two consecutive monthly mortgage payments.
Incurred losses are our estimate of future claims on these new delinquencies as well as any change in the
prior estimates for previously existing delinquencies. In addition, incurred losses include estimates of
future claims on IBNR delinquencies. Our incurred losses are based on estimates of both the rate at
which delinquencies will go to claim (i.e., claim rate) and the ultimate claim amount (i.e., claim severity).
Claim frequency and severity estimates are established based on historical experience focusing on
certain delinquency and loan attributes that influence the probability and amount of ultimate claim. Our
estimates of ultimate claim amounts for each delinquency include loss adjustment expense (“LAE”) that
are costs incurred in the settlement of the claim process such as legal fees and costs to record, process
and adjust claims. Incurred losses are generally affected by macroeconomic conditions, borrower credit
quality, certain loan attributes, underwriting quality and our loss mitigation efforts among other factors
detailed below.
Key Factors Affecting Our Results
Our financial position and results of operations depend to a significant extent on the following factors,
each of which may be affected by COVID-19 as noted below in “—Trends and Conditions.”
Mortgage Origination Volume
The level of mortgage origination volume is a key driver of our future revenues. The overall mortgage
origination market is influenced by macroeconomic factors such as the rate of economic growth, the
unemployment rate, interest rates, home affordability, household savings rates, the inventory of unsold
homes, demographics of potential homebuyers and credit availability. The mortgage origination market is
also influenced by various legislative and regulatory actions and GSE programs and policies that impact
the housing and mortgage finance industries.
Penetration
The penetration rate of private mortgage insurance is mainly influenced by the competitiveness of
private mortgage insurance compared to alternative products for Low-Down Payment Loans provided by
government agencies (principally the FHA and the VA), portfolio lenders that self-insure, reinsurers and
capital market transactions designed to mitigate risk. In addition, the private mortgage insurance
industry’s penetration rate is driven by the relative percentage of purchase mortgage originations versus
refinances. Private mortgage insurance penetration tends to be significantly higher on new mortgages for
purchased homes than on the refinance of existing mortgages, because average LTV ratios are typically
higher on home purchases and therefore are more likely to require mortgage insurance. Lastly, we
believe the penetration rate of private mortgage insurance is influenced by other factors, including lender
preference, FHA competitiveness and risk appetite, loan limits, contractual terms including cancellability
and loss mitigation practices.
Credit and Regulatory Environment
The level of private mortgage insurance market penetration (“market penetration”) and eventual
market size is affected in part by actions taken by the GSEs and the United States government, including
the FHA, the FHFA and Congress, that impact housing or housing finance policy. In the past, these
actions have included announced changes, or potential changes, to underwriting standards, FHA pricing,
GSE guaranty fees and loan limits, as well as low-down payment programs available through the FHA or
GSEs.
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Competition and Market Share
Competitors include other private mortgage insurers that are eligible to write business for the GSEs.
We compete with other private mortgage insurers based on pricing, underwriting guidelines, customer
relationships, service levels, policy terms, loss mitigation practices, perceived financial strength (including
comparative credit ratings), reputation, strength of management, product features and technology easeof-use. We also compete with governmental agencies (principally the FHA and the VA) primarily based on
price and underwriting guidelines.
Pricing is highly competitive in the mortgage insurance industry, with industry participants competing
for market share, customer relationships and overall value. Recent pricing trends have introduced an
increasing number of loan, borrower, lender and property attributes, resulting in expanded granularity in
pricing regimes and a shift from traditional published rate cards to dynamic pricing engines that better
align price and risk. Our risk-based pricing engine, GenRATE, was developed using One Analytical
Framework, which evaluates returns and volatility under both the PMIERs capital framework and our
internal economic capital framework, which is sensitive to economic cycles and current housing market
conditions. The model assesses the performance of new business under expected and stress scenarios
on an individualized loan basis, which is used to determine pricing and inform our risk selection strategy
that optimizes economic value by balancing return and volatility.
Seasonality
Consistent with the seasonality of home sales, purchase mortgage origination volumes typically
increase in late spring and peak during summer months, leading to a rise in NIW volume during the
second and third quarters of a given year. Refinancing volume, however, does not follow a similar
seasonal trend and instead is primarily influenced by interest rates, which can overwhelm typical seasonal
trends. Delinquency performance (new delinquency formation and cure behavior) is generally favorable in
the first and second quarters of the year. Therefore, we typically experience lower levels of losses
resulting from favorable delinquency activity in the first and second quarters, as typically compared to the
third and fourth quarters. As the COVID-19 pandemic and United States housing market continue to
evolve, we may see varying levels of delinquencies and cures from period to period.
The following table presents our NIW, number of cures and new delinquencies for primary policies,
excluding our run-off insurance block with reference properties in Mexico, for the periods indicated:
Seasonality

Three Months Ended

(Dollar amounts in
Millions)

Jun 30,
2019

Sep 30,
2019

Dec 31,
2019

Mar 31,
2020

Jun 30,
2020

Sep 30,
2020

Dec 31,
2020

Mar 31,
2021

Jun 30,
2021

NIW..............................

$15,790

$18,835

$18,170

$17,908

$28,396

$26,550

$27,017

$24,934

$26,657

% Change...................

63.9%

19.3%

(3.5)%

(1.4)%

58.6%

(6.5)%

1.8%

(7.7)%

6.9%

Cure Counts................

7,791

7,382

7,464

8,649

9,795

20,404

16,548

13,478

14,466

% Change...................

(10.7)%

(5.3)%

1.1%

15.9%

13.3%

108.3%

(18.9)%

(18.6)%

7.3%

New Delinquency
Count.....................

7,606

8,547

8,659

8,114

48,373

16,664

11,923

10,053

6,862

% Change...................

(9.7)%

12.4%

1.3%

(6.3)%

496.2%

(65.6)%

(28.5)%

(15.7)%

(31.7)%

NIW
NIW occurs when a lender activates mortgage insurance coverage on a closed mortgage loan. NIW
increases our IIF, premiums written, and premiums earned. NIW is affected by the overall size of the
mortgage origination market, the penetration rate of private mortgage insurance into the overall mortgage
origination market and our market share of the private mortgage insurance market.
Pricing
Our pricing strategy is designed to charge premium rates commensurate with the underlying risk of
each loan we insure. GenRATE provides us with a more flexible, granular and analytical approach to
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selecting and pricing risk. Using GenRATE, we can quickly change price to modify our risk selection
levels, respond to industry pricing trends or adjust to changing economic conditions. We believe that
GenRATE, powered by our proprietary risk model and our understanding of mortgage risk volatility,
provides us with a highly sophisticated pricing regime that improves our risk selection and is designed to
yield attractive risk adjusted returns through credit cycles.
IIF
IIF at the time of origination is used to determine premiums as the premium rate is expressed as a
percentage of IIF. IIF is one of the primary drivers of our future earned premium. Based on the
composition of our insurance portfolio, with monthly premium policies comprising a larger proportion of
our total portfolio than single premium policies, an increase or decrease in IIF generally has a
corresponding impact on premiums earned. Cancellations of our insurance policies as a result of
prepayments and other reductions of IIF, such as rescissions of coverage and claims paid, generally have
a negative effect on premiums earned.
Persistency Rate and Business Mix
The percentage of IIF that remains insured by us after taking into account annualized cancellations
for the period presented is defined as our persistency rate. Because our insurance premiums are earned
over the life of a policy, higher or lower persistency rates can have a significant impact on our profitability.
Loan prepayment speeds and the relative mix of business between single premium policies and
monthly premium policies also impact our profitability. Assuming all other factors remain constant over the
life of the policies, prepayment speeds have an inverse impact on IIF and the expected premium from our
monthly policies. Slower prepayment speeds, demonstrated by a higher persistency rate, result in IIF
remaining in place, providing increased premium from monthly policies over time as premium payments
continue. Earlier than anticipated prepayments, demonstrated by a lower persistency rate, reduce IIF and
the premium from our monthly policies.
The following table presents the weighted average mortgage interest rate on outstanding primary IIF
as of June 30, 2021, excluding our run-off business. Prepayment speeds may be affected by changes in
interest rates, among other factors. An increasing interest rate environment generally will reduce
refinancing activity and result in lower prepayments. A declining interest rate environment generally will
increase refinancing activity and increase prepayments.
Weighted
average
rate (1)

Policy Year

2004 and prior....................................................................................................................................
2005 to 2008......................................................................................................................................
2009 to 2013......................................................................................................................................
2014....................................................................................................................................................
2015....................................................................................................................................................
2016....................................................................................................................................................
2017....................................................................................................................................................
2018....................................................................................................................................................
2019....................................................................................................................................................
2020....................................................................................................................................................
2021....................................................................................................................................................
Total portfolio .................................................................................................................................

6.18%
5.55%
4.25%
4.48%
4.16%
3.88%
4.26%
4.78%
4.20%
3.26%
3.01%
3.65%

______________
(1) Average Annual Mortgage Interest Rate weighted by IIF; In the fourth quarter of 2020, we revised the
presentation of our primary insurance in-force to represent the aggregate unpaid principal balance for loans we
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insure. Prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. Original loan
balances are primarily used to determine premiums.

In contrast to monthly premium policies, when single premium policies are cancelled by the insured
because the loan has been paid off or otherwise, any remaining unearned premiums are earned at
cancellation. Although these cancellations reduce IIF, assuming all other factors remain constant, the
profitability of our single premium business increases when persistency rates are lower. As of June 30,
2021 and 2020, single premium policies comprised 13% and 17% of IIF, respectively.
Credit Quality
Improved analytics, stronger loan manufacturing quality controls, and the regulatory implementation
of the QM Rule have resulted in a significant improvement in the credit quality for loans originated in the
private mortgage insurance market over time. Additionally, private mortgage insurers and the GSEs have
maintained strong credit standards over the past decade, with average FICO scores for NIW persisting at
levels significantly above historical averages. As a result, the industry is insuring loans from borrowers
who should be better positioned to meet their mortgage obligations. More recently, in response to FTHB
demand, there has been modest credit expansion that accommodates LTV over 95% and higher DTI
ratios. Even after this expansion, private mortgage insurers and the GSEs have maintained strong credit
standards well above historical norms.
Net Investment Income
Net investment income is determined primarily by the invested assets held and the average yield on
our overall investment portfolio.
Net Investment Gains (Losses)
The recognition of realized investment gains or losses can vary significantly across periods as the
activity is highly discretionary based on such factors as market opportunities, our capital profile and
overall market cycles that impact the timing of selling securities.
Losses Incurred
Losses incurred represent current payments and changes in the estimated future payments on claims
that result from delinquent loans. We estimate an expense only for delinquent loans as explained in Note
2 to our consolidated financial statements. Incurred losses depend to a significant extent on the following
factors, each of which in turn may be affected by COVID-19 as noted below in “—Trends and Conditions.”
•

deterioration of regional or national economic conditions leading to a reduction in borrowers’
income and thus their ability to make mortgage payments;

•

legislative, regulatory or GSE action, or executive orders permitting or mandating forbearance or
a moratorium on foreclosures or evictions due to events such as natural disasters or COVID-19;

•

a drop in housing values that could expose us to greater loss on resale of properties obtained
through foreclosure proceedings and an adverse change in the effectiveness of loss mitigation
actions that could result in an increase in the frequency of expected claim rates;

•

a drop in housing values that negatively impacts a borrower’s willingness to continue mortgage
payments, potentially leading to higher delinquencies and ultimately claims;

•

if the foreclosure occurs in a state that imposes judicial process, which generally increases the
amount of time it takes for a foreclosure to be completed, which impacts severity of the claim;

•

the credit characteristics in our in-force portfolio, as loans with higher risk characteristics
generally result in more delinquencies and claims;
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•

the size of loans we insure, as loans with relatively higher average loan amounts generally result
in higher incurred losses;

•

the coverage percentage on insured loans, as loans with higher percentages of insurance
coverage generally correlate with higher incurred losses;

•

the level and amount of reinsurance coverage maintained with third parties; and

•

the distribution of claims over the life of a book. Historically, the first few years after origination
have relatively low claims, with claims increasing for several years subsequently and then
declining. However, persistency, the condition of the economy, including unemployment and
housing prices, and other factors can affect this pattern.

Credit Risk Transfer
We use CRT transactions to transfer a portion of our risk to third parties, through both traditional XOL
reinsurance and the issuance of MILNs. Our CRT program reduces the volatility of our in-force portfolio
and provides capital relief under PMIERs. When we enter into a CRT transaction, the reinsurer receives a
premium and, in exchange, insures an agreed upon portion of incurred losses. These arrangements have
the impact of reducing our earned premiums but also provide capital relief under PMIERs in exchange for
a negotiated ceded premium rate. Under certain stress scenarios, our incurred losses are also reduced by
any incurred losses ceded in accordance with our reinsurance agreements.
Operating Expenses
Our operating expenses include costs related to the acquisition and ongoing maintenance of our
insurance contracts, including sales, underwriting and general operating costs. Acquisition expenses are
influenced by the amount of our NIW. Acquisition costs that are related directly to the successful
acquisition of new insurance policies, such as underwriting expenses, are deferred and amortized over
the life of the underlying insurance policies. These deferred acquisition costs are referred to as “DAC.”
The ongoing maintenance expenses of our insurance contracts are generally fixed in nature and include
costs such as information technology, finance and legal, among others, including costs allocated from our
Parent for certain activities on our behalf. See Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements regarding
our related party transactions.
Critical Accounting Estimates
The accounting estimates (including sensitivities) discussed in this section are those that we consider
to be particularly critical to an understanding of our consolidated financial statements because their
application places the most significant demands on our ability to judge the effect of inherently uncertain
matters on our financial results. The sensitivities included in this section involve matters that are also
inherently uncertain and involve the exercise of significant judgment in selecting the factors and amounts
used in the sensitivities. Small changes in the amounts used in the sensitivities or the use of different
factors could result in materially different outcomes from those reflected in the sensitivities. For all of
these accounting estimates, we caution that future events seldom develop as estimated and
management’s best estimates often require adjustment.
Loss Reserves
Loss reserves represents the amount needed to provide for the estimated ultimate cost of settling
claims relating to insured events that have occurred on or before the end of the respective reporting
period. The estimated liability includes requirements for future payments of: (a) losses that have been
reported to the insurer; (b) losses related to insured events that have occurred but that have not been
reported to the insurer as of the date the liability is estimated; and (c) loss adjustment expenses (“LAE”).
Loss adjustment expenses include costs incurred in the claim settlement process such as legal fees and
costs to record, process and adjust claims. Consistent with U.S. GAAP and industry accounting practices,
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we do not establish loss reserves for future claims on insured loans that are not in default or believed to
be in default.
Estimates and actuarial assumptions used for establishing loss reserves involve the exercise of
significant judgment, and changes in assumptions or deviations of actual experience from assumptions
can have material impacts on our loss reserves and net income (loss). Because these assumptions relate
to factors that are not known in advance, change over time, are difficult to accurately predict and are
inherently uncertain, we cannot determine with precision the ultimate amounts we will pay for actual
claims or the timing of those payments. The sources of uncertainty affecting the estimates are numerous
and include factors internal and external to us. Internal factors include, but are not limited to, changes in
the mix of exposures, loss mitigation activities and claim settlement practices. Significant external
influences include changes in home prices, unemployment, government housing policies, state
foreclosure timeline, general economic conditions, interest rates, tax policy, credit availability, and
mortgage products. Small changes in assumptions or small deviations of actual experience from
assumptions can have, and in the past have had, material impacts on our reserves, results of operations
and financial condition.
We establish reserves to recognize the estimated liability for losses and LAE related to defaults on
insured mortgage loans. Loss reserves are established by estimating the number of loans in our inventory
of delinquent loans that will result in a claim payment, which is referred to as the claim rate, and further
estimating the amount of the claim payment, which is referred to as claim severity. The estimates are
determined using a factor-based approach, in which assumptions of claim rates for loans in default and
the average amount paid for loans that result in a claim are calculated using traditional actuarial
techniques. Over time, as the status of the underlying delinquent loans moves toward foreclosure and the
likelihood of the associated claim loss increases, the amount of the loss reserves associated with the
potential claims may also increase.
Management monitors actual experience, and where circumstances warrant, will revise its
assumptions. Our liability for loss reserves is reviewed regularly, with changes in our estimates of future
claims recorded through net income. Estimation of losses are based on historical claim and cure
experience and covered exposures and is inherently judgmental. Future developments may result in
losses greater or less than the liability for loss reserves provided.
In considering the potential sensitivity of the factors underlying management’s best estimate of our
loss reserve, it is possible that even a relatively small change in the estimated claim and severity rates
could have a significant impact on loss reserves and, correspondingly, on results of operations. For
example, based on our actual experience during the three-year period immediately preceding June 30,
2021, a quarterly change of 16%, or a 5-basis point change, in the average claim rate would change the
gross loss reserve amount for such quarter by approximately $98 million. Likewise, a quarterly change of
5%, or a 5-basis point change, in the average severity rate would change the gross loss reserve amount
for such quarter by approximately $28 million.
Investments
Valuation of Fixed Maturity Securities
Our portfolio of fixed maturity securities comprises primarily investment grade securities, which are
carried at fair value. Estimates of fair values for fixed maturity securities are obtained primarily from
industry-standard pricing methodologies utilizing market observable inputs. For our less liquid securities,
such as our privately placed securities, we utilize independent market data to employ alternative valuation
methods commonly used in the financial services industry to estimate fair value. Based on the market
observability of the inputs used in estimating the fair value, the pricing level is assigned.
See Notes 2, 3 and 4 to our consolidated financial statements for additional information related to the
valuation of fixed maturity securities and a description of the fair value measurement estimates and level
assignments.
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Other-Than-Temporary Impairments on Available-For-Sale Securities
As of each balance sheet date, we evaluate fixed maturity securities in an unrealized loss position for
other-than-temporary impairments. We consider all available information relevant to the collectability of
the security, including information about past events, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable
forecasts, when developing the estimate of cash flows expected to be collected.
See Note 2 and 3 to our consolidated financial statements for additional information related to otherthan-temporary impairments on fixed maturity securities.
Investment in Unconsolidated Affiliate
Prior to December 12, 2019, we held 14.1 million, or approximately 16.4%, of the outstanding
common shares of Genworth MI Canada Inc. (“Genworth Canada”), a publicly traded company on the
Toronto Stock Exchange. We concluded that we had significant influence over Genworth Canada
primarily due to board representation, and therefore, classified our investment in Genworth Canada as an
equity method investment.
We elected to account for the investment in Genworth Canada under the fair value option because
the investment had a readily determinable fair value. Accordingly, the investment was recorded at fair
value, and changes in the fair value of the investment for each reporting period were recorded in the
consolidated statements of income. The change in fair value of the investment in Genworth Canada,
including dividends and the sale of common shares, was $127.4 million in 2019 and was included within
change in fair value of unconsolidated affiliate in the consolidated statements of income, net of provision
for income taxes of $12.1 million in 2019.
On December 12, 2019, we completed the sale of our investment in Genworth Canada to an affiliate
of Brookfield Business Partners L.P. and received approximately $501.8 million in net cash proceeds.
Revenue Recognition
The majority of our insurance contracts have recurring monthly premiums. We recognize recurring
premiums over the terms of the related insurance policy on a pro-rata basis. Premiums written on single
premium policies and annual premium policies are initially deferred as unearned premium reserve and
earned over the policy life. A portion of the revenue from single premium policies is recognized in
premiums earned in the current period, and the remaining portion is deferred as unearned premiums and
earned over the estimated expiration of risk of the policy. If single premium policies are cancelled and the
premium is non-refundable, then the remaining unearned premium related to each cancelled policy is
recognized to earned premiums upon notification of the cancellation. For borrower-paid mortgage
insurance, coverage ceases at the earlier of prepayment, or when the original principal is amortized to a
78% loan-to-value ratio in accordance with the Homeowners Protection Act of 1998.
We periodically review our premium earnings recognition models with any adjustments to the
estimates reflected as a cumulative adjustment on a retrospective basis in current period net income.
These reviews include the consideration of recent and projected loss and policy cancellation experience,
and adjustments to the estimated earnings patterns are made, if warranted. In 2019, the review resulted
in an increase in earned premiums of $13.7 million.
Changes in market conditions could cause a decline in mortgage originations, mortgage insurance
penetration rates, persistency and our market share, all of which could impact new insurance written. For
example, a decline in primary new insurance written of $1.0 billion would result in a reduction in earned
premiums of approximately $4 million in the first full year. Likewise, if primary persistency rates declined
on our existing insurance in-force by 10%, earned premiums would decline by approximately $101 million
during the first full year, partially offset by higher policy cancellations in our single premium products.
These reductions in earned premiums could be potentially offset by lower reserves due to policies no
longer being in-force.
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Trends and Conditions
The United States economy and consumer confidence improved in the first six months of 2021
compared to the first six months of 2020 as state economies reopened in varying degrees; however,
certain geographies and industries have experienced slower recoveries because of the virus, the
mitigation steps taken to control its spread or changed consumer behavior. The unemployment rate was
elevated at 5.9% in June 2021 compared to the pre-pandemic level of 3.5% in February 2020 but has
decreased from a peak of 14.8% in April 2020. Even after the continued recovery in the first six months of
2021, the number of unemployed Americans stands at approximately 9.5 million, which is 3.8 million
higher than in February 2020. Among the unemployed, those on temporary layoff continued to decrease
to 1.8 million from a peak of 18 million in April 2020, and the number of permanent job losses decreased
to approximately 3.2 million. In addition, the number of long term unemployed over 26 weeks has begun
to decrease since March 2021, falling to approximately 4.0 million in June 2021. Specific to housing
finance, mortgage origination activity remained robust in the first six months of 2021 fueled by refinance
activity and strong home sales. Refinance activity remained robust and the purchase market remained
strong, but sales of previously owned homes were down 14% in May 2021 after reaching a post-2006
peak in the fourth quarter of 2020. Total unsold inventory of single-family homes remains low at a 2.5month supply as of June 2021, which continues to drive home prices higher, increasing our average loan
amount on NIW. While interest rates modestly rose during the second quarter of 2021, they remain at
historically low levels and served as an offset to rising prices to allow continued affordability for borrowers.
The pandemic continued to affect our financial results in the first six months of 2021, but to a lesser
extent than in the last six months of 2020, as we experienced elevated, but declining, servicer reported
deferred or reduced payments (“forbearance”), while new delinquencies during the second quarter of
2021 returned to pre-pandemic levels.
The impact of COVID-19 on our future business results is difficult to predict. We have performed and
have periodically revised our scenario planning to help us better understand and tailor our actions to help
mitigate the potential adverse effects of the pandemic on our financial results. While our current financial
results to date fall within the range of our current scenarios, the ultimate outcomes and impact on our
business will depend on the spread and length of the pandemic. Of similar importance will be the amount,
type and duration of government stimulus and its impact on borrowers, regulatory and government
actions to support housing and the economy, uptake of the vaccine, spread mitigating actions to curb an
increase in cases, the possible resurgence of the virus and variants in the future and the shape of
economic recovery. It is difficult to predict how long borrowers will need to use forbearance to assist them
during the pandemic. Given the length of time current forbearance plans may be extended, the resolution
of a delinquency in a plan, whether it ultimately results in a cure or a claim, is difficult to estimate and may
not be known for several quarters, if not longer. We continue to monitor COVID-19 developments and
regulatory and government actions. However, given the specific risks to our business, it is possible the
pandemic could have a significant adverse impact on our future results of operations and financial
condition.
Specific to housing finance, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (“CARES”) Act
requires mortgage servicers to provide up to 180 days of forbearance for borrowers with a federally
backed mortgage loan who assert they have experienced a financial hardship related to COVID-19.
Forbearance may be extended for an additional 180 days up to a year in total or shortened at the request
of the borrower. In addition, on February 25, 2021, the FHFA announced that borrowers with a mortgage
backed by the GSEs who are in an active COVID-19 forbearance plan as of February 28, 2021 may
request up to two additional forbearance extensions for a maximum of 18 months of total forbearance
relief. In addition, the CARES Act provides that furnishers of credit reporting information, including
servicers, should continue to report a loan as current to credit reporting agencies if the loan is subject to a
payment accommodation, such as forbearance, so long as the borrower abides by the terms of the
accommodation. Servicer reported forbearance slowed meaningfully beginning in June 2020 and ended
the second quarter of 2021 with approximately 3.9% or 36,271 of our active primary policies reported in a
forbearance plan, of which approximately 59% were reported as delinquent. It is difficult to predict the
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future level of reported forbearance and how many of the policies in a forbearance plan that remain
current on their monthly mortgage payment will go delinquent.
The foreclosure moratorium for mortgages that are purchased by the GSEs expired on July 31, 2021.
However, on June 28, 2021 the CFPB issued a final rule to amend Regulation X of the Real Estate
Settlement Procedures Act effective August 31, 2021 to assist mortgage borrowers affected by the
COVID-19 emergency. The final rule establishes temporary procedural changes that require a loss
mitigation review prior to a servicer’s first notice or foreclosure filing on certain mortgages. On June 29,
2021, the FHFA announced that servicers are immediately prohibited from making a first notice or
foreclosure filing for mortgages backed by the GSEs that would be prohibited by the CFPB Regulation X
Final Rule before it takes effect on August 31, 2021. These announcements generally prohibit servicers
from starting foreclosures on mortgages purchased by the GSEs until after December 31, 2021.
Private mortgage insurance market penetration (“market penetration”) and eventual market size are
affected in part by actions that impact housing or housing finance policy taken by the GSEs and the U.S.
government, including but not limited to, the Federal Housing Administration (“FHA”) and the FHFA. In the
past, these actions have included announced changes, or potential changes, to underwriting standards,
including changes to the GSEs’ automated underwriting systems, FHA pricing, GSE guaranty fees, loan
limits and alternative products. On December 17, 2020, the FHFA published the Enterprise Capital
Framework, which includes significantly higher regulatory capital requirements for the GSEs over current
requirements. Higher GSE capital requirements could ultimately lead to increased costs to borrowers of
GSE loans, which in turn could shift the market away from the GSEs to the FHA or lender portfolios. Such
a shift could result in a smaller market for private mortgage insurance. In conjunction with preparing to
release the GSEs from conservatorship, on January 14, 2021, the FHFA and the Treasury Department
agreed to amend the Preferred Stock Purchase Agreements (“PSPAs”) between the Treasury
Department and each of the GSEs to increase the amount of capital each GSE may retain. In addition,
among other things, the PSPAs limit the number of certain mortgages the GSEs may acquire with two or
more prescribed risk factors, including certain mortgages with combined loan-to-value (“LTV”) ratios
above 90%. Because these limits are based on the current market size, we do not expect any material
impact to the private mortgage market in the near term. As previously disclosed, the CFPB’s Qualified
Mortgage (“QM”) regulations also include a temporary category (the “QM Patch”) for mortgages that
comply with certain prohibitions and limitations and meet the GSE underwriting and product guidelines.
Mortgages that meet certain requirements are deemed to be QMs until the earlier of the time in which the
GSEs exit the FHFA conservatorship or the mandatory compliance date of the final amendments to the
CFPB’s rule defining what constitutes a QM (the “QM Rule”). The CFPB also announced it was
reconsidering the QM Rule and would also propose a rule to delay the July 1, 2021 mandatory
compliance date of the amended QM Rule. On April 27, 2021, the CFPB promulgated a final rule delaying
the mandatory compliance date of the amended QM Rule until October 1, 2022. As provided under the
final rule, the prior 43% debt-to-income-based QM Rule definition, the new price-based average prime
offer rate (“APOR”) definition and the QM Patch will all remain available to lenders for loan applications
received prior to October 1, 2022. However, on April 8, 2021, the GSEs issued notices stating that due to
the requirements of the PSPAs they would only acquire loans that meet the new price-based APOR
definition set forth under the amended QM Rule for applications received on or after July 1, 2021. We
believe that loans which previously qualified under the 43% DTI-based QM Rule definition and the QM
Patch will continue to qualify under the new price-based APOR definition, and therefore, we expect little
impact from this change. For more information about the potential future impact, see “Risk Factors—Risks
Relating to Our Business—Changes to the role of the GSEs or to the charters or business practices of the
GSEs, including actions or decisions to decrease or discontinue the use of mortgage insurance, could
adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition” and “Risk Factors—Risks
Relating to Our Business—The amount of mortgage insurance we write could decline significantly if
alternatives to private mortgage insurance are used or lower coverage levels of mortgage insurance are
selected.”
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Estimated mortgage origination volume increased during the first six months of 2021 compared to the
first six months of 2020 primarily from higher purchase originations and from higher refinance origination
volumes driven by low interest rates. The estimated private mortgage insurance available market increase
was mostly attributable to higher purchase and refinance originations.
Our primary persistency decreased to 59% during the first six months of 2021 compared to 66%
during the first six months of 2020. The decrease in persistency was primarily driven by continued
historically low interest rates. Low persistency has impacted business performance trends in several ways
including, but not limited to, offsetting insurance in-force (“IIF”) growth from NIW, elevated single premium
policy cancellations resulting in acceleration of premiums, accelerating the amortization of our existing
reinsurance transactions reducing their associated Private Mortgage Insurer Eligibility Requirements
(“PMIERs”) capital credit in the current year and shifting the concentration of our primary IIF to more
recent years of policy origination. As of June 30, 2021, our primary IIF has less than 10% concentration in
2014 and prior book years. Our 2005 through 2008 book year concentration is approximately 4%. In
contrast, our 2020 book year represents 38% of our primary IIF concentration while our 2021 book year is
23% as of June 30, 2021. The 2020 and 2021 book years are characterized by high credit quality with
strong underwriting standards.
NIW of $51.6 billion in the first six months of 2021 increased 11% compared to the first six months of
2020 primarily due to higher mortgage purchase and refinancing originations and a larger private
mortgage insurance market, partially offset by our lower estimated market share in 2021. The U.S. private
mortgage insurance industry is highly competitive. Our market share is influenced by the execution of our
go to market strategy, including but not limited to, pricing competitiveness relative to our peers and our
selective participation in forward commitment transactions. Our market share remains impacted by the
negative ratings differential relative to our competitors, concerns expressed about our Parent’s financial
condition and the execution of its strategic plans. We continue to manage the quality of new business
through pricing and our underwriting guidelines, which we modify from time to time when circumstances
warrant. We see the market and underwriting conditions, including the pricing environment, as being well
within our risk adjusted return appetite enabling us to write new business at attractive, low-to-mid teen
returns. Ultimately, we expect our first six months of new insurance written with its strong credit profile
and attractive pricing to positively contribute to our future profitability and return on equity.
Net earned premiums increased in the first six months of 2021 compared to the first six months of
2020 primarily from growth in our IIF, partially offset by higher ceded premiums, continued lapse of our
older, higher priced policies in the current low interest rate environment and a decrease in single premium
policy cancellations. The total number of delinquent loans has declined from the COVID-19 peak in the
second quarter of 2020 but remains elevated compared to pre-COVID-19 levels. During this time and
consistent with prior years, servicers continued the practice of remitting premiums during the early stages
of default. Additionally, we have a business practice of refunding the post-delinquent premiums to the
insured party if the delinquent loan goes to claim. We record a liability and a reduction to net earned
premiums for the post-delinquent premiums we expect to refund. The post-delinquent premium liability
recorded during 2020 and the first six months of 2021 associated with delinquent loans was not
significant to the change in earned premiums for those periods as a result of the high concentration of
new delinquencies being subject to a servicer reported forbearance plan and the lower estimated rate at
which delinquencies go to claim (“claim rates”) for these loans. The post-default premium liability
increased by $4 million in the first six months of 2021 driven in large part by the continued receipt of
premiums while in delinquency.
This was partially offset by the continued decline in overall
delinquencies. The total liability for all delinquencies was $13 million as of June 30, 2021. As a result of
COVID-19, certain state insurance regulators required or requested the provision of grace periods of
varying lengths to insureds in the event of non-payment of premium. Regulators differed greatly in their
approaches but generally focused on the avoidance of cancellation of coverage for non-payment. While
most of these requirements and requests have lapsed, it is possible that some or all of them could be reissued in the event of declarations of new states of emergency that might result from worsening pandemic
conditions. We currently comply with all state regulatory requirements. If timely payment is not made,
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future premiums could decrease and the certificate of insurance could be subject to cancellation after 60
days, or such longer time as required under applicable law.
Our loss reserves continue to be negatively impacted by COVID-19. Borrowers who have
experienced a financial hardship including, but not limited to, the loss of income due to the closing of a
business or the loss of a job have taken advantage of available forbearance programs and payment
deferral options. During the peak of the pandemic we experienced elevated new delinquencies which may
ultimately cure at a higher rate than traditional delinquencies should economic activity return to preCOVID-19 levels. Unlike a hurricane where the natural disaster occurs at a point in time and the rebuild
starts soon after, COVID-19 is an ongoing health crisis and we do not know when it will end, making it
more difficult to determine the effectiveness of forbearance and the resulting claim rates for new
delinquencies in forbearance plans. Given this difference, our prior hurricane experience was leveraged
as one of many considerations in the establishment of an appropriate claim rate estimate for new
delinquencies in forbearance plans that have emerged as a result of COVID-19. Severity of loss on loans
that do go to claim may be positively impacted by home price appreciation, however it may be negatively
impacted by the extended forbearance timeline, the associated elevated expenses, the higher loan
amount of the recent new delinquencies and if current home price appreciation reversed in the future. For
loans insured on or after October 1, 2014, our mortgage insurance policies limit the number of months of
unpaid interest and associated expenses that are included in the mortgage insurance claim amount to a
maximum of 36 months.
Our loss ratio for the six months ended June 30, 2021 was 17% as compared to 53% for the six
months ended June 30, 2020. The decrease was largely from lower new delinquencies from the
improving economy. New primary delinquencies of 16,915 contributed $74 million of loss expense in the
first six months of 2021. In determining the loss expense estimate, considerations were given to
forbearance and non-forbearance delinquencies as well as the ongoing economic impact due to the
pandemic. This compares to $197 million of loss expense from 56,487 new primary delinquencies in the
first six months of 2020. In the prior year we strengthened existing reserves by $28 million primarily driven
by the deterioration of early cure emergence patterns impacting claim frequency along with a modest
increase in claim severity. During the first six months of 2021, reserves were strengthened by $10 million
primarily due to our expectation that pre-COVID-19 delinquencies will have a modestly higher claim rate
than our prior best estimate given the slower emergence of cures to date. Additionally, the prior year
included additional reserves of $28 million for incurred but not reported delinquencies. Approximately 50%
of our primary new delinquencies in the first six months of 2021 were subject to a forbearance plan as
compared to less than 5% in recent quarters prior to COVID-19.
As of June 30, 2021, GMICO’s risk-to-capital (“RTC”) ratio under the current regulatory framework as
established under North Carolina law and enforced by the North Carolina Department of Insurance
(“NCDOI”), GMICO’s domestic insurance regulator, was approximately 12.0:1, compared with a RTC ratio
of 11.9:1 as of March 31, 2021. GMICO’s RTC ratio remains below the NCDOI’s maximum RTC ratio of
25:1. North Carolina’s calculation of RTC excludes the risk in-force (“RIF”) for delinquent loans given the
established loss reserves against all delinquencies. As a result, we do not expect any immediate, material
pressure to GMICO’s RTC ratio in the short term as a result of COVID-19. GMICO’s ongoing RTC ratio
will depend principally on the magnitude of future losses incurred by GMICO, the effectiveness of ongoing
loss mitigation activities, new business volume and profitability, the amount of policy lapses and the
amount of additional capital that is generated or distributed by the business or capital support provided.
Under PMIERs, we are subject to operational and financial requirements that private mortgage
insurers must meet in order to remain eligible to insure loans that are purchased by the GSEs. On June
29, 2020, the GSEs issued the “PMIERs Amendment.” In September 2020, the GSEs issued an amended
and restated version of the PMIERs Amendment that became effective retroactively on June 30, 2020
and included a new reporting requirement that became effective on December 31, 2020. On December 4,
2020, the GSEs issued a revised and restated version of the PMIERs Amendment that revised and
replaced the version issued in September 2020. The December 4, 2020 version extended the application
of reduced PMIERs capital factors to each non-performing loan that has an initial missed monthly
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payment occurring on or after March 1, 2020 and prior to April 1, 2021 and extended the capital
preservation period from March 31, 2021 to June 30, 2021. On June 30, 2021, the GSEs issued a revised
and restated version of the PMIERs Amendment that replaced the version issued on December 4, 2020.
The June 30, 2021 version allows loans that enter a forbearance plan due to a COVID-19 hardship on or
after April 1, 2021 to remain eligible for extended application of the reduced PMIERs capital factor for so
long as the loan remains in forbearance. The June 30, 2021 version also extends the capital preservation
period through December 31, 2021 with certain exceptions, as described below.
The PMIERs Amendment implemented both permanent and temporary revisions to PMIERs. For
loans that became non-performing due to a COVID-19 hardship, PMIERs was permanently amended with
respect to each non-performing loan that (i) has an initial missed monthly payment occurring on or after
March 1, 2020 and prior to April 1, 2021 or (ii) is subject to a forbearance plan granted in response to a
financial hardship related to COVID-19, the terms of which are materially consistent with terms of
forbearance plans offered by the GSEs. The risk-based required asset amount factor for the nonperforming loan will be the greater of (a) the applicable risk-based required asset amount factor for a
performing loan were it not delinquent, and (b) the product of a 0.30 multiplier and the applicable riskbased required asset amount factor for a non-performing loan. In the case of (i) above, absent the loan
being subject to a forbearance plan described in (ii) above, the 0.30 multiplier will be applicable for no
longer than three calendar months beginning with the month in which the loan became a non-performing
loan due to having missed two monthly payments. Loans subject to a forbearance plan described in (ii)
above include those that are either in a repayment plan or loan modification trial period following the
forbearance plan unless reported to the approved insurer that the loan is no longer in such forbearance
plan, repayment plan, or loan modification trial period. The PMIERs Amendment also imposed temporary
capital preservation provisions through December 31, 2021 that require an approved insurer to meet
certain PMIERs minimum required asset buffers (150% in the third quarter of 2021 and 115% in the fourth
quarter of 2021) or otherwise obtain prior written GSE approval before paying any dividends, pledging or
transferring assets to an affiliate or entering into any new, or altering any existing, arrangements under
tax sharing and intercompany expense-sharing agreements, even if such insurer had a surplus of
available assets. In addition, the PMIERs Amendment imposes permanent revisions to the risk-based
required asset amount factor for non-performing loans for properties located in future Federal Emergency
Management Agency (“FEMA”) Declared Major Disaster Areas eligible for individual assistance.
In September 2020, subsequent to the issuance of EHI’s senior notes due in 2025, the GSEs
imposed certain restrictions (the “GSE Restrictions”) with respect to capital on our business. In May 2021,
in connection with their conditional approval of this offering, the GSEs confirmed the GSE Restrictions
remain in place and will remain in effect until the following collective conditions (“GSE Conditions”) are
met: (a) approval of GMICO’s plan to secure additional capital, if needed, (b) GMICO obtains
“BBB+”/“Baa1” (or higher) rating from Standard & Poor’s Financial Services, LLC (“Standard & Poor’s”),
Moody’s Investor Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”) or Fitch Ratings, Inc. (“Fitch”) for two consecutive quarters and
(c) Genworth achieves certain financial metrics. Prior to the satisfaction of the GSE Conditions, the GSE
Restrictions require:
•

GMICO to maintain 115% of PMIERs minimum required assets through 2021, 120% during 2022
and 125% thereafter;

•

EHI to retain $300 million of its holding company cash that can be drawn down exclusively for its
debt service or to contribute to GMICO to meet their regulatory capital needs including PMIERs;
and

•

written approval must be received from the GSEs prior to any additional debt issuance by either
GMICO or EHI.

Until the GSE Conditions imposed in connection with the GSE Restrictions are met, EHI’s liquidity
must not fall below 13.5% of its outstanding debt. The GSEs’ conditional approval of the consummation of
this offering remains in effect through September 30, 2021. However, if the consummation of this offering
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is not completed prior to October 2021, the GSEs will likely reassess the GSE Restrictions. In addition,
the GSEs could recommend revisions to the GSE Restrictions based upon a variety of factors, including
the outcome of this offering. The GSEs informed us that a consummation of this offering resulting in our
Parent owning 70% or less of EHI by year end 2021 would delay each step up of the PMIERs minimum
required asset requirements listed in the first bullet above by one calendar year. In addition, Fannie Mae
agreed to reconsider the GSE Restrictions if our Parent were to own 50% or less of EHI at any point prior
to their expiration. We will continue to assess our options, including the aforementioned consummation of
this offering outlined by the GSEs. Currently, our Parent expects to indirectly own at least 80% of EHI
common stock following the consummation of this offering and has informed us they have no intention of
entering into any transaction that would result in Parent owning 70% or less of our common stock
indirectly.
As of June 30, 2021, we had estimated available assets of $4,926 million against $2,985 million net
required assets under PMIERs compared to available assets of $4,588 million against $3,359 million net
required assets as of December 31, 2020. The sufficiency ratio as of June 30, 2021 was 165% or $1,941
million above the published PMIERs requirements, compared to 137% or $1,229 million above the
published PMIERs requirements as of December 31, 2020. PMIERs sufficiency is based on the published
requirements applicable to private mortgage insurers and does not give effect to the GSE Restrictions
imposed on our business. The increase in the PMIERs sufficiency was driven in part by the completion of
an insurance linked notes transaction, which added $303 million of additional PMIERs capital credit as of
June 30, 2021, elevated lapse driven by prevailing low interest rates and business cash flows, partially
offset by elevated NIW. In addition, elevated lapse continued to drive an acceleration of the amortization
of our reinsurance transactions, which caused a reduction in PMIERs capital credit. Our PMIERs required
assets as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 benefited from the application of a 0.30 multiplier
applied to the risk-based required asset amount factor for certain non-performing loans. The application of
the 0.30 multiplier to all eligible delinquencies provided $760 million of benefit to our June 30, 2021
PMIERs required assets compared to $1,046 million of benefit as of December 31, 2020. These amounts
are gross of any incremental reinsurance benefit from the elimination of the 0.30 multiplier.
On February 4, 2021, we executed an excess of loss reinsurance transaction with a panel of
reinsurers, which provides up to $210 million of reinsurance coverage on a portion of the loss tiers on
current and expected NIW for the 2021 book year. On March 2, 2021, we obtained $495 million of fully
collateralized excess of loss reinsurance coverage from Triangle Re 2021-1 on a portfolio of existing
mortgage insurance policies written from January 2014 through December 2018 and policies written from
October 2019 through December 2019. On April 16, 2021, we obtained $303 million of fully
collateralized excess of loss reinsurance coverage from Triangle Re 2021-2 on a portfolio of existing
mortgage insurance policies written from September 2020 through December 2020. Triangle Re 2021-1
and 2021-2 financed the reinsurance coverage by issuing mortgage insurance-linked notes to unaffiliated
investors. Credit risk transfer transactions provided an aggregate of approximately $1,406 million of
PMIERs capital credit as of June 30, 2021. We may execute future credit risk transfer transactions to
maintain a prudent level of financial flexibility in excess of the PMIERs capital requirements in response to
potential changes in performance and PMIERs requirements over time.
Subsequent to the second quarter, GMICO, our flagship MI entity, received approval from the North
Carolina Department of Insurance, our domestic regulator, to dividend $200 million at year-end 2021. We
believe this is an important milestone as we work to restart the return of capital from our business. This
approval, coupled with our business performance and the recently published changes to the GSE capital
preservation rules, provides us incremental confidence for a potential 2021 dividend. We note, however,
that if this offering is not completed prior to October of this year, the GSEs will likely reconsider the
PMIERs capital requirements applicable to our business which could, in turn, affect Enact’s ability to
execute future dividends and distributions. Any future dividend is subject to market conditions, business
performance, business and regulatory approvals, including the GSEs’ approval related to this offering.
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Results of Operations and Key Metrics
Results of Operations
Six Months Ended June 30, 2021 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2020
The following table sets forth our consolidated results for the periods indicated:
Increase (decrease)
and percentage
change

Six months ended
June 30,
(Amounts in thousands)

2021

2020

Revenues:
Premiums............................................................ $ 495,022
$ 469,051
Net investment income.....................................
69,948
64,693
Net investment gains (losses).........................
(2,709)
(344)
Other income......................................................
2,443
3,209
Total revenues..................................................
564,704
536,609
Losses and expenses:
Losses incurred..................................................
85,377
246,310
Acquisition and operating expenses, net of
deferrals...........................................................
120,672
100,479
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs
and intangibles...............................................
7,435
7,580
Interest expense................................................
25,482
—
Total losses and expenses..............................
238,966
354,369
Income before income taxes........................
325,738
182,240
Provision for income taxes...............................
69,795
41,015
Net income.......................................................... $ 255,943
$ 141,225
Loss ratio (2)........................................................
17 %
53 %
(3)
Expense ratio (net earned premiums) .......
26 %
23 %

2021 vs. 2020

$
$
$
$
$

25,971
5,255
(2,365)
(766)
28,095

6%
8%
688 %
(24)%
5%

$

(160,933)

(65)%

$

20,193

20 %

$
$
$
$
$
$

(145)
25,482
(115,403)
143,498
28,780
114,718

(2)%
NM (1)
(33)%
79 %
70 %
81 %

_______________
(1) Not measurable.
(2) Loss ratio is calculated by dividing losses incurred by net earned premiums.
(3) Expense ratio (net earned premiums) is calculated by dividing acquisition and operating expenses, net of
deferrals, plus amortization of DAC and intangibles by net earned premiums

Revenues
Premiums increased mainly attributable to higher IIF partially offset by higher ceded premiums from
reinsurance transactions executed in the current year, continued lapse of our in-force portfolio as older,
higher priced policies continued to lapse in the current low interest rate environment and lower single
premium cancellations.
Net investment income increased primarily from higher average invested assets in the current year
and higher income from bond calls, partially offset by lower investment yields in the current year.
Net investment losses in the current year were primarily driven by credit losses related to corporate
available-for-sale fixed maturity securities and realized losses from the sale of fixed maturity securities.
Net investment gains in the prior year were largely from realized gains from the sale of fixed maturity
securities.
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Other income primarily includes underwriting fee revenue charged on a per-unit or per-diem basis, as
defined in the underwriting agreement. Other income decreased primarily due to lower contract
underwriting revenue.
Losses and expenses
Losses incurred decreased largely from lower new delinquencies from the improving economy and
unfavorable reserve adjustments in the prior year as a result of COVID-19. New primary delinquencies of
16,915 contributed $74 million of loss expense in the first six months of 2021 largely determined by giving
consideration to forbearance and non-forbearance delinquencies and the ongoing economic impact due
to the pandemic. This compares to $197 million of loss expense from 56,487 new primary delinquencies
in the first six months of 2020. In the prior year we strengthened existing reserves by $28 million primarily
driven by the deterioration of early cure emergence patterns impacting claim frequency along with a
modest increase in claim severity. During the first six months of 2021, reserves were strengthened $10
million due to our expectation that pre-COVID-19 delinquencies will have a modestly higher claim rate
than our prior best estimate given the slower emergence of cures to date. Additionally, the prior year
included additional reserves of $28 million for incurred but not reported delinquencies
The following table shows incurred losses related to current and prior accident years for the six
months ended June 30:
(Amounts in thousands)

2021

Losses and LAE incurred related to current accident year..............................
Losses and LAE incurred related to prior accident years.................................
Total incurred (1)......................................................................................................

71,596
13,677
85,273

2020

238,692
8,696
247,388

_______________
(1) Excludes run-off business.

Acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals, increased primarily attributable to higher costs
allocated by our Parent, strategic transaction preparation costs, a one-time restructuring charge partially
offset by lower volume-related operating costs.
The expense ratio (net earned premiums) increased mainly driven by higher costs allocated by our
Parent, $7 million of strategic transaction preparation costs and a one-time restructuring charge of $2
million partially offset by lower volume-related operating costs. The strategic transaction preparation
costs and restructuring costs increased the expense ratio by approximately 2 points.
Interest expense in the current year relates to our 2025 Senior Notes. For additional details see Note
7 to our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements for the three months ended June 30,
2021 and 2020.
Provision for income taxes
The effective tax rate was 21.4% and 22.5% for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020,
respectively, consistent with the United States corporate federal income tax rate.
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Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2020 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2019
The following table presents our consolidated results for the periods indicated:
Increase (decrease)
and percentage
change

Years ended
December 31
(Amounts in thousands)

2020

2019

Revenues:
Premiums........................................................... $ 971,365
$ 856,976
$
Net investment income....................................
132,843
116,927
Net investment gains (losses)........................
(3,324)
718
Other income.....................................................
5,575
4,232
Total revenues.................................................. 1,106,459
978,853
Losses and expenses:
Losses incurred................................................
379,834
49,850
Acquisition and operating expenses, net of
deferrals.........................................................
215,024
195,768
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs
and intangibles..............................................
20,939
15,065
Interest expense...............................................
18,244
—
Total losses and expenses.............................
634,041
260,683
Income before income taxes and change in
fair value of unconsolidated affiliate...........
472,418
718,170
Provision for income taxes..............................
101,997
155,832
Income before change in fair value of
unconsolidated affiliate................................
370,421
562,338
Change in fair value of unconsolidated
affiliate, net of taxes.....................................
—
115,290
Net income........................................................ $ 370,421
$ 677,628
$
(2)
Loss ratio .......................................................
39 %
6%
Expense ratio (net earned premiums) (3)......
24 %
25 %
Gross premium rate (4).....................................
0.52 %
0.52 %

2020 vs. 2019

114,389
15,916
(4,042)
1,343
127,606

13 %
14 %
(563)%
32 %
13 %

329,984

662 %

19,256

10 %

5,874
18,244
373,358

39 %
NM (1)
143 %

(245,752)
(53,835)

(34)%
(35)%

(191,917)

(34)%

(115,290)
(307,207)

(100)%
(45)%

_______________
(1) Not measurable.
(2) Loss ratio is calculated by dividing losses incurred by net earned premiums.
(3) Expense ratio (net earned premiums) is calculated by dividing acquisition and operating expenses, net of
deferrals, plus amortization of DAC and intangibles by net earned premiums.
(4) Gross premium rate is calculated by dividing primary earned premiums prior to reinsurance ceded by average
primary IIF. For the quarter ended December 31, 2020, the rate was 0.52%.

Revenues
Premiums increased mainly attributable to higher IIF and higher policy cancellations in our single
premium mortgage insurance product driven largely by higher mortgage refinancing, partially offset by
lower average premium rates in 2020. The year ended December 31, 2019 also included a favorable
adjustment of $14 million related to our single premium earnings pattern review driven by our revised
assessment of recent claim and cancellation experience and the refinement of loan attributes.
Net investment income increased primarily due to higher average invested assets partially offset by
lower investment yields in 2020.
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Net investment losses in 2020 were primarily driven by impairments and net losses from the sale of
fixed maturity securities. Net investment gains in 2019 were largely from net gains from the sale of fixed
maturity securities.
Other income primarily includes underwriting fee revenue charged on a per-unit or per-diem basis, as
defined in the underwriting agreement. Other income increased primarily due to higher contract
underwriting revenue from a larger mortgage insurance market.
Losses and expenses
Losses incurred increased largely from new delinquencies driven primarily by a significant increase in
borrower forbearance as a result of COVID-19 and strengthening of existing reserves of $65 million in
2020 primarily driven by the deterioration of early cure emergence patterns impacting claim frequency
along with a modest increase in claim severity. We also experienced lower net benefits from cures and
aging of existing delinquencies in 2020. Included in 2019 were favorable reserve adjustments of
$23 million mostly associated with lower expected claim rates. Our loss ratio increased primarily from
higher losses, partially offset by higher net earned premiums in 2020.
The following table shows incurred losses related to current and prior accident years for the years
ended December 31:
(Amounts in thousands)

2020

2019

Losses and LAE incurred related to current accident year.............................. $
Losses and LAE incurred related to prior accident years.................................
Total incurred (1)...................................................................................................... $

364,548 $
16,202
380,750 $

105,734
(55,917)
49,817

_______________
(1) Excludes run-off business.

Acquisition and operating expenses, net of deferrals, increased primarily driven by higher acquisition
costs mainly driven by increased NIW in 2020 and higher information technology and other expenses due
to continued investment in modernization of the business.
Amortization of DAC and intangibles consists primarily of the amortization of acquisition costs that are
capitalized and capitalized software. Amortization of DAC and intangibles increased primarily due to
accelerated DAC amortization of $6 million driven by elevated lapses in 2020.
Our expense ratio decreased slightly primarily from higher earned premiums, mostly offset by higher
acquisition and operating expenses, and higher DAC amortization in 2020.
Interest expense in 2020 relates to our 2025 Senior Notes issued in August 2020.
Provision for income taxes
The effective tax rate was 21.6% and 21.7% for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively, consistent with the United States corporate federal income tax rate.
Change in fair value of unconsolidated affiliate, net of taxes
Change in fair value of unconsolidated affiliate consists of the change in the fair value of our
previously held investment in Genworth Canada, which also includes dividends and the sale of common
shares, net of taxes. The decrease was driven by the sale of our investment in Genworth Canada, which
closed on December 12, 2019. See Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements for additional
information.
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Use of Non-GAAP Measures
We use a non-U.S. GAAP (“non-GAAP”) financial measure entitled “adjusted operating income.” This
non-GAAP financial measure aligns with the way our business performance is evaluated by both
management and by our board of directors. This measure has been established in order to increase
transparency for the purposes of evaluating our core operating trends and enabling more meaningful
comparisons with our peers. Although “adjusted operating income” is a non-GAAP financial measure, for
the reasons discussed above we believe this measure aids in understanding the underlying performance
of our operations. Our senior management, including our chief operating decision maker, uses “adjusted
operating income” as the primary measure to evaluate the fundamental financial performance of our
business and to allocate resources.
“Adjusted operating income” is defined as U.S. GAAP net income excluding the effects of (i) net
investment gains (losses), (ii) change in fair value of unconsolidated affiliate and (iii) Restructuring costs
and infrequent or unusual non-operating items.
(i) Net investment gains (losses)—The recognition of realized investment gains or losses can vary
significantly across periods as the activity is highly discretionary based on the timing of individual
securities sales due to such factors as market opportunities or exposure management. Trends in
the profitability of our fundamental operating activities can be more clearly identified without the
fluctuations of these realized gains and losses. We do not view them to be indicative of our
fundamental operating activities. Therefore, these items are excluded from our calculation of
adjusted operating income.
(ii) Change in fair value of unconsolidated affiliate—The change in fair value of our previously held
investment in Genworth Canada could vary significantly across periods and was highly
dependent on the performance of the Canadian housing market and Genworth Canada’s
operating results. We managed the investment in Genworth Canada separately from our
remaining investments portfolio through and up until the sale of our ownership interest in
Genworth Canada in December 2019. Prior to the sale, we did not view the results of our
investment in Genworth Canada as part of our fundamental operating activities. Therefore, this
item is excluded from our calculation of adjusted operating income. Additionally, given the
divestiture of Genworth Canada on December 12, 2019, we will no longer have any impact from
Genworth Canada in our financial statements going forward.
(iii) Restructuring costs and infrequent or unusual non-operating items are also excluded from
adjusted operating income if, in our opinion, they are not indicative of overall operating trends.
In reporting non-GAAP measures in the future, we may make other adjustments for expenses and
gains we do not consider reflective of core operating performance in a particular period. We may disclose
other non-GAAP operating measures if we believe that such a presentation would be helpful for investors
to evaluate our operating condition by including additional information.
Total adjusted operating income is not a measure of total profitability, and therefore should not be
considered in isolation or viewed as a substitute for U.S. GAAP net income. Our definition of adjusted
operating income may not be comparable to similarly named measures reported by other companies,
including our peers.
Adjustments to reconcile net income to adjusted operating income assume a 21% tax rate (unless
otherwise indicated).
The following table includes a reconciliation of net income to adjusted operating income for the six
months ended June 30:
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(Amounts in thousands)

2021

2020

Net income............................................................................................................... $
Adjustments to net income:
Net investment (gains) losses...............................................................................
Costs associated with reorganization..................................................................
Taxes on adjustments............................................................................................
Adjusted operating income.................................................................................... $

255,943 $

141,225

2,709
2,339
(1,060)
259,931 $

344
—
(72)
141,497

We recorded a pre-tax expense of $2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 related to
restructuring costs as we evaluate and appropriately size our organizational needs and expenses.
Adjusted operating income increased primarily from lower losses primarily from lower new
delinquencies from the improving economy and lower forbearance delinquencies partially offset by
interest expense associated with senior notes issued in August 2020 and higher operating costs in the
current year.
The following table includes a reconciliation of net income to adjusted operating income for the years
ended December 31:
(Amounts in thousands)

2020

2019

Net income............................................................................................................... $
Adjustments to net income:
Net investment (gains) losses...............................................................................
Change in fair value of unconsolidated affiliate.................................................
Taxes on adjustments............................................................................................
Adjusted operating income.................................................................................... $

370,421 $

677,628

3,324
—
(698)
373,047 $

(718)
(127,397)
12,259
561,772

The change in fair value of the investment in Genworth Canada was $127.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019, and is included within change in fair value of unconsolidated affiliate in the
consolidated statements of income, net of provision (benefit) for income taxes of $12.1 million. There
were no infrequent or unusual items excluded from adjusted operating income during the periods
presented.
Adjusted operating income decreased primarily attributable to higher losses largely from new
delinquencies driven in large part by a significant increase in borrower forbearance as a result of
COVID-19, reserve strengthening of $51 million on existing delinquencies and from lower net benefits
from cures and aging of existing delinquencies in 2020. These decreases were partially offset by higher
premiums largely driven by higher IIF and an increase in policy cancellations in our single premium
mortgage insurance product primarily due to higher mortgage refinancing in 2020. The year ended
December 31, 2019 included favorable reserve adjustments of $18 million mostly associated with lower
expected claim rates and a favorable adjustment of $11 million related to our single premium earnings
pattern review.
Key Metrics
Management reviews the key metrics included within this section when analyzing the performance of
our business. The metrics provided in this section exclude activity related to our run-off business, which is
immaterial to our consolidated results of operations.
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The following table sets forth selected operating performance measures on a primary basis as of or
for the six months ended June 30:
(Dollar amounts in millions)

2021

2020

New insurance written............................................................................................ $ 51,591
$ 46,304
(1)
Insurance in-force ............................................................................................... $ 217,477
$ 197,047
Risk in-force............................................................................................................. $ 54,643
$ 49,868
Persistency rate.......................................................................................................
59 %
66 %
Policies in-force (count).........................................................................................
933,616
896,232
Delinquent loans (count)........................................................................................
33,568
53,587
Delinquency rate.....................................................................................................
3.60 %
5.98 %
_______________
(1) Represents the aggregate unpaid principal balance for loans we insure. Original loan balances are primarily used
to determine premiums.

New insurance written
NIW for the six months ended June 30, 2021 increased 11% compared to the first six months of 2020
primarily due to higher mortgage purchase and refinancing originations and a larger private mortgage
insurance market, partially offset by our lower estimated market share in 2021. We manage the quality of
new business through pricing and our underwriting guidelines, which we modify from time to time as
circumstances warrant.
The following table presents NIW by product for the six months ended June 30:
(Amounts in millions)

Primary............................................................... $
Pool.....................................................................
Total............................................................... $

2021

51,591
—
51,591

2020

100 % $
—
100 % $

46,304
—
46,304

100 %
—
100 %

The following table presents NIW by product for the years ended December 31:
(Amounts in millions)

Primary............................................................... $
Pool.....................................................................
Total............................................................... $

2020

99,871
—
99,871

2019

100% $
—
100% $

62,431
—
62,431

100%
—
100%

The following table presents primary NIW by underlying type of mortgage for the six months ended
June 30:
(Amounts in millions)

Purchases.......................................................... $
Refinances.........................................................
Total............................................................... $

2021

36,643
14,948
51,591
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2020

71 % $
29
100 % $

29,429
16,875
46,304

64 %
36
100 %

The following table presents primary NIW by underlying type of mortgage for the years ended
December 31:
(Amounts in millions)

Purchases.......................................................... $
Refinances.........................................................
Total............................................................... $

2020

2019

67,183
32,688
99,871

67% $
33
100% $

50,267
12,164
62,431

81 %
19
100 %

The following table presents primary NIW by policy payment type for the six months ended June 30:
(Amounts in millions)

Monthly............................................................... $
Single.................................................................
Other...................................................................
Total............................................................... $

2021

48,245
3,132
214
51,591

2020

94 % $
6%
—
100 % $

42,023
4,038
243
46,304

91 %
9
—
100 %

The following table presents primary NIW by policy payment type for the years ended December 31:
(Amounts in millions)

Monthly............................................................... $
Single.................................................................
Other...................................................................
Total............................................................... $

2020

90,147
9,251
473
99,871

2019

90 % $
9
1
100 % $

54,666
7,047
718
62,431

88 %
11
1
100 %

The following table presents primary NIW by FICO score for the six months ended June 30:
(Amounts in millions)

Over 760............................................................ $
740-759..............................................................

2021

2020

22,282

43 % $

19,813

43 %

7,831

15

7,991

17

720-739..............................................................

6,890

13

6,805

14

700-719..............................................................

6,110

12

5,517

12

680-699..............................................................

4,993

10

3,713

8

660-679 (1)..........................................................

2,051

4

1,402

3

640-659..............................................................

1,058

2

756

2

620-639..............................................................

376

1

307

1

<620....................................................................

—
51,591

Total............................................................... $

—
100 % $

_______________
(1) Loans with unknown FICO scores are included in the 660-679 category.

100

—
46,304

—
100 %

The following table presents primary NIW by FICO score for the years ended December 31:
(Amounts in millions)

Over 760............................................................ $
740-759..............................................................
720-739..............................................................
700-719..............................................................
680-699..............................................................
660-679 (1)..........................................................
640-659..............................................................
620-639..............................................................
<620....................................................................
Total............................................................... $

2020

41,584
16,378
14,305
12,193
8,813
3,846
1,955
796
1
99,871

2019

42 % $
16
14
12
9
4
2
1
—
100 % $

24,805
10,624
9,154
7,888
5,851
2,204
1,338
567
—
62,431

40 %
17
15
13
9
3
2
1
—
100 %

______________
(1) Loans with unknown FICO scores are included in the 660-679 category.

LTV ratio is calculated by dividing the original loan amount, excluding financed premium, by the
property’s acquisition value or fair market value at the time of origination. The following table presents
primary NIW by LTV ratio for the six months ended June 30:
(Amounts in millions)

2021

2020

95.01% and above........................................... $
90.01% to 95.00%............................................

20,211

39

19,957

43

85.01% to 90.00%............................................

17,010

33

13,628

29

85.00% and below............................................

9,362
51,591

Total............................................................... $

5,008

10 % $

18
100 % $

5,020

7,699
46,304

11 %

17
100 %

The following table presents primary NIW by LTV ratio for the years ended December 31:
(Amounts in millions)

95.01% and above........................................... $
90.01% to 95.00%............................................
85.01% to 90.00%............................................
85.00% and below............................................
Total............................................................... $

2020

11,625
42,753
28,750
16,743
99,871

2019

11 % $
43
29
17
100 % $

9,652
26,961
17,874
7,944
62,431

15 %
43
29
13
100 %

The following table presents primary NIW by DTI ratio for the six months ended June 30:
(Amounts in millions)

45.01% and above........................................... $
38.01% to 45.00%............................................
38.00% and below............................................
Total.................................................................... $

2021

5,835
17,950
27,806
51,591
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2020

11 % $
35
54
100 % $

7,499
15,600
23,205
46,304

16 %
34
50
100 %

The following table presents primary NIW by DTI ratio for the years ended December 31:
(Amounts in millions)

2020

45.01% and above........................................... $
38.01% to 45.00%............................................
38.00% and below............................................
Total............................................................... $

2019

13,672
35,729
50,470
99,871

14 % $
36
50
100 % $

13,587
21,354
27,490
62,431

22 %
34
44
100 %

Insurance in-force and Risk in-force
IIF increased largely from NIW, partially offset by lapses and cancellations as we experienced lower
persistency during the current year. Primary persistency was 59% and 66% for the six months ended
June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. This decrease in persistency resulted in elevated single premium
policy cancellations in the current year. RIF increased primarily as a result of higher IIF.
The following table sets forth IIF and RIF as of the dates indicated:
June 30,
2021

(Amounts in millions)

Primary IIF...................................
Pool IIF.........................................
Total IIF...................................
Primary RIF.................................
Pool RIF.......................................
Total RIF.................................

$ 217,477
798
$ 218,275
$ 54,643
123
$ 54,766

December 31,
2020

100
—
100
100
—
100

% $ 207,947
883
% $ 208,830
% $ 52,475
146
% $ 52,621

100
—
100
100
—
100

June 30,
2020

% $ 197,047
983
% $ 198,030
% $ 49,868
169
% $ 50,037

100
—
100
100
—
100

%
%
%
%

The following table sets forth primary IIF by policy year as of the dates indicated:
(Amounts in millions)

June 30,
2021

2004 and prior..................... $
621
2005 to 2008........................
9,061
2009 to 2013........................
1,961
2014......................................
2,709
2015......................................
5,810
2016......................................
11,499
2017......................................
11,763
2018......................................
12,289
2019......................................
28,842
2020......................................
82,308
2021......................................
50,614
Total.................................. $ 217,477

December 31,
2020

—% $
708
4
10,614
1
3,030
2
3,699
3
7,887
5
15,385
5
16,289
6
17,235
13
39,463
38
93,637
23
100 % $ 207,947
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June 30,
2020

—% $
5
2
2
4
7
8
8
19
45

784
12,287
4,345
5,059
10,667
20,738
22,480
23,873
51,180
45,634

—%
6
2
3
5
11
12
12
26
23

100 % $ 197,047

100 %

The following table sets forth primary RIF by policy year as of the dates indicated:
(Amounts in millions)

2004 and prior..................... $
2005 to 2008........................
2009 to 2013........................
2014......................................
2015......................................
2016......................................
2017......................................
2018......................................
2019......................................
2020......................................
2021......................................
Total.................................. $

June 30,
2021

177
2,317
528
732
1,549
3,052
3,032
3,086
7,225
20,536
12,409
54,643

December 31,
2020

—% $
4
1
1
3
6
6
6
13
37
23
100 % $

June 30,
2020

202
2,716
832
999
2,104
4,063
4,180
4,322
9,840
23,217

—% $
5
2
2
4
8
8
8
19
44

224
3,146
1,204
1,367
2,843
5,415
5,752
5,975
12,690
11,252

—%
6
2
3
6
11
12
12
25
23

52,475

100 % $

49,868

100 %

The following table presents the development of primary IIF for the six months ended June 30:
(Amounts in millions)

2021

2020

Beginning balance.................................................................................................. $
NIW...........................................................................................................................
Cancellations, principal repayments and other reductions (1)..........................
Ending balance........................................................................................................ $

207,947 $
51,591
(42,061)
217,477 $

181,785
46,304
(31,042)
197,047

______________
(1) Includes the estimated amortization of unpaid principal balance of covered loans.

The following table presents the development of primary IIF for the years ended December 31:
(Amounts in millions)

2020

2019

Beginning balance.................................................................................................. $
NIW...........................................................................................................................
Cancellations, principal repayments and other reductions (1)..........................
Ending balance........................................................................................................ $

181,785 $
99,871
(73,709)
207,947 $

157,103
62,431
(37,749)
181,785

______________
(1) Includes the estimated amortization of unpaid principal balance of covered loans.

The following table sets forth primary IIF by LTV ratio at origination as of the dates indicated:
(Amounts in millions)

June 30,
2021

95.01% and above.............. $ 33,657
90.01% to 95.00%...............
94,307
85.01% to 90.00%...............
61,234
85.00% and below..............
28,279
Total.................................. $ 217,477

December 31,
2020

15 % $ 34,520
44
92,689
28
56,341
13
24,397
100 % $ 207,947
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June 30,
2020

17 % $ 33,483
45
89,035
27
53,794
11
20,735
100 % $ 197,047

17 %
45
27
11
100 %

The following table sets forth primary RIF by LTV ratio at origination as of the dates indicated:
June 30,
2021

(Amounts in millions)

95.01% and above.............. $
90.01% to 95.00%...............
85.01% to 90.00%...............
85.00% and below..............
Total.................................. $

9,228
27,308
14,776
3,331
54,643

December 31,
2020

17 % $
50
27
6
100 % $

9,279
26,774
13,562
2,860
52,475

June 30,
2020

18 % $
51
26
5
100 % $

8,789
25,686
12,957
2,436
49,868

18 %
51
26
5
100 %

The following table sets forth primary IIF by FICO score at origination as of the dates indicated:
(Amounts in millions)

June 30,
2021

Over 760.......................................... $ 83,602
740-759...........................................
34,402
720-739...........................................
30,964
700-719...........................................
27,032
680-699...........................................
21,469
(1)
660-679 .......................................
10,191
640-659...........................................
6,008
620-639...........................................
2,838
<620.................................................
971
Total................................................. $ 217,477

December 31,
2020

38 % $ 78,488
16
33,635
14
30,058
12
25,870
10
20,140
6
9,819
3
5,935
1
2,902
—
1,100
100 % $ 207,947

June 30,
2020

38 % $ 75,428
16
32,649
14
28,637
12
23,746
10
18,271
5
8,781
3
5,521
1
2,786
1
1,228
100 % $ 197,047

38 %
17
15
12
9
4
3
1
1
100 %

______________
(1) Loans with unknown FICO scores are included in the 660-679 category.

The following table sets forth primary RIF by FICO score at origination as of the dates indicated:
(Amounts in millions)

June 30,
2021

Over 760.......................................... $ 20,908
740-759...........................................
8,628
720-739...........................................
7,879
700-719...........................................
6,848
680-699...........................................
5,385
(1)
660-679 .......................................
2,531
640-659...........................................
1,494
620-639...........................................
720
<620.................................................
250
Total................................................. $ 54,643

December 31,
2020

38 % $ 19,691
16
8,497
14
7,673
13
6,579
10
5,100
5
2,442
3
1,472
1
737
—
284
100 % $ 52,475

June 30,
2020

37 % $ 19,046
16
8,303
15
7,312
12
6,016
10
4,629
5
2,179
3
1,358
1
707
1
318
100 % $ 49,868

38 %
17
15
12
9
4
3
1
1
100 %

______________
(1) Loans with unknown FICO scores are included in the 660-679 category.

Delinquent loans and claims
Our delinquency management process begins with notification by the loan servicer of a delinquency
on an insured loan. “Delinquency” is defined in our master policies as the borrower’s failure to pay when
due an amount equal to the scheduled monthly mortgage payment under the terms of the mortgage.
Generally, our master policies require an insured to notify us of a delinquency if the borrower fails to make
two consecutive monthly mortgage payments prior to the due date of the next mortgage payment. We
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generally consider a loan to be delinquent and establish required reserves after the insured notifies us
that the borrower has failed to make two scheduled mortgage payments. Borrowers default for a variety of
reasons, including a reduction of income, unemployment, divorce, illness/death, inability to manage credit,
falling home prices and interest rate levels. Borrowers may cure delinquencies by making all of the
delinquent loan payments, agreeing to a loan modification, or by selling the property in full satisfaction of
all amounts due under the mortgage. In most cases, delinquencies that are not cured result in a claim
under our policy.
The following table shows a roll forward of the number of primary loans in default for the six months
ended June 30:
(Loan count)

2021

Number of delinquencies, beginning of period...................................................
New defaults............................................................................................................
Cures.........................................................................................................................
Claims paid..............................................................................................................
Rescissions and claim denials..............................................................................
Number of delinquencies, end of period.............................................................

44,904
16,915
(27,951)
(277)
(23)
33,568

2020

16,392
56,487
(18,444)
(844)
(4)
53,587

The following table shows a roll forward of the number of primary loans in default for the years ended
December 31:
(Loan count)

2020

Number of delinquencies, beginning of period...................................................
New defaults............................................................................................................
Cures.........................................................................................................................
Claims paid..............................................................................................................
Rescissions and claim denials..............................................................................
Number of delinquencies, end of period.............................................................

16,392
85,074
(55,396)
(1,148)
(18)
44,904

2019

16,860
33,236
(31,363)
(2,323)
(18)
16,392

The following table sets forth changes in our direct primary case loss reserves for the six months
ended June 30:
(Amounts in thousands) (1)

2021

2020

Loss reserves, beginning of period...................................................................... $
Claims paid..............................................................................................................
Increase in reserves...............................................................................................
Loss reserves, end of period................................................................................. $

516,863 $
(13,311)
85,131
588,683 $

204,749
(38,326)
212,501
378,924

_______________
(1) Direct primary case reserves exclude LAE, incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) and reinsurance reserves.
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The following table sets forth changes in our direct primary case loss reserves for the years ended
December 31:
(Amounts in thousands) (1)

2020

2019

Loss reserves, beginning of period...................................................................... $
Claims paid..............................................................................................................
Increase in reserves...............................................................................................
Loss reserves, end of period................................................................................. $

204,749 $
(52,389)
364,503
516,863 $

262,171
(103,578)
46,156
204,749

______________
(1) Direct primary case reserves exclude LAE, IBNR and reinsurance reserves.

The following tables set forth primary delinquencies, direct case reserves and RIF by aged missed
payment status as of the dates indicated:
June 30, 2021

(Dollar amounts in millions)

Delinquencies

Payments in default:
3 payments or less.......................................................
4 - 11 payments............................................................
12 payments or more...................................................
Total................................................................................

Direct case
reserves (1)

6,030 $
12,378
15,160
33,568 $

Risk
in-force

32 $
151
406
589 $

318
717
914
1,949

Reserves as %
of risk in-force

10
21
44
30

%
%
%
%

June 30, 2020

(Dollar amounts in millions)

Delinquencies

Payments in default:
3 payments or less...................................................
4 - 11 payments........................................................
12 payments or more...............................................
Total............................................................................

43,158 $
7,448
2,981
53,587 $

Direct case
reserves (1)

162 $
112
105
379 $

Risk
in-force

2,689
388
148
3,225

Reserves as
% of risk inforce

6
29
71
12

%
%
%
%

December 31, 2020

(Dollar amounts in millions)

Delinquencies

Payments in default:
3 payments or less...............................................
4 - 11 payments....................................................
12 payments or more..........................................
Total............................................................................

10,484 $
30,324
4,096
44,904 $
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Direct case
reserves (1)

43 $
331
143
517 $

Risk
in-force

549
1,853
204
2,606

Reserves as
% of risk inforce

8
18
70
20

%
%
%
%

December 31, 2019

(Dollar amounts in millions)

Delinquencies

Payments in default:
3 payments or less...............................................
4 - 11 payments....................................................
12 payments or more..........................................
Total............................................................................

Direct case
reserves (1)

8,618 $
4,876
2,898
16,392 $

28 $
78
99
205 $

Risk
in-force

386
225
146
757

Reserves as
% of risk inforce

7%
35%
68%
27%

______________
(1) Direct primary case reserves exclude LAE, IBNR and reinsurance reserves.

The total increase in reserves as a percentage of RIF as of June 30, 2021 compared to December
31, 2020 was primarily driven by higher reserves in relation to a decrease in delinquent RIF. Delinquent
RIF decreased mainly from lower total delinquencies as cures outpaced new delinquencies in the first six
months of 2021, while reserves increased primarily from new delinquencies and reserve strengthening in
the current year. As of June 30, 2021, we have experienced an increase in loans that are delinquent for
12 months or more due in large part to borrowers entering a forbearance plan over a year ago driven by
COVID-19. We estimated the loss reserve for COVID-19 related delinquencies by applying a claim rate
estimate which considers the emergence of cures on forbearance and non-forbearance delinquencies
and the ongoing economic impact due to the pandemic. The large volume of additional forbearance
delinquencies moving to 12 or more payments in default combined with lower loss expectations on
delinquencies subject to a forbearance plan drove the decrease in reserves as a percentage of RIF in the
12 or more payments in default category as of June 30, 2021. Forbearance plans may be extended up to
18 months, therefore, it is possible we could experience elevated delinquencies in this aged category for
the remainder of 2021. Resolution of a delinquency in a forbearance plan, whether it ultimately results in
a cure or a claim, is difficult to estimate and may not be known for several quarters, if not longer.
Beginning in the second quarter of 2020, total primary delinquencies started to increase considerably
driven primarily by a significant increase in borrower forbearance as a result of COVID-19. The large
volume of additional forbearance delinquencies combined with lower loss expectations on delinquencies
subject to a forbearance plan drove the decrease in reserves as a percentage of RIF as of December 31,
2020.
Primary insurance delinquency rates differ from region to region in the United States at any one time
depending upon economic conditions and cyclical growth patterns. Delinquency rates are shown by
region based upon the location of the underlying property, rather than the location of the lender. The table
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below sets forth our primary delinquency rates for the ten largest states by our primary RIF as of June 30,
2021:

Percent of RIF

By State:
California..................................................................................
Texas........................................................................................
Florida (1)..................................................................................
Illinois (1)...................................................................................
New York (1).............................................................................
Michigan..................................................................................
Arizona.....................................................................................
North Carolina.........................................................................
Pennsylvania (1)......................................................................
Washington.............................................................................
All other states (2)....................................................................
Total.....................................................................................

Percent of direct
primary case
reserves

12 %
8
7
5
5
4
4
3
3
3
46
100 %

12 %
8
9
6
12
2
2
2
3
3
41
100 %

Delinquency
rate

4.70
4.20
4.52
4.13
5.10
2.11
3.13
2.99
3.06
4.51
3.22
3.60

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

______________
(1) Jurisdiction predominantly uses a judicial foreclosure process, which generally increases the amount of time it
takes for a foreclosure to be completed.
(2) Includes the District of Columbia.

The table below sets forth our primary delinquency rates for the ten largest states by our primary RIF
as of December 31, 2020:
Percent of RIF

By State:
California.......................................................................................
Texas.............................................................................................
Florida (1).......................................................................................
Illinois (1).........................................................................................
New York (1)..................................................................................
Michigan........................................................................................
Washington...................................................................................
Pennsylvania (1)............................................................................
North Carolina..............................................................................
Arizona..........................................................................................
All other states (2).........................................................................
Total..........................................................................................

11 %
8
7
5
5
4
4
4
4
3
45
100 %

Percent of total
reserves

11 %
8
10
6
11
2
3
3
2
2
42
100 %

Delinquency
rate

6.20
5.82
6.92
5.21
6.92
2.93
5.37
4.11
3.84
4.54
4.32
4.86

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

______________
(1) Jurisdiction predominantly uses a judicial foreclosure process, which generally increases the amount of time it
takes for a foreclosure to be completed.
(2) Includes the District of Columbia.
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The table below sets forth our primary delinquency rates for the ten largest states by our primary RIF
as of June 30, 2020:
Percent of RIF

By State:
California.......................................................................................
Texas.............................................................................................
Florida (1).......................................................................................
New York (1)..................................................................................
Illinois (1).........................................................................................
Washington...................................................................................
Michigan........................................................................................
Pennsylvania (1)............................................................................
North Carolina..............................................................................
Ohio...............................................................................................
All other states (2).........................................................................
Total..........................................................................................

11 %
7
7
5
5
4
4
4
4
3
46
100 %

Percent of total
reserves

10 %
7
11
12
6
3
2
3
3
2
41
100 %

Delinquency
rate

7.67
7.31
9.06
8.89
6.13
5.59
4.12
5.44
4.99
4.11
5.30
5.98

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

______________
(1) Jurisdiction predominantly uses a judicial foreclosure process, which generally increases the amount of time it
takes for a foreclosure to be completed.
(2) Includes the District of Columbia.

The table below sets forth our primary delinquency rates for the ten largest Metropolitan Statistical
Areas (“MSA”) or Metro Divisions (“MD”) by our primary RIF as of June 30, 2021:

Percent of RIF

By MSA or MD:
Chicago-Naperville, IL MD.........................................................
Phoenix, AZ MSA........................................................................
New York, NY MD.......................................................................
Atlanta, GA MSA..........................................................................
Washington DC-Arlington, DC MD...........................................
Houston, TX MSA........................................................................
Riverside-San Bernardino, CA MSA.........................................
Los Angeles-Long Beach, CA MD............................................
Dallas, TX MD..............................................................................
Nassau County-Suffolk County, NY MD..................................
All Other MSAs/MDs...................................................................
Total..........................................................................................
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3%
3
2
3
2
2
2
2
2
2
77
100 %

Percent of
direct primary
case reserves

4%
2
8
3
2
3
2
3
2
4
67
100 %

Delinquency
rate

5.09
3.15
7.69
4.84
4.86
5.54
5.24
5.89
3.60
8.10
3.23
3.60

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

The table below sets forth our primary delinquency rates for the ten largest MSAs or MDs by our
primary RIF as of December 31, 2020:
Percent of RIF

By MSA or MD:
Chicago-Naperville, IL MD.........................................................
Phoenix, AZ MSA........................................................................
New York, NY MD.......................................................................
Atlanta, GA MSA..........................................................................
Washington-Arlington, DC MD..................................................
Houston, TX MSA........................................................................
Riverside-San Bernardino, CA MSA.........................................
Los Angeles-Long Beach, CA MD............................................
Dallas, TX MD..............................................................................
Seattle-Bellevue, WA MD...........................................................
All other MSAs/MDs....................................................................
Total..........................................................................................

3%
3
3
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
77
100 %

Percent of total
reserves

4%
2
8
3
2
3
2
2
2
2
70
100 %

Delinquency
rate

6.36
4.63
10.25
6.68
6.09
7.59
7.08
7.57
5.10
6.33
4.43
4.86

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

The table below sets forth our primary delinquency rates for the ten largest MSAs or MDs by our
primary RIF as of June 30, 2020:
Percent of RIF

By MSA or MD:
Chicago-Naperville, IL MD.........................................................
New York, NY MD.......................................................................
Phoenix, AZ MSA........................................................................
Atlanta, GA MSA..........................................................................
Washington-Arlington, DC MD..................................................
Houston, TX MSA........................................................................
Los Angeles-Long Beach, CA MD............................................
Seattle-Bellevue, WA MD...........................................................
Riverside-San Bernardino, CA MSA.........................................
Nassau County-Suffolk County, NY Metro Division...............
All other MSAs/MDs....................................................................
Total..........................................................................................

3%
3
3
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
77
100 %

Percent of total
reserves

4%
8
2
3
2
2
2
1
2
5
69
100 %

Delinquency
rate

7.69
12.92
5.49
8.65
8.18
8.74
9.28
6.38
8.55
13.33
5.37
5.98

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

The frequency of delinquencies often does not correlate directly with the number of claims received
because delinquencies may cure. The rate at which delinquencies cure is influenced by borrowers’
financial resources and circumstances and regional economic differences. Whether a delinquency leads
to a claim correlates highly with the borrower’s equity at the time of delinquency, as it influences the
borrower’s willingness to continue to make payments, the borrower’s or the insured’s ability to sell the
home for an amount sufficient to satisfy all amounts due under the mortgage loan, and the borrower’s
financial ability to continue making payments. When we receive notice of a delinquency, we use our
proprietary model to determine whether a delinquent loan is a candidate for a modification. When our
model identifies such a candidate, our loan workout specialists prioritize cases for loss mitigation based
upon the likelihood that the loan will result in a claim. Loss mitigation actions include loan modification,
extension of credit to bring a loan current, foreclosure forbearance, pre-foreclosure sale and deed-in-lieu.
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These loss mitigation efforts often are an effective way to reduce our claim exposure and ultimate
payouts.
The following table sets forth the dispersion of primary RIF and loss reserves by policy year and
delinquency rates as of June 30, 2021:

Percent
of RIF

Policy Year:
2004 and prior...................................................
2005 to 2008.....................................................
2009 to 2013.....................................................
2014....................................................................
2015....................................................................
2016....................................................................
2017....................................................................
2018....................................................................
2019....................................................................
2020....................................................................
2021 (through June 30, 2021)........................
Total portfolio................................................

—%
4
1
1
3
6
5
6
13
38
23
100 %

Percent of
direct
primary case
reserves

3%
25
2
3
5
8
11
13
19
11
—
100 %

Delinquency
rate

15.47
11.87
5.89
5.65
4.99
4.65
5.84
6.98
5.01
1.36
0.14
3.60

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

Cumulative
delinquency
rate (1)

3.61
18.52
0.81
1.22
1.41
1.71
2.32
2.77
2.73
1.18
0.14
4.61

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

______________
(1) Calculated as the sum of the number of policies where claims were ever paid to date and number of policies for
loans currently in default divided by policies ever in-force.

The following table sets forth the dispersion of primary RIF and loss reserves by policy year and
delinquency rates as of December 31, 2020:
Percent
of RIF

Percent of total
reserves

Policy Year:
2004 and prior...................................................
2005 to 2008.....................................................
2009 to 2013.....................................................

—%
5
2

3%
25
2

2014....................................................................
2015....................................................................
2016....................................................................
2017....................................................................
2018....................................................................
2019....................................................................
2020....................................................................
Total portfolio................................................

2
4
7
8
8
19
45
100 %

3
5
9
12
14
19
8
100 %

Delinquency
rate

16.82 %
13.35 %
5.44 %
6.06
5.66
5.46
6.51
7.70
5.60
1.09
4.86

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

Cumulative
delinquency
rate (1)

3.62 %
18.79 %
0.91 %
1.57
1.97
2.49
3.34
4.01
3.93
1.04
4.86

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

______________
(1) Calculated as the sum of the number of policies where claims were ever paid to date and number of policies for
loans currently in default divided by policies ever in-force.
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The following table sets forth the dispersion of primary RIF and loss reserves by policy year and
delinquency rates as of June 30, 2020:
Percent
of RIF

Percent of total
reserves

Policy Year:
2004 and prior...................................................
2005 to 2008.....................................................
2009 to 2013.....................................................

—%
6
2

4%
30
2

2014....................................................................
2015....................................................................
2016....................................................................
2017....................................................................
2018....................................................................
2019....................................................................
2020....................................................................
Total portfolio................................................

3
6
11
12
12
25
23
100 %

3
5
9
12
13
19
3
100 %

Delinquency
rate

17.06 %
13.34 %
5.03 %
5.59
5.51
5.67
6.55
7.29
5.77
1.47
5.98

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

Cumulative
delinquency
rate (1)

3.62 %
18.95 %
1.00 %
1.81
2.42
3.26
4.33
4.96
4.97
1.46
5.11

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

______________
(1) Calculated as the sum of the number of policies where claims were ever paid to date and number of policies for
loans currently in default divided by policies ever in-force.

Loss reserves in policy years 2005 through 2008 are outsized compared to their representation of
RIF. The size of these policy years at origination combined with the significant decline in home prices led
to significant losses in policy years prior to 2009. Although uncertainty remains with respect to the
ultimate losses we will experience on these policy years, they have become a smaller percentage of our
total mortgage insurance portfolio. The largest portion of loss reserves has shifted to newer book years as
a result of the COVID-19 pandemic given their significant representation of RIF. As of June 30, 2021, our
2014 and newer policy years represented approximately 95% of our primary RIF and 70% of our total
direct primary case reserves.
Investment Portfolio
Our investment portfolio is affected by factors described below, each of which in turn may be affected
by COVID-19 as noted above in “—Trends and Conditions.” Management of our investment portfolio has
been delegated by our board of directors to our Parent’s investment committee and chief investment
officer. Our Parent’s investment team, with oversight from our board of directors and our senior
management team, is responsible for the execution of our investment strategy. Our investment portfolio is
an important component of our consolidated financial results and represents our primary source of claims
paying resources. Our investment portfolio primarily consists of a diverse mix of highly rated fixed income
securities and is designed to achieve the following objectives:
•

Meet policyholder obligations through maintenance of sufficient liquidity;

•

Preserve capital;

•

Generate investment income;

•

Maximize statutory capital; and

•

Increase value to our Parent and its stockholders, among other objectives.
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To achieve our portfolio objectives, our investment strategy focuses primarily on:
•

Our business outlook, current and expected future investment conditions;

•

Investments selection based on fundamental, research-driven strategies;

•

Diversification across a mix of fixed income, low-volatility investments while actively pursuing
strategies to enhance yield;

•

Regular evaluation and optimization of our asset class mix;

•

Continuous monitoring of investment quality, duration, and liquidity;

•

Regulatory capital requirements; and

•

Restriction of investments correlated to the residential mortgage market.

Fixed Maturity Securities Available-for-Sale
The following table presents the fair value of our fixed maturity securities available-for-sale as of the
dates indicated:
June 30, 2021
(Amounts in thousands)

U.S. government, agencies
and GSEs.............................. $

Fair value

65,625

December 31, 2020

% of
total

June 30, 2020

% of
total

Fair value

Fair value

1.2 % $

138,224

2.7 % $

90,009

% of
total

2.1 %

State and political
subdivisions...........................

408,317

7.8

187,377

3.7

130,267

3.0

Non-U.S. government..............

22,950

0.4

31,031

0.6

30,765

0.7

U.S. corporate...........................

2,891,598

55.0

2,888,625

57.3

2,803,254

63.9

Non-U.S. corporate..................

692,068

13.2

607,669

12.0

542,871

12.4

Other asset-backed..................

1,175,909

22.4

1,193,670

23.7

786,960

17.9

Total available-for-sale
fixed maturity securities . $ 5,256,467

100.0 % $ 5,046,596

100.0 % $ 4,384,126

100.0 %

Our investment portfolio did not include any direct residential real estate or whole mortgage loans as
of June 30, 2021, December 31, 2020 and June 30, 2020. We have no derivative financial instruments in
our investment portfolio.
As of June 30, 2021, December 31, 2020 and June 30, 2020, 97%, 98%, 98% of our investment
portfolio was rated investment grade, respectively. The following table presents the security ratings of our
fixed maturity securities as of the dates indicated:
June 30,
2021

AAA................................................................................................
AA...................................................................................................
A.....................................................................................................
BBB................................................................................................
BB & below...................................................................................
Total ........................................................................................
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9.2 %
16.1
33.5
38.3
2.9
100.0 %

December 31,
2020

11.3 %
12.6
35.5
38.2
2.4
100.0 %

June 30,
2020

6.9 %
12.3
36.9
41.4
2.5
100.0 %

The table below presents the effective duration and investment yield on our investments available-forsale, excluding cash and cash equivalents:
June 30,
2021

Duration (in years).......................................................................
Pre-tax yield (% of average investment portfolio assets)......

3.7
2.7 %

December 31,
2020

June 30,
2020

3.4
2.8 %

3.5
3.1 %

We manage credit risk by analyzing issuers, transaction structures and any associated collateral. We
also manage credit risk through country, industry, sector and issuer diversification and prudent asset
allocation practices.
We primarily mitigate interest rate risk by employing a buy and hold investment philosophy that seeks
to match fixed income maturities with expected liability cash flows in modestly adverse economic
scenarios.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Flows
The following table summarizes our unaudited condensed consolidated cash flows for the six months
ended June 30:
(Amounts in thousands)

2021

2020

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities.................................................................................................
Investing activities...................................................................................................
Financing activities.................................................................................................
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents.......................................................

263,107
(280,578)
—
(17,471)

345,141
(511,618)
—
(166,477)

Our most significant source of operating cash flows is from premiums received from our insurance
policies, while our most significant uses of operating cash flows are generally for claims paid on our
insured policies and our operating expenses. Net cash from operating activities decreased due to timing
of tax payments made to our Parent and our initial $23.6 million interest payment on our 2025 Senior
Notes issued in August 2020, partially offset by higher premiums received from a larger IIF balance and
lower claims paid in the current year.
Investing activities are primarily related to purchases, sales, and maturities of our investment
portfolio. Net cash used by investing activities decreased primarily as a result of lower net purchases of
fixed maturity securities in the current year.
No dividends were paid during the six months ended June 30, 2021 or 2020. The amount and timing
of future dividends will depend on the economic recovery from COVID-19, among other factors as
described below.
The following table summarizes our consolidated cash flows for the years ended December 31:
(Amounts in thousands)

2020

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities................................................................................................. $
704,350 $
Investing activities...................................................................................................
(1,136,912)
Financing activities.................................................................................................
300,298
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents.................................... $ (132,264) $
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2019

500,020
175,987
(250,000)
426,007

Our most significant source of operating cash flows is from premiums received from our insurance
policies, while our most significant uses of operating cash flows are generally for claims paid on our
insured policies and our operating expenses. Net cash from operating activities increased principally from
higher premiums received from a larger IIF balance and lower claims paid in the current year.
Investing activities are primarily related to purchases, sales, and maturities of our investment
portfolio. We had cash outflows from investing activities in 2020 primarily as a result of purchases of fixed
maturity securities using net proceeds from the December 2019 sale of our investment in Genworth
Canada and our operating cash flows, partially offset by higher maturities and sales of our fixed maturity
securities. We had cash inflows from investing activities in 2019 primarily from the sale of our investment
in Genworth Canada, partially offset by net purchases of fixed maturity securities.
Financing activities in 2020 reflect $738 million net proceeds from the issuance of our 2025 Senior
Notes, discussed below, partially offset by a $437 million dividend paid to our Parent from the net
proceeds of the offering. We paid dividends of $250 million in 2019. No dividends were paid during the
six months ended June 30, 2021 or 2020. The amount and timing of future dividends will depend on the
economic recovery from COVID-19, among other factors as described below.
Capital Resources and Financing Activities
We issued our 2025 Senior Notes in 2020 with interest payable semi-annually in arrears on
February 15 and August 15 of each year. During the first six months of 2021 we made our first interest
payment of $23.6 million. The 2025 Senior Notes mature on August 15, 2025. We may redeem the 2025
Senior Notes, in whole or in part, at any time prior to February 15, 2025 at our option, by paying a makewhole premium, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. At any time on or after February 15, 2025, we
may redeem the 2025 Senior Notes, in whole or in part, at our option, at 100% of the principal amount,
plus accrued and unpaid interest. The 2025 Senior Notes contain customary events of default, which
subject to certain notice and cure conditions, can result in the acceleration of the principal and accrued
interest on the outstanding 2025 Senior Notes if we breach the terms of the indenture.
Pursuant to the GSE Restrictions, we are required to retain $300 million of our holding company cash
that can be drawn down exclusively for our debt service or to contribute to GMICO to meet its regulatory
capital needs including PMIERs. See “—Trends and Conditions” for additional information regarding the
GSE Restrictions.
Restrictions on the Payment of Dividends
The ability of our regulated insurance operating subsidiaries to pay dividends and distributions to us is
restricted by certain provisions of North Carolina insurance laws. Our insurance subsidiaries may pay
dividends only from unassigned surplus; payments made from sources other than unassigned surplus,
such as paid-in and contributed surplus, are categorized as distributions. Notice of all dividends must be
submitted to the Commissioner of the NCDOI (the “Commissioner”) within 5 business days after
declaration of the dividend or distribution, and at least 30 days before payment thereof. No dividend may
be paid until 30 days after the Commissioner has received notice of the declaration thereof and (i) has not
within that period disapproved the payment or (ii) has approved the payment within the 30-day period.
Any distribution, regardless of amount, requires that same 30-day notice to the Commissioner, but also
requires the Commissioner’s affirmative approval before being paid. Based on our estimated statutory
results and in accordance with applicable dividend restrictions, GMICO has the capacity to pay dividends
from unassigned surplus of $208 million as of June 30, 2021, with 30 day advance notice to the
Commissioner of the intent to pay. In addition to dividends and distributions, alternative mechanisms,
such as share repurchases, subject to any requisite regulatory approvals, may be utilized from time to
time to upstream surplus.
On June 30, 2021, the GSEs issued a revised and restated version of the PMIERs Amendment that
imposed temporary capital preservation provisions through December 31, 2021 that require an approved
insurer to meet certain PMIERs minimum required asset buffers (150% in the third quarter of 2021 and
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115% in the fourth quarter of 2021) or otherwise obtain prior written GSE approval before paying any
dividends, pledging or transferring assets to an affiliate or entering into any new, or altering any existing,
arrangements under tax sharing and intercompany expense-sharing agreements, even if such insurer had
a surplus of available assets. In addition, prior to the satisfaction of the GSE Conditions, the GSE
Restrictions require GMICO to maintain 115% of PMIERs Minimum Required Assets through 2021, 120%
during 2022 and 125% thereafter (unless our Parent directly or indirectly owns 70% or less of our
common stock by December 31, 2021, in which case, the GSE Restrictions require GMICO to maintain
115% of PMIERs Minimum Required Assets through 2022, 120% during 2023 and 125% thereafter).
Currently, our Parent expects to indirectly own at least 80% of EHI common stock following the
consummation of this offering. We may also become subject to additional requirements or conditions
imposed by the GSEs, which directly or indirectly could impair the ability of GMICO to pay dividends to us.
In addition, we review multiple other considerations in parallel to determine a prospective dividend
strategy for our regulated insurance operating subsidiaries. Given the regulatory focus on the
reasonableness of an insurer’s surplus in relation to its outstanding liabilities and the adequacy of its
surplus relative to its financial needs for any dividend, our insurance subsidiaries consider the minimum
amount of policyholder surplus after giving effect to any contemplated future dividends. Regulatory
minimum policyholder surplus is not codified in North Carolina law and limitations may vary based on
prevailing business conditions including, but not limited to, the prevailing and future macroeconomic
conditions. We estimate regulators would require a minimum policyholder surplus of approximately
$300 million to meet their threshold standard. Given (i) we are subject to statutory accounting
requirements that establish a contingency reserve of at least 50% of net earned premiums annually for
ten years, after which time it is released into policyholder surplus and (ii) that no material 10-year
contingency reserve releases are scheduled before 2024, we expect modest growth in policyholder
surplus through 2024. As a result, minimum policyholder surplus could be a limitation on the future
dividends of our regulated operating subsidiaries.
As mentioned above, another consideration in the development of the dividend strategies for our
regulated insurance operating subsidiaries is our expected level of compliance with PMIERs. Under
PMIERs, GMICO is subject to operational and financial requirements that approved insurers must meet in
order to remain eligible to insure loans purchased by the GSEs. Refer to “—Trends and Conditions” for
recent updates related to these requirements.
Our regulated insurance operating subsidiaries are also subject to statutory RTC requirements that
affect the dividend strategies of our regulated operating subsidiaries. GMICO’s domiciliary regulator, the
NCDOI, requires the maintenance of a statutory RTC ratio not to exceed 25:1. GMICO had an RTC ratio
of 12.0:1 as of June 30, 2021 and 11.9:1 as of March 31, 2021, well within the regulatory standard. Given
other dividend constraints are currently more capital intensive than statutory RTC standards, RTC is not
expected to have a significant impact on future dividend strategies for our regulated operating
subsidiaries. See “—Risk-to-Capital Ratio” for additional RTC trend analysis.
We consider potential future dividends compared to the prior year statutory net income in the
evaluation of dividend strategies for our regulated operating subsidiaries. We also consider the dividend
payout ratio, or the ratio of potential future dividends compared to the estimated U.S. GAAP net income,
in the evaluation of our dividend strategies. In either case, we do not have prescribed target or maximum
thresholds, but we do evaluate the reasonableness of a potential dividend relative to the actual or
estimated income generated in the proceeding or preceding calendar year after giving consideration to
prevailing business conditions including, but not limited to the prevailing and future macroeconomic
conditions. In addition, the dividend strategies of our regulated operating subsidiaries are made in
consultation with our Parent.
Risk-to-Capital Ratio
We compute our RTC ratio on a separate company statutory basis, as well as for our combined
insurance operations. The RTC ratio is net RIF divided by policyholders’ surplus plus statutory
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contingency reserve. Our net RIF represents RIF, net of reinsurance ceded, and excludes risk on policies
that are currently delinquent and for which loss reserves have been established. Statutory capital consists
primarily of statutory policyholders’ surplus (which increases as a result of statutory net income and
decreases as a result of statutory net loss and dividends paid), plus the statutory contingency reserve.
The statutory contingency reserve is reported as a liability on the statutory balance sheet.
Certain states have insurance laws or regulations that require a mortgage insurer to maintain a
minimum amount of statutory capital (including the statutory contingency reserve) relative to its level of
RIF in order for the mortgage insurer to continue to write new business. While formulations of minimum
capital vary in certain states, the most common measure applied allows for a maximum permitted RTC
ratio of 25:1.
As of June 30, 2021, GMICO’s RTC ratio was approximately 12.0:1, compared to 12.3:1 and 12.2:1
as of December 31, 2020 and June 30, 2020, respectively. This RTC ratio remains below the NCDOI’s
maximum RTC ratio of 25:1.
The following table presents the calculation of our RTC ratio for our combined insurance subsidiaries
as of the dates indicated:
June 30,
2021

(Dollar amounts in millions)

Statutory policyholders’ surplus................................................... $
Contingency reserves....................................................................
Combined statutory capital........................................................... $
Adjusted RIF (1)............................................................................... $
Combined risk-to-capital ratio......................................................

December 31,
2020

1,567 $
2,783
4,350 $
51,436 $
11.8

1,555 $
2,518
4,073 $
49,104 $
12.1

June 30,
2020

1,539
2,277
3,816
45,783
12.0

______________
(1) Adjusted RIF for purposes of calculating combined statutory RTC differs from RIF presented elsewhere herein. In
accordance with NCDOI requirements, adjusted RIF excludes delinquent policies.

The following table presents the calculation of our RTC ratio for our principal insurance company,
GMICO, as of the dates indicated:
June 30,
2021

(Dollar amounts in millions)

Statutory policyholders’ surplus................................................. $
Contingency reserves.................................................................
Combined statutory capital......................................................... $
Adjusted RIF (1)............................................................................ $
GMICO risk-to-capital ratio.........................................................

December 31,
2020

1,487 $
2,782
4,269 $
51,312 $
12.0

1,475 $
2,518
3,993 $
49,021 $
12.3

June 30,
2020

1,461
2,276
3,737
45,737
12.2

______________
(1) Adjusted RIF for purposes of calculating GMICO statutory RTC differs from RIF presented elsewhere herein. In
accordance with NCDOI requirements, adjusted RIF excludes delinquent policies.

Liquidity
As of June 30, 2021, we maintained liquidity in the form of cash and cash equivalents of $435 million
compared to $453 million as of December 31, 2020, and we also held significant levels of investmentgrade fixed maturity securities that can be monetized should our cash and cash equivalents be
insufficient to meet our obligations. On August 21, 2020, we issued the 2025 Senior Notes. The GSE
Restrictions require us to retain $300 million of the net proceeds in our holding company cash that can be
drawn down exclusively for our debt service or to contribute to GMICO to meet its regulatory capital
needs including PMIERs, until the GSE Conditions are satisfied. See “—Trends and Conditions” for
additional details. We distributed $437 million of the net proceeds to Genworth Holdings at the closing of
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the offering of our 2025 Senior Notes. The 2025 Senior Notes were issued to persons reasonably
believed to be qualified institutional buyers in a private offering exempt from registration pursuant to Rule
144A under the Securities Act and to non-U.S. persons outside of the United States in compliance with
Regulation S under the Securities Act.
The principal sources of liquidity in our business currently include insurance premiums, net
investment income and cash flows from investment sales and maturities. We believe that the operating
cash flows generated by our mortgage insurance subsidiary will provide the funds necessary to satisfy our
claim payments, operating expenses and taxes. However, our subsidiaries are subject to regulatory and
other capital restrictions with respect to the payment of dividends. The $300 million of the net proceeds of
the 2025 Senior Notes offering retained by EHI comprises substantially all of the cash and cash
equivalents held directly by EHI and initially available to pay interest on the 2025 Senior Notes. To the
extent the $300 million of net proceeds retained from the offering is used to provide capital support to
GMICO, the GSEs and the NCDOI may seek to prevent GMICO from returning that capital to EHI in the
form of a dividend, distribution or an intercompany loan. In addition, with certain exceptions, the
settlement agreement between our Parent and AXA S.A. (“AXA”) requires proceeds from any future debt
and equity issuance by us and/or our subsidiaries to be used to prepay the secured promissory note
issued by our Parent to AXA (as amended, the “Promissory Note”). Therefore, we are limited in our ability
to finance our capital needs from debt and equity offerings until the Promissory Note is fully repaid. See
Note 1 in our consolidated financial statements for additional information. We currently have no material
financing commitments, such as lines of credit or guarantees, that are expected to affect our liquidity over
the next five years, other than the 2025 Senior Notes.
Financial Strength Ratings
Ratings with respect to the financial strength of operating subsidiaries are an important factor in
establishing the competitive position of insurance companies. Ratings are important to maintaining public
confidence in us and our ability to market our products. Rating organizations review the financial
performance and condition of most insurers and provide opinions regarding financial strength, operating
performance and ability to meet obligations to policyholders.
The financial strength ratings of our operating companies are not designed to be, and do not serve
as, measures of protection or valuation offered to investors. These financial strength ratings should not be
relied on with respect to making an investment in the common stock offered hereby. We cannot predict
with any certainty the impact to us from any future disruptions in the credit markets or downgrades by one
or more of the rating agencies of the financial strength ratings of our insurance company subsidiaries and/
or the credit ratings of our holding company as a result of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic or
otherwise. We also cannot predict the impact on our ratings or future ratings of actions taken with respect
to our Parent.
The following ratings have been independently assigned by third-party rating organizations and
represent our current ratings, which are subject to change. GMICO’s financial strength is rated “Baa3” by
Moody’s, “BBB-” by Fitch, and “BB+” by Standard & Poor’s. On May 25, 2021, Moody’s affirmed
GMICO’s rating with positive outlook. On April 20, 2021, Fitch placed GMICO’s ratings on Rating Watch
Positive. On May 4, 2021, Standard & Poor’s affirmed GMICO’s rating and upgraded its outlook to
CreditWatch Positive. Additionally, EHI’s issuer default rating is “BB” by Fitch and “Ba3” by Moody’s.
Other private mortgage insurers have stronger financial strength ratings than we do. We do not
believe our ratings have had a material adverse effect on our overall relationships with existing
customers. However, if financial strength ratings become a more prominent consideration for lenders, we
may be competitively disadvantaged by customers choosing to do business with private mortgage
insurers that have higher financial strength ratings. In addition, the current PMIERs do not include a
specific ratings requirement with respect to eligibility, but if this were to change in the future, we may
become subject to a ratings requirement in order to retain our eligibility status under the PMIERs. The
PMIERs sufficiency ratios of our operating companies are not designed to be, and do not serve as,
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measures of protection or valuation offered to investors. The financial strength ratings of our operating
subsidiaries may also be impacted by the strength of our Parent. See “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to
Our Business—Adverse rating agency actions have resulted in a loss of business and adversely affected
our business, results of operations and financial condition, and future adverse rating agency actions could
have a further and more significant adverse impact on us.” The financial strength ratings of our operating
subsidiaries are not a recommendation to buy or hold any of our securities and they may be revised or
revoked at any time at the sole discretion of the rating organization.
Contractual Obligations and Commitments
We enter into agreements and other relationships with third parties in the ordinary course of our
operations. However, we do not believe that our cash flow requirements can be assessed based upon
this analysis of these obligations, as the funding of these future cash obligations will be from future cash
flows from premiums and investment income that are not reflected in the following table. Future cash
outflows, whether they are contractual obligations or not, also will vary based upon our future needs.
Although some outflows are fixed, others depend on future events. An example of obligations that are
fixed include future lease payments. An example of obligations that will vary include insurance liabilities
that depend on losses incurred.
The following table presents our payments due under contractual obligations by period as of
December 31, 2020:
Payments due by period
(Amounts in thousands)

Total

Less than 1
year

Borrowings and Interest (1)............. $ 992,938 $
Operating lease obligations (2).......
25,983
Estimated loss reserves (3).............
516,863
Total .................................................
1,535,784

47,938 $
3,518
79,080
130,536

1—3 years

97,500 $
7,233
282,207
386,940

3—5 years

More than 5
years (3)

847,500 $
7,447
108,024
962,971

—
7,785
47,552
55,337

______________
(1) Includes payments of principal and interest on our long-term borrowings.
(2) Includes the undiscounted lease payments required under our operating leases. The related operating lease
liability is recorded in our consolidated balance sheet net of imputed interest of $5.5 million. See Note 2 to our
consolidated financial statements for additional information related to operating leases.
(3) Our estimate of loss reserves reflects the application of accounting policies described in Note 2 in our
consolidated financial statements. The payments due by period are based on management’s estimates and
assume that all of the loss reserves included in the table will result in payments. Due to the significance of
assumptions used in management’s estimates, the amounts presented could materially differ from actual results.
See Note 5 in our consolidated financial statements for additional information on our loss reserves.

New Accounting Standards
Refer to Note 2 in our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements for the six months
ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, and in our audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, for a discussion of recently adopted and not yet adopted accounting
standards.
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We own and manage a large investment portfolio of various holdings, types and maturities.
Investment income is one of our material sources of revenues and the investment portfolio represents the
primary source of cash flows supporting operations and claim payments. The assets within the investment
portfolio are exposed to the same factors that affect overall financial market performance. While our
investment portfolio is exposed to factors affecting markets worldwide, it is most sensitive to fluctuations
in the drivers of United States markets.
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We manage market risk via our defined investment policy guidelines implemented by our Parent’s
investment team with oversight from our board of directors and our senior management. Important drivers
of our market risk exposure monitored and managed by us include but are not limited to:
•

Changes to the level of interest rates. Increasing interest rates may reduce the value of certain
fixed-rate bonds held in the investment portfolio. Higher rates may cause variable-rate assets to
generate additional income. Decreasing rates will have the reverse impact. Significant changes in
interest rates can also affect persistency and claim rates that may require that the investment
portfolio be restructured to better align it with future liabilities and claim payments. Such
restructuring may cause investments to be liquidated when market conditions are adverse.

•

Changes to the term structure of interest rates. Rising or falling rates typically change by different
amounts along the yield curve. These changes may have unforeseen impacts on the value of
certain assets.

•

Market volatility/changes in the real or perceived credit quality of investments. Deterioration in
the quality of investments, identified through changes to our own or third-party (e.g., rating
agency) assessments, will reduce the value and potentially the liquidity of investments.

•

Concentration Risk. If the investment portfolio is highly concentrated in one asset, or in multiple
assets whose values are highly correlated, the value of the total portfolio may be greatly affected
by the change in value of just one asset or a group of highly correlated assets.

•

Prepayment Risk. Bonds may have call provisions that permit debtors to repay prior to maturity
when it is to their advantage. This typically occurs when rates fall below the interest rate of the
debt.

Market risk is measured for all investment assets at the individual security level. Market risks that are
not fully captured by the quantitative analysis are highlighted. In addition, material market risk changes
that occur from the last reporting period to the current are discussed. Changes to how risks are managed
will also be identified and described.
At June 30, 2021, the effective duration of our investments available-for-sale was 3.6 years, which
means that an instantaneous parallel shift (movement up or down) in the yield curve of 100 basis points
would result in a change of 3.6% in fair value of our investments available-for-sale. Excluding cash and
cash equivalents, the effective duration on our investments available-for-sale was 3.7 years, which means
that an instantaneous parallel shift (movement up or down) in the yield curve of 100 basis points would
result in a change of 3.7% in fair value of our investments available-for-sale.
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